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PART I — FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements.
AVI BIOPHARMA, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)
BALANCE SHEETS
(unaudited)
(in thousands, except per share data)
September 30, December 31,
2009 2008
Assets
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 50,268 % 11,192
Short-term securities—available-for-sale 169 282
Accounts receivable 5,671 4971
Other current assets 839 599
Total Current Assets 56,947 17,044
Property and Equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of $13,735 and $12,919 2,102 5,189
Patent Costs, net of accumulated amortization of $1,959 and $1,927 3,580 3,268
Assets held for sale 2,373 —
Other assets 121 35
Total Assets $ 65,123 $ 25,536




Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable 4,303 $ 2,014
Accrued employee compensation 1,098 1,306
Long-term debt, current portion 76 74
Warrant valuation 35,400 1,254
Deferred revenue 2,096 2,190
Other liabilities 86 450
Total Current Liabilities 43,059 7,288
Commitments and Contingencies — —
Long-term debt, non-current portion 1,950 2,001
Other long-term liabilities 610 515
Shareholders’ Equity:
Preferred stock, $.0001 par value, 20,000,000 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding — —
Common stock, $.0001 par value, 200,000,000 shares authorized; 110,433,113 and 71,161,072 issued and
outstanding 11 7
Additional paid-in capital 298,487 266,035
Deficit accumulated during the development stage (278,994) (250,310)
Total Shareholders’ Equity 19,504 15,732
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity 65,123 $ 25,536
See accompanying notes to financial statements
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AVI BIOPHARMA, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(unaudited)
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
July 22, 1980
Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended September 30, (Inception) through
2009 2008 2009 2008 September 30, 2009
Revenues from license fees, grants and
research contracts 6,349 $ 5,171 12,444 $ 15,778 $ 54,668
Operating expenses:
Research and development 7,473 7,680 17,771 22,261 223,807
General and administrative 1,800 3,429 6,226 8,165 71,550
Acquired in-process research and
development — — — 9,916 29,461
Operating loss (2,924) (5,938) (11,553) (24,564) (270,150)
Other non-operating (loss) income:
Interest (expense) income and other, net (127) 60 (142) 308 8,635
(Increase) decrease on warrant
valuation (5,039) (169) (16,989) 1,444 (4,341)
Realized gain on sale of short-term
securities—available-for-sale — — — — 3,863
Write-down of short-term securities—
available-for-sale — — — — (17,001)
(5,166) (109) (17,131) 1,752 (8,844)
Net loss (8,090) $ (6,047) (28,684) (22,812) $ (278,994)
Net loss per share - basic and diluted (0.08) $ (0.08) (0.33) (0.33)
Weighted average number of common
shares outstanding for computing basic
and diluted loss per share (in thousands) 95,261 71,151 87,493 69,160

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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AVI BIOPHARMA, INC.

(A Development Stage Company)
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(unaudited)

(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash flows used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Loss on disposal of assets
Realized gain on sale of short-term securities—available-for-sale
Write-down of short-term securities—available-for-sale
Impairment charge on real estate owned
Stock-based compensation
Conversion of interest accrued to common stock
Acquired in-process research and development
Increase (decrease) on warrant valuation
Net (increase) in:
Accounts receivable and other current assets
Other assets
Net increase in accounts payable, accrued employee compensation, and other
liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment
Patent costs
Sale (purchase) of marketable securities
Sale of marketable securities
Acquisition costs
Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from sale of common stock, warrants, and partnership units, net of
offering costs, and exercise of options and warrants
Repayments of long-term debt
Buyback of common stock pursuant to rescission offering
Withdrawal of partnership net assets
Issuance of convertible debt
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents:
Beginning of period
End of period

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid during the year for interest
SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF NONCASH INVESTING ACTIVITIES AND
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Short-term securities—available-for-sale received in connection with the private
offering
Issuance of common stock and warrants in satisfaction of liabilities
Issuance of common stock for building purchase
Assumption of long-term debt for building purchase
Issuance of common stock for Ercole assets
Assumption of liabilities for Ercole assets
Issuance of common stock and warrants in satisfaction of employee bonuses

Nine months ended September 30,

2009

2008

For the Period
July 22, 1980
(Inception) through
September 30, 2009

$ (28,684) $ (22,812) $ (278,994)
1,080 1,043 17,383
221 11 1,179
_ — (3,863)
- = 17,001
128 — 928
1,592 4,121 21,915
— — 8
— 9,916 29,461
16,989 (1,444) 4,341
(940) (1,181) (6,426)
(86) (235) (121)
1,957 716 6,919
(7,743) (9,865) (190,269)
(276) (364) (17,214)
(751) (419) (6,931)
113 (8) (112,873)
— — 117,613
— (11) (2,389)
(914) (802) (21,794)
47,782 44 262,879
(49) (99) (162)
— — (289)
— — 177)
— — 80
47,733 (55) 262,331
39,076 (10,722) 50,268
11,192 24,803 _
$ 50,268 $ 14,081 $ 50,268
$ 65 $ 33 $ 273
$ — 5 — % 17,897
$ — 5 — 3 545
$ — 5 $ 750
$ — % $ 2,200
$ — 5 8,075 $ 8,075
$ — % 2,124 § 2,124
$ 239 $ — % 239

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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AVI BIOPHARMA, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)



Note 1. Basis of Presentation

The financial information included herein for the three and nine-month period ended September 30, 2009 and 2008 and the financial information as of
September 30, 2009 is unaudited; however, such information reflects all adjustments consisting of normal recurring adjustments, which, in the opinion of
management, are necessary for a fair presentation of the financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the interim periods. The financial
information as of December 31, 2008 is derived from AVI BioPharma, Inc.’s (the “Company’s”) Form 10-K. The interim financial statements should be read
in conjunction with the financial statements and the notes thereto included in the Company’s Form 10-K. The results of operations for the interim periods
presented are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year.

Reclassifications. Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation. These changes did not have a significant impact
on Company’s net loss, assets, liabilities, shareholders’ equity or cash flows.

Estimates and Uncertainties. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

Commitments and Contingencies. In the normal course of business, the Company may be named as a party to various legal claims, actions and complaints;
including matters involving employment, intellectual property, effects from the use of drugs utilizing our technology, or others. It is impossible to predict with
certainty whether any resulting liability would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Note 2. Fair Value Measurements

The Company measures at fair value certain financial assets and liabilities. U.S. generally accepted account principles (US GAAP), specifies a hierarchy of
valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data
obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect the Company’s market assumptions. These two types of inputs have created the
following fair-value hierarchy:

Level 1—Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets;

Level 2—Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active, and model-
derived valuations in which all significant inputs and significant value drivers are observable in active markets; and

Level 3—Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant value drivers are unobservable.

The Company invests its cash in money market funds and certificates of deposits. The Company has not experienced credit losses on investments in these
instruments. The Company’s assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis consisted of the following as of September 30, 2009:

Fair Value Measurement as of September 30, 2009

(in th ds) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Short-term securities—available-for-sale $ 50,608 $ 50,156 452 —

Total $ 50,608 $ 50,156 $ 452 $ —
5
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The Company’s liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis consisted of the following as of the date indicated:

Fair Value Measurement as of September 30, 2009

(in th ds) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Warrant Liability $ 35,400 — — $ 35,400
Total $ 35,400 $ — $ — $ 35,400

A reconciliation of the change in value of the Company’s warrant liability valuation for the three months ended September 30, 2009 is as follows:

Fair Value Measurements Using
Significant Unobservable Inputs

(in thousands) (Level 3)

Balance at July 1, 2009 $ 21,387
Total increase in liability included in earnings 5,039
Issuances 8,974
Balance at September 30, 2009 $ 35,400

The increase in the third quarter liability relating to warrants still held at September 30,
2009 $ 5,039

A reconciliation of the change in value of the Company’s warrant liability valuation for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 is as follows:

Fair Value Measurements Using
Significant Unobservable Inputs
(in thousands) (Level 3)




Balance at January 1, 2009 $ 1,254

Total increase in liability included in earnings 16,989
Issuances 17,157
Balance at September 30, 2009 $ 35,400

The increase in the year to date liability relating to warrants still held at September 30,
2009 $ 16,989

The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and other current monetary assets
and liabilities approximate fair value because of the immediate or short-term maturity of these financial instruments.

Note 3. Revenue Recognition

Government Research Contract Revenue. The Company recognizes revenues from federal research contracts during the period in which the related
expenditures are incurred. The Company presents these revenues and related expenses gross in the financial statements in accordance with ASC 605
45“Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal versus Net as an Agent.”

License Arrangements. License arrangements may consist of non-refundable upfront license fees, data transfer fees, research reimbursement payments,
exclusive licensed rights to patented or patent pending compounds, technology access fees, various performance or sales milestones and future product
royalty payments. Some of these arrangements are multiple element arrangements.

The Company defers recognition of non-refundable upfront fees if it has continuing performance obligations without which the technology, right, product or
service conveyed in conjunction with the non-refundable fee has no utility to the licensee that is separate and independent of Company performance under the
other elements of the arrangement. In addition, if the Company has continuing involvement through research and development services that are required
because its know-how and expertise related to the technology is proprietary to the Company, or can only be performed by the Company, then such up-front
fees are deferred and recognized over the period of continuing involvement. At September 30, 2009, the Company had deferred revenue of $2.1 million,
which represents up-front fees received from third parties pursuant to certain contractual arrangements. The Company will recognize the revenue from these
contracts upon the achievement of certain performance milestones, as specified in the agreements.

Payments related to substantive, performance-based milestones in a research and development arrangement are recognized as revenue upon the achievement
of the milestones as specified in the underlying agreements when they represent the culmination of the earnings process.

6
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Note 4. Patents

Patent costs consist primarily of legal and filing fees incurred to file patents on proprietary technology developed by the Company. Patent costs are amortized
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the estimated economic lives or the legal lives of the patents, generally 17 years.

Note 5. Acquisition of Ercole

On March 20, 2008, the Company acquired all of the stock of Ercole Biotech, Inc. (“Ercole”) in exchange for 5,811,721 shares of AVI common stock. The
transaction included the assumption of approximately $1.8 million in liabilities of Ercole. As a result of the transfer, Ercole became and remains a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company. The AVI common stock was valued at approximately $8.4 million. AVI also issued warrants to purchase AVTI stock to
settle certain outstanding warrants held in Ercole, which were valued at $436,535. These warrants are classified in equity. The acquisition was aimed at
consolidating AVI’s position in directed alternative RNA splicing therapeutics. Ercole and the Company had been collaborating since 2006 to develop drug
candidates, including AVI-4658, currently in clinical testing in the United Kingdom for the treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Ercole has other
ongoing discovery research programs.

The total estimated purchase price of $10.3 million has been allocated as follows:

Cash $ 54,000
A/R $ 76,000
Prepaid Expenses $ 7,000
Fixed Assets $ 10,000
Patents $ 190,000
Acquired In-Process Research and Development $ 9,916,000

The pending patents acquired as part of the Ercole acquisition have an expected expiration date of 2026. Acquired in-process research and development
consists of other discovery research programs in areas including beta thalassemia and soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor. As these programs were in
development at the time of acquisition, there were significant risks associated with completing these projects, and there were no alternative future uses for
these projects, the associated value has been considered acquired in-process research and development.

Ercole has been a development stage company since inception and does not have a product for sale. The Company has retained a limited number of Ercole
employees and has incorporated in-process technology of Ercole into the Company’s processes. The acquisition of Ercole did not meet the definition of a

business under in accordance with U.S. GAAP and, therefore, was accounted for as an asset acquisition.

Note 6. Other Current Assets

Amounts included in other current assets are as follows:

(in thousands) September 30, December 31, 2008



2009

Prepaid expenses $ 438 $ 316
Other receivables 118 —
Restricted cash 283 283
Other current assets $ 839 $ 599

The Company has pledged $150,000 as collateral for company credit cards issued to certain employees and $125,000 as collateral for payments on long-term
debt. The Company classifies these amounts as restricted cash. As of September 30, 2009, restricted cash, including accrued interest, was $283,000. The
remaining components of other current assets include normally occurring prepaid expenses and other receivables.
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Note 7. Liquidity

The Company is in the development stage. Since its inception in 1980 through September 30, 2009, the Company has incurred losses of approximately $279
million, substantially all of which resulted from expenditures related to research and development, general and administrative charges and acquired in-process
research and development resulting from two acquisitions. The Company has not generated any material revenue from product sales to date, and there can be
no assurance that revenues from product sales will be achieved. Moreover, even if the Company does achieve revenues from product sales, the Company
expects to incur operating losses over the next several years.

The financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. The Company’s ability to achieve a profitable
level of operations in the future will depend in large part on completing product development of its RNA-based products, obtaining regulatory approvals for
such products, and bringing these products to market. During the period required to develop these products, the Company may require substantial additional
financing. There can be no assurance that such financing will be available when needed or that the Company’s planned products will be commercially
successful. The Company believes it has sufficient cash to fund operations at least through the following twelve months, exclusive of future receipts from
billings on existing government contracts. For 2009, the Company expects expenditures for operations, net of government funding, including collaborative
efforts and research and development activities to be approximately $10 to $12 million. This could increase if the Company undertakes additional
collaborative efforts. However, if necessary in 2009, the Company believes it can reduce its expenditures because a significant amount of its costs are
variable. Those estimated expenditures include amounts necessary to fulfill the Company’s obligations under its various collaborative, research and licensing
agreements during 2009. The Company believes it will continue to receive funding from government and other sources to pursue the development of its
product candidates, and has assumed certain revenues from these awards in providing this guidance. Should the Company not continue to receive funding
from its current contracts or receive additional funding, or should the timing be delayed, it may have a significant negative impact on the Company’s
guidance.

The Company currently has a total of $61.7 million of contracted development studies. As of September 30, 2009, $44 million has been billed, of which
$38.3 million has been received in cash and $5.7 million is in accounts receivable. The Company has $17.7 in development contracts remaining that have not
yet been completed and have not been billed. The Company expects to complete the remaining contract activity and receive the contracted revenue in 2010
and early 2011.

In December 2006, the Company announced the execution of a two-year $28 million research contract with the Defense Threat Reduction Agency (DTRA),
an agency of the United States Department of Defense (DoD). The contract is directed toward funding the Company’s development of antisense therapeutics
to treat the effects of Ebola, Marburg and Junin hemorrhagic viruses, which are seen by DoD as potential biological warfare and bioterrorism agents. In

May 2009, the Company received an amendment from DTRA to extend the contract performance period to November 29, 2009 and a cost modification of an
additional $5.9 million, increasing the total contract amount to $33.9 million. In September 2009, the Company received a second amendment from DTRA to
extend the contract performance period to February 28, 2011 and a cost modification of an additional $11.5 million, increasing the total contract amount to
$45.4 million.

During the three month periods ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, the Company recognized $4.4 million and $4.9 million, respectively, in research
contract revenue from this contract. During the nine month periods ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, the Company recognized $7.5 million and $13.6
million, respectively, in research contract revenue from this contract. To date, the Company has recognized revenues of $32.3 million from this contract.
Funding of the remainder of the contract is anticipated in 2010 and 2011.

In January 2006, the Company announced that the final version of the 2006 defense appropriations act had been approved, which included an allocation of
$11.0 million to fund the Company’s ongoing defense-related programs. Net of government administrative costs, it is anticipated that the Company will
receive up to $9.8 million under this allocation. The Company’s technology is expected to be used to continue developing therapeutic agents against Ebola,
Marburg and Dengue viruses, as well as to continue developing countermeasures for anthrax exposure and antidotes for ricin toxin. The Company has
received signed contracts for all of these projects. The Company expects that funding under these signed contracts will be completed over the next 12 months.
During the three month periods ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, the Company recognized $0.3 million and $0.2 million, respectively, in research
contract revenue from these contracts. During the nine month periods ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, the Company recognized $1.9 million and $2.1
million, respectively, in research contract revenue from this contract. To date, the Company has recognized revenues of $8.8 million on these contracts.
Funding of the remainder of these contracts is anticipated in 2010.

In May 2009, the Company entered into a contract with the U.S. Defense Threat Reduction Agency (“DTRA”) to develop swine flu drugs. Under this
contract, DTRA will pay up to $4.1 million to the Company for the work to be performed by the Company. The work will involve the application of the
Company’s proprietary PMO and PMOplus antisense chemistry and the Company plans to
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conduct preclinical development of at least one drug candidate and demonstrate it is effective by testing it on animals. During the three month period ended
September 30, 2009, the Company recognized $0.7 million in revenue under this contract. During the nine month period ended September 30, 2009, the
Company recognized $1.1 million in revenue under this contract.

Also in May 2009, the Company entered into a $2.5 million contract with Children’s National Medical Center in Washington, D.C. to support preclinical
studies in the development of AVI-4658 for treatment of Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. The work will be conducted with Children’s National collaborators
Eric Hoffman, Ph.D., an authority on DMD and Professor of Pediatrics, and Edward Connor, M.D., Director, Office of Investigational Therapeutics and
Professor of Pediatrics. AVI will serve as a subcontractor to a grant awarded to Children’s National by the U.S. Department of Defense. During the three
month period ended September 30, 2009, the Company recognized $0.8 million in revenue under this contract. During the nine month period ended
September 30, 2009, the Company recognized $1.8 million in revenue under this contract.

In September 2009, the Company and Charley’s Fund, Inc. (“Charley’s Fund”), a nonprofit organization that funds drug discovery and development
initiatives specific to DMD, entered into the First Amendment to an existing Sponsored Research Agreement (the “Amendment”). The Amendment pertains
to certain provisions of the Sponsored Research Agreement by and between the Company and Charley’s Fund entered into effective October 12, 2007 (the
“Agreement”). Under the terms of the Amendment, the Company was awarded an additional $3 million in sponsored research funds, for a total of $5 million
from Charley’s Fund to support a new product development program using proprietary exon skipping technologies developed by the Company to overcome
the effects of certain genetic errors in the dystrophin gene.

In July 2009, the Company entered into a lease agreement with BMR-3450 Monte Villa Parkway LLC relating to the lease of 19,108 square feet of laboratory
and office space in Bothell, Washington. The Company began occupying this space in August 2009, and has moved its headquarters and R&D functions to
this new location. The term of the lease is approximately 63 months, although the Company has a one-time option to terminate the lease after 3 years’ time
upon payment of a termination fee. The Company will commence paying base rent of approximately $43,000 per month after approximately 3 months. The
amount of base rent is subject to an annual increase of 3%.

The likelihood of the long-term success of the Company must be considered in light of the expenses, difficulties and delays frequently encountered in the
development and commercialization of new pharmaceutical products, competitive factors in the marketplace as well as the complex regulatory environment
in which the Company operates. There can be no assurance that the Company will ever achieve significant revenues or profitable operations.

Note 8. Stock Compensation
Stock-based compensation costs are generally based on the fair value calculated from the Black-Scholes option-pricing model on the date of grant for stock
options and on the date of enrollment for the Plan. The fair value of stock grants is amortized as compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the

vesting period of the grants. Stock options granted to employees are service-based and typically vest over three years.

The fair market values of stock options granted during the periods presented were measured on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model, with the following weighted average assumptions:

Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2009 2008
Risk-free interest rate 1.2%-1.6% 1.9%-4.4%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0%
Expected lives 9.0 years 3.6-9.1 years
Expected volatility 92.0%-94.2% 81.0%-90.7%

The risk-free interest rate is estimated using an average of treasury bill interest rates. The expected dividend yield is zero as the Company has not paid any
dividends to date and does not expect to pay dividends in the future. The expected lives are estimated using expected and historical exercise behavior. The
expected volatility is estimated using historical calculated volatility and considers factors such as future events or circumstances that could impact volatility.

As prescribed by ASC 718 10, the Company is required to estimate potential forfeiture of stock grants and adjust compensation cost recorded accordingly.
The estimate of forfeitures is adjusted over the requisite service period to the extent that actual forfeitures differ, or are expected to differ, from such
estimates. Changes in estimated forfeitures are recognized through a cumulative catch-up in the period of change and impact the amount of stock
compensation expense to be recognized in future periods.
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A summary of the Company’s stock option compensation activity with respect to the nine months ended September 30, 2009 follows:

Weighted

Weighted Average

Average Remaining Aggregate

Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Stock Options Shares Price Term Value
Outstanding at January 1, 2009 7,540,873 $ 3.34
Granted 2,566,000 $ 1.07
Exercised (48,433) $ 1.71
Canceled or expired (1,129,337)  $ 2.81
Outstanding at September 30, 2009 8,929,103 $ 2.79 6.51 §$ —
Vested at September 30, 2009 and expected to vest 8,853,919 § 2.80 373 $ —
Exercisable at September 30, 2009 5,169,920 $ 3.94 473  $ —

The weighted average fair value per share of stock-based payments granted to employees during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and
September 30, 2008 was $1.07 and $1.04, respectively. During the same periods, the total intrinsic values of stock options exercised were $1.71 and $1.31.



The total fair value of stock options that vested for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2009, was $446,000 and $1,450,000, respectively.
The total fair value of stock options that vested for the three and nine months of 2008 was $1,019,000 and $2,637,000, respectively.

As of September 30, 2009, there was $3,262,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested share-based compensation arrangements
granted under the Plan. These costs are expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.3 years. As of September 30, 2008, there was
$3,022,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested share-based compensation arrangements granted under the Plan. These costs were
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.0 years.

During the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2009, 43,439 and 48,433 stock options were exercised. The Company is obligated to issue
shares reserved under the 2002 Equity Incentive Plan upon the exercise of stock options. The Company does not currently expect to repurchase shares from
any source to satisfy its obligations under the Plan.

The 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) provides that eligible employees may contribute, through payroll deductions, of up to 10% of their cash
compensation toward the purchase of the Company’s Common Stock at 85% of the fair market value at specific dates. On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted
ASC 718 10, which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all share-based payment awards made to the Company’s employees
and directors related to the ESPP, based on estimated fair values. During the three month and nine month periods ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, the total
compensation expense for participants in the ESPP was immaterial.

In the three month period ended June 30, 2009, the Company granted a total of 25,000 shares of restricted stock to members of its Board of Directors. These
shares vest over a period of one year. During the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2009, the Company recognized compensation expense
related to these shares of $24,000 and $27,000, respectively.

Also in the three month period ended June 30, 2009, the Company granted 100,000 shares of restricted stock to its Vice President of Business Development.
These shares vest upon the achievement of certain performance milestones. During the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2009, the Company
did not recognize any compensation expense related to these shares as the achievement of the performance milestones was not considered probable.

In the three month period ended March 31, 2009, the Company granted 60,000 shares of restricted stock to its Chief Medical Officer. These shares vest over a
period of 181 days. During the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2009 the Company recognized compensation expense related to these
shares of $11,000 and $82,000, respectively.

In the three month period ended March 31, 2008, the Company granted 333,000 shares of restricted stock to its new Chief Executive Officer. Of these shares,
100,000 vested immediately and the remaining 233,000 vest over a period of four years. During the three month periods ended September 30, 2009 and
2008, the Company recognized compensation expense related to these shares of $16,000 and $16,000, respectively. During the nine month period ended
September 30, 2009 and 2008, the Company recognized compensation expense related to these shares of $48,000 and $150,000, respectively.
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The following are the stock-based compensation costs recognized in the Company’s statements of operations:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
(in th ds) September 30, 2009 September 30, 2009
Research and development $ 205 $ 826
General and administrative 241 624
Total $ 446  $ 1,450
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
(in th ds) September 30, 2008 September 30, 2008
Research and development $ 342 $ 1,233
General and administrative 677 1,404
Total $ 1,019 $ 2,637

The Company records the fair value of stock options granted to non-employees in exchange for services in accordance with ASC 505 50, “Accounting for
Equity Instruments that are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services.” The fair value of the options
granted is expensed when the measurement date is known. The performance for services was satisfied on the grant date for stock options granted to non-
employees.

The total fair value of the options granted to non-employees during the three months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008 was $64,000 and $63,000
respectively, which was expensed to general and administration. The total fair value of the options granted to non-employees during the nine months ended
September 30, 2009 and 2008 was $142,000 and $180,000 respectively, which was expensed to general and administration.

Note 9. Warrants

Certain of the Company’s warrants issued in connection with financing arrangements are classified as liabilities in accordance with ASC 815 40, “Accounting
for derivative financial instruments indexed to, and potentially settled in, a Company’s own stock.” These are non-cash liabilities; the Company is not required
to expend any cash to settle these liabilities. The fair market value of these warrants is recorded on the balance sheet at issuance and marked to market at each
financial reporting period. The change in the fair value of the warrants is recorded in the Statement of Operations as an (increase) decrease of the warrant
liability and is estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:

Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2009 2008
Risk-free interest rate 0.2%-2.4% 0.9%-3.0%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0%
Expected lives 0.1-5.0 years 0.2-4.2 years

Expected volatility 83.2%-140.6 % 63.6%-78.50 %



Warrants classified as liabilities 30,203,466 9,121,946
Warrants classified as equity 2,129,530 2,129,530
Market value of stock at beginning of year $ 066 $ 1.41
Market value of stock at end of period $ .72 § 1.21

The risk-free interest rate is estimated using an average of treasury bill interest rates. The expected dividend yield is zero as the Company has not paid any
dividends to date and does not expect to pay dividends in the future. The expected lives are based on the remaining contractual lives of the related warrants.
The expected volatility is estimated using historical calculated volatility and considers factors such as future events or circumstances that could impact
volatility.
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For warrants classified as permanent equity in accordance with ASC 815 40, the fair value of the warrants is recorded as additional paid-in capital and no
further adjustments are made. A summary of the Company’s warrant activity with respect to the nine months ended September 30, 2009 is as follows:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining
Exercisable Contractual
Warrants Shares Price Term
Outstanding at January 1, 2009 10,123,759 $ 8.54
Granted (Note 12) 24,369,238  $ 1.41
Canceled or expired (2,160,001) $ —
Outstanding at September 30, 2009 32,332,996 $ 3.40 4.26

Note 10. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is calculated using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period and diluted EPS is computed
using the weighted average number of common shares and dilutive common equivalent shares outstanding. Given that the Company is in a loss position,
there is no difference between basic EPS and diluted EPS since the common stock equivalents would be antidilutive.

Three Months Ended September 30,
(amounts in thousands, except per-share data) 2009 2008

Net loss $ (8,090) $ (6,047)
Weighted average number of shares of common stock and common stock equivalents outstanding:

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding for computing basic earnings per share 95,261 71,151
Dilutive effect of warrants and stock options after application of the treasury stock method * *
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding for computing diluted earnings per

share 95,261 71,151
Net loss per share - basic and diluted 0.08) $ (0.08)
Nine Months Ended September 30,
(amounts in thousands, except per-share data) 2009 2008
Net loss (28,684) $ (22,812)
Weighted average number of shares of common stock and common stock equivalents outstanding:
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding for computing basic earnings per share 87,493 69,160
Dilutive effect of warrants and stock options after application of the treasury stock method * *
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding for computing diluted earnings per

share 87,493 69,160
Net loss per share - basic and diluted 0.33) $ (0.33)

* Warrants and stock options to purchase 41,262,099 and 19,877,459 shares of common stock as of September 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively, were
excluded from the earnings per share calculation as their effect would have been anti-dilutive.

Note 11. Comprehensive Loss and Securities Available for Sale

For the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, the Company’s comprehensive loss was equal to the net loss.
Note 12. Equity Financing

On January 30, 2009, the Company closed a registered equity financing for net proceeds of $15.5 million with several institutional investors. The Company
sold 14,224,202 shares of common stock at $1.16 per share, and also issued warrants for the purchase of 14,224,202 common shares at $1.16 per share. These
warrants are exercisable starting July 30, 2009 and expire on July 30, 2014. In connection with the equity financing, the placement agent received a warrant
for the purchase of an additional 426,726 common shares at $1.45 per share. This warrant is exercisable starting January 30, 2009 and expires on January 30,
2014. All of these warrants have been classified as liabilities as discussed in Note 9, as they require the issuance of registered shares.
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On August 25, 2009, the Company closed a registered equity financing for net proceeds of $32.3 million with several institutional investors. The Company
sold 24,295,775 shares of common stock at $1.42 per share, and also issued warrants for the purchase of 9,718,310 common shares at $1.78 per share. These



warrants are exercisable starting February 25, 2010 and expire on August 25, 2014. All of these warrants have been classified as liabilities as discussed in
Note 9, as they require the issuance of registered shares. These warrants are non-cash liabilities; the Company is not required to expend any cash to settle these
liabilities.

The Company plans to use the net proceeds from the offering to fund clinical trials for its lead product candidates, to fund the advancement of its pre-clinical
programs, and for other research and development and general corporate purposes.

Note 13. Income Taxes

The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and/or penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense. The Company had no accrual for interest
or penalties on its balance sheet at September 30, 2009 and at December 31, 2008, and has not recognized interest and/or penalties in the statement of
operations for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2009.

At September 30, 2009, the Company had net deferred tax assets of approximately $103 million. The deferred tax assets are primarily composed of federal
and state tax net operating loss carryforwards, federal and state R&D credit carryforwards, share-based compensation expense and intangibles. Due to
uncertainties surrounding its ability to generate future taxable income to realize these assets, a full valuation allowance has been established to offset its net
deferred tax asset. Additionally, the Internal Revenue Code rules under Section 382 could limit the future use of its net operating loss and R&D credit
carryforwards to offset future taxable income based on ownership changes and the value of the Company’s stock.

Note 14. Property Held for Sale

The Company has listed for sale an industrial property located in Corvallis Oregon for a sales price of $2.5 million. Selling and closing expenses are
estimated to be $0.1 million. The Company has decided to outsource its large scale manufacturing activities and has listed this property for sale with a
commercial real estate agent.

Note 15. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

During the first fiscal quarter of 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued ASC 820 10 65-65-4, “Determining Fair Value When the
Volume and Level of Activity for the Asset or Liability has Significantly Decreased and the Identifying Transactions That Are Not Orderly”, ASC 320 10 65-
65-1, “Recognition and Presentation of Other-Than-Temporary Impairments”, and ASC 825 10 65 65-1, “Interim Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial
Instruments”. These were issued to clarify the application of ASC 820 10 65-65-4, “Fair Value Measurements” in the current economic environment, modify
the recognition of other-than-temporary impairments of debt securities, and require companies to disclose the fair value of financial instruments in interim
periods. These accounting updates are effective for interim and annual periods ending after September 15, 2009, with early adoption permitted for periods
ending after March 15, 2009, if all three or both the fair-value measurement and other-than-temporary impairment are adopted simultaneously. The Company
has adopted all three of these updates in the third quarter of 2009, and there was no material impact on the Company’s Financial Statements or related
disclosures.

In May 2009, the FASB issued ASC 855 10, “Subsequent Events”, which establishes the accounting for and disclosure of events that occur after the balance
sheet date but before financial statements are issued or are available to be issued. It requires the Company to disclose the date through which subsequent
events have been evaluated, as well as whether that date is the date the financial statements were issued or the date the financial statements were available to
be issued. The Company adopted ASC 855 10 during the second quarter of 2009. There was no material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

In April 2009, the FASB issued ASC 320 10 65-65-1, “Recognition and Presentation of Other-Than-Temporary Impairments”, which requires the Company to
disclose information for interim and annual periods that enables users of its financial statements to understand the types of available-for-sale and held-to-
maturity debt and equity securities held, including information about investments in an unrealized loss position for which an other-than-temporary
impairment has or has not been recognized. The provisions of this update and were adopted in the second quarter of 2009. There was no material impact on
the Company’s financial statements.

In April 2009, the FASB issued ASC 825 10 65 65-1, “Interim Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments”, which requires publicly traded
companies to include disclosures about the fair value of its financial instruments whenever it issues summarized financial information for interim reporting

periods. The provisions of this update were adopted in the second quarter of 2009. There was no material impact on the Company’s financial statements.
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Note 16. Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated all other subsequent events through November 9, 2009, the date of this filing, and determined there are no material recognized or
unrecognized subsequent events.

Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

This section should be read in conjunction with the same titled section contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed with the SEC for the year ended
December 31, 2008 and the “Risk Factors” contained in the 10-K and this report.

Forward-Looking Information

The Financial Statements and Notes thereto should be read in conjunction with the following discussion. The discussion in this Form 10-Q contains certain
forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Exchange Act. Forward-looking
statements are identified by such words as “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate” and words of similar import. All statements other than historical or current facts,
including, without limitation, statements about our business strategy, plans and objectives of management and our future prospects, are forward-looking
statements. Such forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, the results of research and development efforts, the
success of raising funds in the current offering or future offerings under our current shelf registration, the results of pre-clinical and clinical testing, the effect
of regulation by FDA and other agencies, the impact of competitive products, product development, commercialization and technological difficulties, and

» «



other risks detailed in the Company’s Securities and Exchange Commission filings, that could cause actual results to differ materially from the expected
results reflected in such forward looking statements.

Overview

From our inception in 1980, we have devoted our resources primarily to fund our research and development efforts. We have been unprofitable since
inception and, other than limited interest, license fees, government and other grants and research contracts, we have had no material revenues from the sale of
products or other sources and we do not expect material revenues for the foreseeable future. We expect to continue to incur losses for the foreseeable future as
we continue our research and development efforts and enter into additional collaborative efforts. As of September 30, 2009, our accumulated deficit was $279
million.

Revenues for the third quarter of 2009 were $6.3 million, compared to $5.2 million in the prior-year period, reflecting increases in research contract revenue
of $1.1 million. Revenues for the first nine months of 2009 were $12.4 million, compared to $15.8 million in the first nine months of 2008, reflecting
decreases in research contract revenues of $3.4 million.

The operating loss for the three months ended September 30, 2009 decreased to $2.9 million from an operating loss of $5.9 million from the same period in
the prior year. The operating loss for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 decreased to $11.6 million from $24.6 million for the prior year period. The
operating loss for the third quarter of 2009 was less than the loss from the third quarter of 2008 as the result of lower general and administrative costs
associated with the resignation of former executive officers and relocation costs of new executive officers. Additionally, the operating loss reduction for the
nine months period reflects the $9.9 million expense for acquired in-process research and development from the Ercole acquisition present only in 2008 and
lower spending in 2009 on research and development related primarily to government research contracts.

The net loss for the third quarter of 2009 was $8.1 million, or $(0.08) per share, compared with a net loss for the third quarter of 2008 of $6.0 million, or
$(0.08) per share. The net loss for the third quarter of 2009 includes a non-cash expense for an increase in the warrant valuation liability of $5.0 million
compared to a loss from the same source of $0.2 million during the third quarter of 2008. For the nine months ending September 30, 2009, the Company
reported a net loss of $28.7 million, or $(0.33) per share, compared with a net loss for the comparable period in 2008 of $22.8 million, or $(0.33) per share.
The net loss for the nine months ending September 30, 2009 includes a non-cash expense for warrant liability of $17.0 million compared to a gain of $1.4
million during the same period of 2008. These are non-cash charges, the Company is not required to expend any cash to settle these liabilities. An increase in
warrant valuation is a non-cash expense and is the result of new warrants issued and the increase in the Company’s stock price subsequent to the issuance of
new warrants as a part of the equity financings that closed in January and August of 2009. The increase or decrease on the warrant valuation will fluctuate as
the market price of the Company’s stock fluctuates.
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Results of Operations
Three Months Ended September 30, 2009 Compared to the Three Months Ended September 30, 2008

Revenues from license fees, grants and research contracts increased to $6.3 million in the three months ended September 30, 2009 from $5.2 million in the
comparable period in 2008. The increase in research contracts revenues was the result of the increase in revenues from government research contracts.

Operating loss decreased to $2.9 million in the three months ended September 30, 2009 compared to $5.9 million in the comparable period in 2008. The
operating loss declined in the third quarter of 2009 as the result of higher government revenues combined with lower research and development expenses and
lower general and administrative expenses.

Research and development expenses decreased to $7.5 million in the three months ended September 30, 2009 compared to $7.7 million in the comparable
period in 2008. This decrease was due primarily to decreases in research and development costs related to the government research contracts. General and
administrative expenses declined to $1.8 million in the three months ended September 30, 2009 compared to $3.4 million in the comparable period in 2008.
The third quarter of 2008 contained higher severance and stock compensation expenses from the resignation of a former executive officer and the relocation
costs of new executive officers.

Interest expense and other net for the three months ended September 30, 2009 includes a write down of $0.1 million for property held for sale. The increase
on warrant liability valuation for the three months ended September 30, 2009 of $5.0 million is a non-cash expense and is the result of the increase in the
Company’s stock price subsequent to the issuance of warrants as a part of the equity financings that closed in January and August of 2009. The decrease or
increase on the warrant liability valuation will fluctuate as the market price of the Company’s stock fluctuates.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2009 Compared to the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2008

Revenues from license fees, grants and research contracts decreased to $12.4 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2009 compared to $15.8 million
in the comparable period in 2008. The decrease in research contracts revenues was the result of the decline in revenues from government research contracts.

Operating loss decreased to $11.6 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2009 compared to $24.6 million in the comparable period in 2008. In the
nine months ended September 30, 2008, the operating loss included a one-time charge of $9.9 million for acquired in-process research and development
associated with the acquisition of Ercole Biotech, Inc. The operating loss in the nine months ended September 30, 2009 also decreased compared to the
comparable period in 2008 as a result of lower research and development expenses and lower general and administrative expenses.

Research and development expenses decreased to $17.8 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2009 compared to $22.3 million in the comparable
period in 2008 due to lower spending in 2009 on research and development related primarily to government research projects.

General and administrative expenses decreased to $6.2 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2009 compared to $8.2 million in the comparable
period in 2008. The decrease in general and administrative expenses was due primarily to non-cash costs recognized in the nine months ended September 30,



2008 primarily due to stock compensation paid to Ercole executives related to the 2008 acquisition, severance and stock compensation expenses related to the
resignation of former executive officers, and relocation costs for new executive officers.

Net interest income declined in the nine months ended September 30, 2009 as compared to the comparable period in 2008 primarily due to declines in market
rates of interest on the Company’s interest-earning investments and the write off of valuations for patents, property and equipment.

The increase in the warrant liability valuation of $17.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 compared to the decrease in the warrant
liability valuation of $1.4 million in the comparable period in 2008, is a non-cash expense and is the result of new warrants issued and the increase in the
Company’s stock price subsequent to the issuance of new warrants as a part of the equity financings that closed in January and August of 2009. The
decrease or increase on the warrant liability valuation fluctuates as the market price of the Company’s stock fluctuates.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have financed our operations since inception primarily through sales of common stock and other forms of equity totaling $262.9 million and from
revenues from license fees, grants and research contracts of $54.7 million from various sources. In January 2009, we raised net proceeds of $15.5 million in
financing through the sale of 14,224,202 shares of common stock pursuant to a registered direct offering to a select group of institutional investors. The
investors also received warrants to purchase 14,224,202 shares of the Company’s common stock. These warrants are exercisable starting July 30, 2009 and
expire on July 30, 2014. In addition, the placement agent used for the equity financing received a warrant for the purchase of an additional 426,726 common
shares at $1.45 per share. This warrant is exercisable starting January 30, 2009 and expires on January 30, 2014. All of these warrants have been classified as
liabilities as discussed in Note 9, as they require the issuance of registered shares.
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On August 25, 2009, the Company closed a registered equity financing for net proceeds of $32.3 million with several institutional investors. The Company
sold 24,295,775 shares of common stock at $1.42 per share, and also issued warrants for the purchase of 9,718,310 common shares at $1.78 per share. These
warrants are exercisable starting February 25, 2010 and expire on August 25, 2014. All of these warrants have been classified as liabilities as discussed in
Note 9, as they require the issuance of registered shares. These warrants are non-cash liabilities; the Company is not required to expend any cash to settle
these liabilities.

We plan to use the net proceeds from these offering to fund clinical trials for our lead product candidates, to fund the advancement of our pre-clinical
programs, and for other research and development and general corporate purposes.

We expect to continue to incur losses as we continue to expand our research and development activities and related regulatory work and increase our
collaborative efforts. For 2009, we expect our expenditures for operations, net of government funding, including our collaborative efforts, and our GMP
facilities to be approximately $10 to $12 million. This cost could increase if we undertake additional collaborative efforts. However, if necessary in 2009, we
believe we can reduce our expenditures because a significant amount of our costs are variable. Those estimated expenditures include amounts necessary to
fulfill our obligations under our various collaborative, research and licensing agreements during 2009. The Company believes it will continue to receive
funding from government and other sources to pursue the development of its product candidates, and has assumed certain revenues from these awards in
providing this guidance. Should the Company not continue to receive funding from its current contracts or not receive additional funding, or should the
timing be delayed, it may have a significant negative impact on the Company’s guidance.

Because of the cost (up to $1.318 billion) and timeframe (of 10 to 15 years) as published (Wiley InterScience, 22007 John Wiley and Sons, LTD), and
generally associated with developing a potential drug or pharmaceutical product to the point of approval by the FDA or other regulatory agencies for human
use, our business strategy is to develop our products up to Phase II human clinical trials and then look for third parties to fund further development of the
product and to market the product through strategic partnerships, license agreements or other relationships. We also look for collaborative and other efforts,
such as our relationship with Cook, to utilize other technology to increase the potential variety and reduce the cost of identifying products. We believe that
this strategy will reduce the potential costs we would otherwise incur in developing a product and bringing it to market. Our expected costs under our various
contracts and for various drug development products can be estimated for the next year or two, but not much beyond that due to the uncertainty of clinical
trial results, research results and the timing of securing one or more partners to develop and market a potential drug.

Because of the various factors noted above and the expectation that, until we establish revenue sources, we will license or jointly develop our prospective
products to or with strategic partners, we review, at least annually, each research program and clinical trial based on results and progress during the prior year
and estimate our needs for that program or trial for the coming year, making adjustments based on the progress of the program during the year.

The Company is in the development stage. Since its inception in 1980 through September 30, 2009, the Company has incurred losses of approximately $279
million, substantially all of which resulted from expenditures related to research and development, general and administrative charges and acquired in-process
research and development resulting from two acquisitions. The Company has not generated any material revenue from product sales to date, and there can be
no assurance that revenues from product sales will be achieved. Moreover, even if the Company does achieve revenues from product sales, the Company
expects to incur operating losses over the next several years.

The financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. The Company’s ability to achieve a profitable
level of operations in the future will depend in large part on completing product development of its RNA-based products, obtaining regulatory approvals for
such products, and bringing these products to market. During the period required to develop these products, the Company may require substantial additional
financing. There can be no assurance that such financing will be available when needed or that the Company’s planned products will be commercially
successful. The Company believes it has sufficient cash to fund operations at least through the following twelve months, exclusive of future receipts from
billings on existing government contracts. For 2009, the Company expects expenditures for operations, net of government funding, including collaborative
efforts and research and development activities to be approximately $10 to $12 million. This could increase if the Company undertakes additional
collaborative efforts. However, if necessary in 2009, the Company believes it can reduce its expenditures because a significant amount of its costs are
variable. Those estimated expenditures include amounts necessary to fulfill the Company’s obligations under its various collaborative, research and licensing
agreements during 2009. The Company believes it will continue to receive funding from government and other sources to pursue the development of its
product candidates, and has assumed certain revenues from these awards in providing this guidance. Should the Company not continue to receive funding
from its current contracts or not receive additional funding, or should the timing be delayed, it may have a significant negative impact on the Company’s
guidance.
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The Company currently has a total of $61.7 million of contracted development studies. As of September 30, 2009, $44 million has been billed, of which
$38.3 million has been received in cash and $5.7 million is in accounts receivable. The Company has $17.7 in development contracts remaining that have
not yet been completed and have not been billed. The Company expects to complete the remaining contract activity and receive the contracted revenue in
2010 and early 2011.

In December 2006, the Company announced the execution of a two-year $28 million research contract with the Defense Threat Reduction Agency (DTRA),
an agency of the United States Department of Defense (DoD). The contract is directed toward funding the Company’s development of antisense therapeutics
to treat the effects of Ebola, Marburg and Junin hemorrhagic viruses, which are seen by DoD as potential biological warfare and bioterrorism agents. In

May 2009, the Company received an amendment from DTRA to extend the contract performance period to November 29, 2009 and a cost modification of an
additional $5.9 million, increasing the total contract amount to $33.9 million. In September 2009, the Company received a second amendment from DTRA to
extend the contract performance period to February 28, 2011 and a cost modification of an additional $11.5 million, increasing the total contract amount to
$45.4 million.

During the three month periods ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, the Company recognized $4.4 million and $4.9 million, respectively, in research
contract revenue from this contract. During the nine month periods ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, the Company recognized $7.5 million and $13.6
million, respectively, in research contract revenue from this contract. To date, the Company has recognized revenues of $32.3 million from this contract.
Funding of the remainder of the contract is anticipated in 2010 and 2011.

In January 2006, the Company announced that the final version of the 2006 defense appropriations act had been approved, which included an allocation of
$11.0 million to fund the Company’s ongoing defense-related programs. Net of government administrative costs, it is anticipated that the Company will
receive up to $9.8 million under this allocation. The Company’s technology is expected to be used to continue developing therapeutic agents against Ebola,
Marburg and Dengue viruses, as well as to continue developing countermeasures for anthrax exposure and antidotes for ricin toxin. The Company has
received signed contracts for all of these projects. The Company expects that funding under these signed contracts will be completed over the next 12 months.
During the three month periods ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, the Company recognized $0.3 million and $0.2 million, respectively, in research
contract revenue from these contracts. During the nine month periods ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, the Company recognized $1.9 million and $2.1
million, respectively, in research contract revenue from this contract. To date, the Company has recognized revenues of $8.8 million on these contracts.
Funding of the remainder of these contracts is anticipated in 2010.

In May 2009, the Company entered into a contract with the U.S. Defense Threat Reduction Agency (“DTRA”) to develop swine flu drugs. Under this
contract, DTRA will pay up to $4.1 million to the Company for the work to be performed by the Company. The work will involve the application of the
Company’s proprietary PMO and PMOplus antisense chemistry and the Company plans to conduct preclinical development of at least one drug candidate and
demonstrate it is effective by testing it on animals. During the three month period ended September 30, 2009, the Company recognized $0.7 million in
revenue under this contract. During the nine month period ended September 30, 2009, the Company recognized $1.1 million in revenue under this contract.

Also in May 2009, the Company entered into a $2.5 million contract with Children’s National Medical Center in Washington, D.C. to support preclinical
studies in the development of AVI-4658 for treatment of Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. The work will be conducted with Children’s National collaborators
Eric Hoffman, Ph.D., an authority on DMD and Professor of Pediatrics, and Edward Connor, M.D., Director, Office of Investigational Therapeutics and
Professor of Pediatrics. AVI will serve as a subcontractor to a grant awarded to Children’s National by the U.S. Department of Defense. During the three
month period ended September 30, 2009, the Company recognized $0.8 million in revenue under this contract. During the nine month period ended
September 30, 2009, the Company recognized $1.8 million in revenue under this contract.

In September 2009, the Company and Charley’s Fund, Inc. (“Charley’s Fund”), a nonprofit organization that funds drug discovery and development
initiatives specific to DMD, entered into the First Amendment to an existing Sponsored Research Agreement (the “Amendment”). The Amendment pertains
to certain provisions of the Sponsored Research Agreement by and between the Company and Charley’s Fund entered into effective October 12, 2007 (the
“Agreement”). Under the terms of the Amendment, the Company was awarded an additional $3 million in sponsored research funds, for a total of $5 million
from Charley’s Fund to support a new product development program using proprietary exon skipping technologies developed by the Company to overcome
the effects of certain genetic errors in the dystrophin gene.
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In July 2009, the Company entered into a lease agreement with BMR-3450 Monte Villa Parkway LLC relating to the lease of 19,108 square feet of laboratory
and office space in Bothell, Washington. The Company began occupying this space in August 2009, and has moved its headquarters and R&D functions to
this new location. The term of the lease is approximately 63 months, although the Company has a one-time option to terminate the lease after 3 years’ time
upon payment of a termination fee. The Company will commence paying base rent of approximately $43,000 per month after approximately 3 months. The
amount of base rent is subject to an annual increase of 3%.

The likelihood of the long-term success of the Company must be considered in light of the expenses, difficulties and delays frequently encountered in the
development and commercialization of new pharmaceutical products, competitive factors in the marketplace as well as the complex regulatory environment
in which the Company operates. There can be no assurance that the Company will ever achieve significant revenues or profitable operations.

Our cash, cash equivalents and short-term securities were $50.4 million at September 30, 2009, compared with $11.5 million at December 31, 2008. The
increase of $38.9 million was due primarily to net proceeds of $47.8 million from the sale of common stock and issuance of stock warrants from two separate
equity financing transactions that closed in January and August of 2009.

The cash from financing activities was partially offset by cash used in operations of $7.7 million and costs related to acquisitions of patents and fixed assets
of $1.0 million.



We do not expect any material revenues in 2009 from our business activities except for revenues from U.S. government contracts and other agreements. We
expect that our cash requirements for the next twelve months will be satisfied by existing cash resources and these revenues. To fund our operations beyond
the next twelve months, we may need to raise additional capital. We will continue to look for opportunities to finance our ongoing activities and operations

through accessing corporate partners or the public equity markets, as we currently have no credit facility and do not intend to seek one.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The discussion and analysis of the Company’s financial condition and results of operations are based upon its financial statements, which have been prepared
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires the Company to make
estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.

The Company’s critical accounting policies and estimates are consistent with the disclosure in the Company’s Form 10-K.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

There has been no material change in the Company’s market risk exposure since the filing of our 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of September 30, 2009, the Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of its management, including its Chief
Executive Officer and its Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of its disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to

Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Based on this review of its disclosure controls and procedures, the Chief Executive Officer and
the Chief Financial Officer have concluded that its disclosure controls and procedures are effective in timely alerting them to material information relating to
the Company that is required to be included in our periodic SEC filings.

Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

There were no significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect these controls subsequent to the date of their
evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. I.egal Proceedings.
None
Item 1A. Risk Factors.
Risks Affecting Future Operating Results

The following factors should be considered in evaluating our business and prospects for the future. If risks described below actually occur, our operating
results and financial condition would likely suffer and the trading price of our common stock may fall, causing a loss of some or all of an investment in our
common stock. In addition, there may be additional risks not known to us or understood by us, which may adversely affect our financial condition, results of
operations, and the price of our stock.

If we fail to continue to attract significant capital, we may be unable to continue to successfully develop our products.

Since we began operations, we have obtained operating funds primarily by selling shares of our common stock. Based on our current plans, we believe that
current cash balances will be sufficient to meet our operating needs for the next twelve months. Furthermore, the actual amount of funds that we will need
will be determined by many factors, some of which are beyond our control. These factors include the success of our research and development efforts, the
status of our pre-clinical and clinical testing, costs relating to securing regulatory approvals and the costs and timing of obtaining new patent rights, regulatory
changes, competition and technological developments in the market. We may need funds sooner than currently anticipated.

If necessary, potential sources of additional funding could include strategic relationships, public or private sales of shares of our stock, debt, or other
arrangements. We may not be able to obtain additional funding when we need it on terms that will be acceptable to us or at all. If we raise funds by selling
additional shares of our common stock or securities convertible into our common stock, the ownership interest of our existing shareholders will be diluted. If
we were unable to obtain financing when needed, our business and future prospects would be materially adversely affected.

Our products are in an early stage of research and development and may not be determined to be safe or effective.

We are in the early stages of clinical development with respect to our RNA-based pharmaceutical products. We have devoted almost all of our resources to
research and development of our product candidates, protecting our proprietary rights and establishing strategic alliances. Our potential products are in the
pre-clinical or clinical stages of research and development and will require significant further research, development, clinical testing and regulatory approvals.
We have no products available for sale and we do not expect to have any products available for sale for several years. Our products could be found to be
ineffective or toxic, or could fail to receive necessary regulatory approvals. We have not received any significant revenues from the sale of products and we
may not successfully develop marketable products that will increase sales and, given adequate margins, make us profitable. Third parties may develop
superior or equivalent, but less expensive, products.

We rely on U.S. government contracts to support several important R&D programs.



We rely on U.S. government contracts and awards to fund several of our development programs, including those for the Ebola, Marburg, Junin and swine flu
viruses. The termination of one or more of these contracts, whether due to lack of funding, for convenience, or otherwise, or the occurrence of delays or
product failures in connection with one or more of these contracts, could negatively impact our financial condition. Furthermore, we can give no assurance
that we would be able to procure new U.S. government contracts to offset the revenues lost as a result of any termination of our contracts.

The funding of U.S. government programs is subject to Congressional appropriations. Congress generally appropriates funds on a fiscal year basis even
though a program may extend over several fiscal years. Consequently, programs are often only partially funded initially and additional funds are committed
only as Congress makes further appropriations. In the event that appropriations for one of our programs become unavailable, or are reduced or delayed, our
contracts may be terminated or adjusted by the government, which could have a negative impact on our future sales under such a contract or subcontract.
From time to time, when a formal appropriation bill has not been signed into law before the end of the U.S. government’s fiscal year, Congress may pass a
continuing resolution that authorizes agencies of the U.S. government to continue to operate, generally at the same funding levels from the prior year, but
does not authorize new spending initiatives, during a certain period. During such a period (or until the regular appropriation bills are passed), delays can occur
in government procurement due to lack of funding, and such delays can affect our operations during the period of delay.

In addition, U.S. government contracts generally also permit the government to terminate the contract, in whole or in part, without prior notice, at the
government’s convenience or for default based on performance. If one of our contracts is terminated for convenience, we would generally be entitled to
payments for our allowable costs and would receive some allowance for profit on the work performed. If one of our contracts is terminated for default, we
would generally be entitled to payments for our work that has been accepted by the government. A termination arising out of our default could expose us to
liability and have a negative impact on our ability to obtain future contracts.
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If we fail to receive or experience delays in receiving necessary regulatory approvals, we will be unable to develop and commercialize our products.

All of our products are subject to extensive regulation by the United States Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, and by comparable agencies in other
countries. The FDA and these agencies require new pharmaceutical products to undergo lengthy and detailed preclinical and clinical testing procedures and
other costly and time-consuming compliance procedures. We do not know when, or if, we will be able to submit our products for regulatory review. Even if
we submit a new drug application, there may be delays in obtaining regulatory approvals, if we obtain them at all. Sales of our products outside the United
States will also be subject to regulatory requirements governing clinical trials and product approval. These requirements vary from country to country and
could delay introduction of our products in those countries. We cannot assure you that any of our products will receive marketing approval from the FDA or
comparable foreign agencies. We expect to develop the therapeutic product candidates to treat Ebola Virus and Marburg Virus under defined regulatory
pathways using the Animal Rule mechanism. This mechanism has become available only relatively recently and has been infrequently used. This process has
yet to be well tested and may present challenges for gaining final regulatory approval for these product candidates.

If we lose key personnel or are unable to attract and retain additional, highly skilled personnel required for our activities, our business will suffer.

The loss of key employees could significantly delay the achievement of our goals. Competition for qualified personnel in our industry is intense, and our
success will depend on our ability to attract and retain highly skilled personnel. To date, we have been successful in attracting and retaining key personnel. We
now have added emphasis on product development in our business plan. In addition, we are building a new chemistry-led research capability in Bothell,
Washington and have outsourced our large scale manufacturing capability in Corvallis, Oregon. This short term transformation of our skill base has placed
additional emphasis on our ability to attract and retain skilled personnel.

Asserting, defending and maintaining our intellectual property rights could be challenging and costly, and our failure to do so could harm our ability to
compete and impair the outcome of our operations. The pharmaceutical environment is highly competitive and competing intellectual property could limit
our ability to protect our products.

Our success will depend on our existing patents and licenses (185 patents (domestic and foreign) issued or licensed to us and 176 (domestic and foreign)
pending patent applications) and our ability to obtain additional patents in the future. We license patents from other parties for certain complementary
technologies.

Some of our patents on core technologies expired in 2008, including for our general PMO chemistry. Based on patented improvements and inventive
additions to such core patents, however, we believe the patent protection for our products in development extend beyond 2020.

We cannot be certain that pending patent applications will result in patents being issued in the United States or foreign countries. In addition, the patents that
have been or will be issued may not afford meaningful protection for our technology and products. Competitors may develop products similar to ours that do
not conflict with our patents. Pharmaceutical research and development is highly competitive; others may file patents first. We are aware of a patent that has
issued that may provide the basis for the patent holder to assert that our drug AVI-4658 infringes on such patent. We intend to vigorously defend any such
claim if it should be asserted and believe that we may be able to invalidate some or all of the claims covered by this patent. In any case, we believe that we
have freedom to and are moving forward with our ongoing clinical trials and drug development efforts for this drug candidate.

Others may challenge our patents and, as a result, our patents could be narrowed or invalidated. The patent position of biotechnology firms generally is highly
uncertain, involves complex legal and factual questions, and has recently been the subject of much litigation. No consistent policy has emerged from the
United States Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO) or the courts regarding the breadth of claims allowed or the degree of protection afforded under
biotechnology patents. In addition, there is a substantial backlog of biotechnology patent applications at the USPTO and the approval or rejection of patents
may take several years.

Our success will also depend partly on our ability to operate without infringing upon the proprietary rights of others as well as our ability to prevent others
from infringing on our proprietary rights. We may be required at times to take legal action to protect our proprietary rights and, despite our best efforts, we
may be sued for infringing on the patent rights of others. We have not received any communications or other indications from owners of related patents or
others that such persons believe our products or technology may infringe their patents. Patent litigation is costly and, even if we prevail, the cost of such
litigation could adversely affect our financial condition. If we do not prevail, in addition to any damages we might have to pay, we could be required to stop
the infringing activity or obtain a license. Any required license may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. If we fail to obtain a license, our
business might be materially adversely affected.
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To help protect our proprietary rights in unpatented trade secrets, we require our employees, consultants and advisors to execute confidentiality agreements.
However, such agreements may not provide us with adequate protection if confidential information is used or disclosed improperly. In addition, in some
situations, these agreements may conflict with, or be subject to, the rights of third parties with whom our employees, consultants or advisors have prior
employment or consulting relationships. Further, others may independently develop substantially equivalent proprietary information and techniques, or
otherwise gain access to our trade secrets.

We depend on our partners and contractors for critical functions. Therefore, if our collaborations or strategic relationships are unsuccessful, our business
could be harmed.

Our strategic relationships are important to our success. The discovery, development and marketing of many of our key therapeutic products are or will be
dependent in large part on the efforts of our strategic partners. Our strategic partners may be unsuccessful in their attempt to develop our potential products
due to circumstances that are beyond our control. The transactions contemplated by our agreements with strategic partners, including the equity purchases and
cash payments, are subject to numerous risks and conditions. The occurrence of any of these events could severely harm our business.

We anticipate entering into relationships with larger pharmaceutical companies to conduct late stage clinical trials and to market our products. We also plan to
use contract manufacturing for late stage clinical and commercial quantities of our products. We may be unable to enter into partnerships or other
relationships, which could impede our ability to bring our products to market. Any such partnerships, if entered into at all, may be on less than favorable
terms and may not result in the successful development or marketing of our products. If we are unsuccessful in establishing advantageous clinical testing,
manufacturing and marketing relationships, we are not likely to generate significant revenues and become profitable.

To fully realize the potential of our products, including development, production and marketing, we may need to establish other strategic relationships.
We may get unexpected results from, or encounter challenges from our clinical studies.

All clinical studies, including phase III or pivotal studies, need to be agreed with regulatory authorities beforehand and successfully executed. Preclinical as
well as clinical studies are experiments designed to test a theory or hypothesis, and by their very nature, the result is unknown at the time the study is started.
Sometimes unexpected results occur and the product does not demonstrate effectiveness (even though it might be effective), or an unexpected safety issue
may be encountered.

We have incurred net losses since our inception and we may not achieve or sustain profitability.

We incurred a net loss of $28.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and $24.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. As of
September 30, 2009, our accumulated deficit was $279 million. Our losses have resulted principally from expenses incurred in research and development of
our technology and products and from general and administrative expenses that we have incurred while building our business infrastructure. We expect to
continue to incur significant operating losses in the future as we continue our research and development efforts and seek to obtain regulatory approval of our
products. Our ability to achieve profitability depends on our ability to raise additional capital, complete development of our products, obtain regulatory
approvals and market our products. It is uncertain when, if ever, we will become profitable.

Our ability to be successful against our competitors cannot be assured.

The biopharmaceutical industry is highly competitive, with a number of well-established firms performing leading-edge research for the development of new
products to treat a wide range of diseases. These companies have obtained patents for their intellectual property rights that could preclude other companies
from using similar technologies in their product development. Moreover, companies that are focused on the treatment of similar diseases are in effect
competing for the same limited number of potential patients. Even if we are able to develop new products for market, there can be no assurance that we will
be able to compete effectively or profitably against our competitors.

We may be subject to clinical trial claims and our insurance may not be adequate to cover damages.

We believe we carry adequate insurance for our current product development activities. In the future, commercial sale and use of our products may or might
expose us to the risk of clinical trial claims. Although we intend to obtain product liability insurance coverage, product liability insurance may not continue to
be available to us on acceptable terms and our coverage may not be sufficient to cover all claims against us. A product liability claim, even one without merit
or for which we have substantial coverage, could result in significant legal defense costs, thereby increasing our expenses, lowering our earnings and,
depending on revenues, potentially resulting in additional losses.
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We use hazardous substances in our research activities.

We use organic and inorganic solvents and reagents in our clinical development that are customarily used in pharmaceutical development and synthesis. Some
of these chemicals may be classified as hazardous substances, are flammable and, if exposed to human skin, can cause anything from irritation to severe
burns. We receive, store, use and dispose of such chemicals in compliance with all applicable laws with containment storage facilities and contained handling
and disposal safeguards and procedures. We are routinely inspected by federal, state and local governmental and public safety agencies regarding our storage,
use and disposal of such chemicals, including the federal Occupational, Safety and Health Agency (“OSHA”), the Oregon Department of Environmental
Quality (“DEQ”) and the Washington Department of Ecology (‘DOE”) and local fire departments, without any material noncompliance issues in such
inspections to date. Based on our limited use of such chemicals, the nature of such chemicals and the safeguards undertaken by the Company for storage, use
and disposal, we believe we do not have any material exposure for toxic tort liability. Further, the cost of such compliance is not a material cost in our
operating budget. While we do not have toxic tort liability insurance at this time, we believe our current insurance coverage is adequate to cover most



liabilities that may arise from our use of such substances. If we are wrong in any of our beliefs, we could incur a liability in certain circumstances that would
be material to our finances and the value of an investment in our securities.

Risks Related to Share Ownership

Our right to issue preferred stock, our classified Board of Directors and Oregon Anti-Takeover laws may delay a takeover attempt and prevent or frustrate
any attempt to replace or remove the then current management of the Company by shareholders.

Our authorized capital consists of 200 million shares of common stock and 20 million shares of preferred stock. Our Board of Directors, without any further
vote by the shareholders, has the authority to issue preferred shares and to determine the price, preferences, rights and restrictions, including voting and
dividend rights, of these shares. The rights of holders of any preferred shares that our Board of Directors may issue in the future may affect the rights of the
holders of shares of common stock. For example, our Board of Directors may allow the issuance of preferred shares with more voting rights, preferential
dividend payments or more favorable rights upon dissolution than the shares of common stock or special rights to elect directors.

In addition, we have a “classified” Board of Directors, which means that only one-half of our directors are eligible for election each year. Therefore, if
shareholders wish to change the composition of our Board of Directors, it could take at least two years to remove a majority of the existing directors or to
change all directors. Having a classified Board of Directors may, in some cases, delay mergers, tender offers or other possible transactions that may be
favored by some or a majority of our shareholders and may delay or frustrate action by shareholders to change the then current Board of Directors and
management.

The Oregon Control Share Act and Business Combination Act may limit parties that acquire a significant amount of voting shares from exercising control
over us for specific periods of time. These acts may lengthen the period for a proxy contest or for a person to vote their shares to elect the majority of our
Board and change management.

Our stock price is volatile and may fluctuate due to factors beyond our control.

Historically, the market price of our stock has been highly volatile. The following types of announcements could have a significant impact on the price of our
common stock: positive or negative results of testing and clinical trials by ourselves, strategic partners, or competitors; delays in entering into corporate
partnerships; technological innovations or commercial product introductions by ourselves or competitors; changes in government regulations; developments
concerning proprietary rights, including patents and litigation matters; public concern relating to the commercial value or safety of any of our products;
financing or other corporate transactions; or general stock market conditions.

The significant number of our shares of Common Stock eligible for future sale may cause the price of our common stock to fall.

We have outstanding 110,433,113 shares of common stock as of September 30, 2009 and all are eligible for sale under Rule 144 or are otherwise freely
tradable. In addition:

Our employees and others hold options to buy a total of 8,929,103 shares of common stock, of which 5,169,920 options were exercisable at
September 30, 2009. The options outstanding have exercise prices between $0.60 and $7.35 per share. The shares of common stock to be issued upon
exercise of these options have been registered, and, therefore, may be freely sold when issued.

There are outstanding warrants to buy 32,332,996 shares of common stock as of September 30, 2009 with exercise prices ranging from $.0003 to $35.63
per share. Outstanding warrants to buy 30,203,466 shares of common stock are issuable upon exercise of outstanding warrants for common stock

registered for resale and may be freely sold when issued, subject to the limitations imposed by applicable securities laws.
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Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 2,129,530 shares of common stock are not registered for resale. These warrants include warrants to purchase an
aggregate of shares of common stock were issued to ISIS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“ISIS”) in exchange for warrants to purchase shares of Ercole capital
stock previously issued by Ercole to ISIS prior to the Company’s acquisition of Ercole. Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 1,683,545 shares of
common stock issued in 2000 and prior were issued as a part of a technology licensing agreement and to a former employee.

We may issue options to purchase up to an additional 703,374 shares of common stock as of September 30, 2009 under our stock option plans, which also
will be fully saleable when issued except to the extent limited under Rule 144 for resales by our officers and directors.

We are authorized to sell up to 48,196 shares of common stock under our Employee Stock Purchase Plan to our full-time employees, nearly all of whom
are eligible to participate.

Sales of substantial amounts of shares into the public market could lower the market price of our common stock.

Our common stock is listed on The NASDAQ Global Market and we may not be able to maintain that listing, which may make it more difficult for investors to
sell shares of our common stock.

Our common stock is listed on The NASDAQ Global Market. The NASDAQ Global Market has several quantitative and qualitative requirements with which
companies must comply in order to maintain this listing, including a $1.00 minimum bid price per share and $50 million minimum value of listed securities.
If a listed company fails to meet the $1.00 minimum bid price per share requirement for 30 consecutive days, it will receive a notice from NASDAQ
mandating that the company achieve compliance with the minimum bid price per share listing requirement within 90 calendar days. Our stock price is
currently above $1.00; however, our stock price was priced at $0.99 as recently as May 11, 2009. There can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain
compliance with the minimum bid price per share requirement in the future.

On October 16, 2008, NASDAQ suspended the minimum bid price per share requirement and market value for publicly held shares requirements for all listed
companies through August 2, 2009. Recently, NASDAQ announced that it reinstated the minimum bid price per share requirement and market value for
publicly held shares requirements for all listed companies on August 3, 2009. As of the date of this report, we meet these listing requirements.



In addition to the foregoing, if we are not listed on The NASDAQ Stock Market and/or if our public float remains below $75 million, we may be limited in
our ability to file new shelf registration statements on SEC Form S-3 and/or to fully use one or more registration statements on SEC Form S-3. We have relied
significantly on shelf registration statements on SEC Form S-3 for most of our financings in recent years, so any such limitations might have a material
adverse effect on our ability to raise the capital we need.

We do not expect to pay dividends in the foreseeable future.
We have never paid dividends on our shares of common stock and do not intend to pay dividends in the foreseeable future. Therefore, you should only invest
in our common stock with the expectation of realizing a return through capital appreciation on your investment. You should not invest in our common stock if

you are seeking dividend income.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

None.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.

None
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.
None.

Item 5. Other Information.

None.
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Item 6. Exhibits
Incorporated by Reference to Filings Indicated
Filing Filed

Exhibit No Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Date Herewith
3.1 Third Restated Articles of Incorporation of SB-2 333-20513 3.1 5/29/97

AntiVirals Inc.
3.2 First Restated Bylaws of AVI BioPharma, Inc. 8-K 1-14895 3.5 2/7/08
3.3 First Amendment to Third Restated Articles of 8-K 0-22613 3.3 9/30/98

Incorporation
3.4 Amendment to Article 2 of the Company’s Third DEF 14A 1-14895 N/A 4/11/02

Restated Articles of Incorporation
4.4 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant 8-K 1-14895 4.4 1/30/09
4.5 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant 8-K 1-14895 4.1 8/24/09
10.76 Lease by and between BMR-3450 MONTE VILLA X

PARKWAY LLC, a Delaware limited liability

company, and AVI BIOPHARMA, INC., an Oregon

corporation
10.77 Amendment of Contract between AVI BioPharma, X

inc. and the U.S. Defense Threat Reduction Agency
(contract no HDTRA 1-07-C-0010), effective
September 30, 2009
31.1 Certification of the Company’s President and Chief X
Executive Officer, Leslie Hudson, Ph.D, pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer, J . David X
Boyle II, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

32 Certification of the Company’s Chief Executive X

Officer, Leslie Hudson, Ph.D, and Chief Financial
Officer, J. David Boyle II, pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Portions of the materials in the exhibits marked with a “+” have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. Omitted portions have been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.

Date: November 9, 2009 AVI BIOPHARMA, INC.

By: /s/ LESLIE HUDSON, Ph.D.

Leslie Hudson, Ph.D.
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

By: /s/J. DAVID BOYLE II

J. David Boyle II
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 10.76
LEASE
by and between

BMR-3450 MONTE VILLA PARKWAY LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

and

AVI BIOPHARMA, INC.,
an Oregon corporation

LEASE

THIS LEASE (this “Lease”) is entered into as of this 24™ day of July, 2009 (the “Execution Date”), by and between BMR-3450 MONTE VILLA
PARKWAY LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Landlord”), and AVI BIOPHARMA, INC., an Oregon corporation (“Tenant”).

RECITALS

A. WHEREAS, Landlord owns certain real property described on Exhibit A-1 attached hereto (the “Property”) and the improvements thereon
located at 3450 Monte Villa Parkway in Bothell, Washington, including the building located thereon (the “Building”) in which the Premises (as defined
below) are located; and

B. WHEREAS, Landlord wishes to lease to Tenant, and Tenant desires to lease from Landlord, certain premises (the “Premises”) located in
the Building, pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Lease, as detailed below.

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, Landlord and Tenant, in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein and for other good and valuable consideration,
the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, and intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:

1. Lease of Premises.

1.1. Effective on the Term Commencement Date, Landlord hereby leases to Tenant, and Tenant hereby leases from Landlord, the Premises, as
shown on Exhibit A-2 attached hereto for use by Tenant in accordance with the Permitted Use (as defined below) and no other uses. The Property and all
landscaping, parking facilities and other improvements and appurtenances related thereto, including, without limitation, the Building, are hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Project.” All portions of the Project that are for the non-exclusive use of tenants of the Building, including, without limitation,
driveways, sidewalks, parking areas, landscaped areas, service corridors, stairways, elevators, public restrooms and public lobbies, are hereinafter referred to
as “Common Area.”

1.2. In addition, and for no additional charge, Tenant shall have the right to access and use Tenant’s Pro Rata Share (as defined below) of the
roof area of the Building for placement and installation of communication and satellite systems and antennas, subject to (a) approval (if required by
Applicable Laws (as defined below)) and (b) Landlord’s reasonable approval of the actual location and acceptable screening of the same for aesthetic
purposes. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant may only penetrate the roof membrane using a contractor acceptable to Landlord in its sole and absolute
discretion, and shall indemnify, save, defend and hold Landlord harmless from and against any Claims (as defined below) arising out of damage to the
Building or a voiding of the roof warranty due to Tenant’s activities. To the extent that signals from Tenant’s rooftop equipment conflict with signals of
Landlord’s or other tenants’ rooftop equipment, Tenant shall promptly modify at its sole cost and expense such equipment so that any party

whose equipment was installed prior to Tenant’s (or if Tenant changes its signals or frequency after initial installation, any party whose use of its signal or
frequency predates Tenant’s use of its altered signal or frequency) shall not suffer interference from Tenant’s equipment. Tenant shall remove all such
equipment from the roof upon the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, and shall promptly (and in any case prior to such expiration or earlier
termination) repair all damage resulting from such removal.

1.3. In addition, and for no additional charge, Tenant shall have the right to exclusive use of up to two (2) adjacent full-size parking stalls
behind the rear of the Premises (the location of such stalls to be subject to Landlord’s reasonable consent; and provided that such stalls shall constitute part of,
and not be in addition to, Tenant’s Parking Share (as defined below)) for the purposes of Tenant installing a temporary storage shed (at Tenant’s sole expense),
in which Tenant may store and secure its personal property at Tenant’s sole risk and in accordance with Applicable Laws and this Lease, including without
limitation barrels with chemical waste.

2. Basic Lease Provisions. For convenience of the parties, certain basic provisions of this Lease are set forth herein. The provisions set forth herein are
subject to the remaining terms and conditions of this Lease and are to be interpreted in light of such remaining terms and conditions.

2.1. This Lease shall take effect upon the Execution Date and, except as specifically otherwise provided within this Lease, each of the
provisions hereof shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of Landlord and Tenant from the date of execution and delivery hereof by all parties hereto.

2.2. In the definitions below, each current Rentable Area (as defined below) is expressed in rentable square footage. Rentable Area and
Tenant’s Pro Rata Share (as defined below) are both subject to adjustment as provided in this Lease.



2.3.

Definition or Provision

Means the Following (As of the Term
Commencement Date)

Rentable Area of Premises
Rentable Area of Building

Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of Building 37.47 %

19,108 square feet
51,000 square feet

Initial monthly and annual installments of Base Rent for the Premises (“Base Rent”) as of the Rent Commencement Date (as defined
below), subject to adjustment under this Lease:

S.F. of Rentable Area

Per S.F. of Rentable Area Total Monthly

Total Annual

19,108

$27 annually $

42,993 $ 515,916

2.4. Estimated Term Commencement Date: September 1, 2009
2.5. Estimated Term Expiration Date: November 30, 2014
2.6. Security Deposit: $85,986, subject to increase in accordance with the terms hereof
2.7. Permitted Use: General office and laboratory use in conformity with Applicable Laws (as defined below)
2.8. Address for Rent Payment: BMR-3450 Monte Villa Parkway LLC
P.O. Box 511287
Los Angeles, California 90051-7842
2.9. Address for Notices to Landlord: BMR-3450 Monte Villa Parkway LLC
17190 Bernardo Center Drive
San Diego, California 92128
Attn: Vice President, Real Estate Counsel
2.10. Address for Notices to Tenant: The Premises
Attn: David Boyle, C.F.O.
With a copy to Leslie Hudson, C.E.O.
Except prior to Commencement Date at:
AVI BioPharma, Inc.
4575 SW Research Way, Suite 200
Corvallis, Oregon 97333
Attn: David Boyle, C.F.O.
With a copy to Leslie Hudson, C.E.O.
2.11. The following Exhibits are attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference:
Exhibit A-1 Property Legal Description
Exhibit A-2 Premises Space Plan
Exhibit B Work Letter
Exhibit C Acknowledgement of Term Commencement Date and Term Expiration Date
Exhibit D Form of Access & Confidentiality Agreement
Exhibit E Form of Letter of Credit
Exhibit F Rules and Regulations
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Exhibit G Major Competitors
Exhibit H Tenant’s Personal Property
Exhibit I Form of Estoppel Certificate
Exhibit J Form of Consent to Sublease for Entire Premises
Exhibit K Form of Consent to Sublease for Portion of Premises
3. Term.
3.1. The actual term of this Lease shall be approximately sixty-three (63) months (the “Term”), starting on the actual Term Commencement

Date (as defined in Section 4.1) and ending on the dated that is the final day of the month in which the sixty-third (63'¥) monthly anniversary of the Term
Commencement Date occurs (such date, the “Term Expiration Date”), subject to earlier termination of this Lease as provided herein.

3.2

Tenant shall have the one-time option to terminate this Lease (the “Termination Option”) effective on the date (the “Permitted Early
Termination Date”) that is three (3) years after the Term Commencement Date (except for those provisions that expressly survive the expiration or earlier



termination of this Lease) upon at least twelve (12) months’ prior written notice to Landlord (the “Termination Notice”); provided that Tenant pay to Landlord
at the time Tenant delivers to Landlord the Termination Option a termination fee equal to Two Hundred Sixty-Six Thousand Two Hundred Forty-Seven and
02/100 Dollars ($266,247.02), which Landlord and Tenant agree equals the sum of (a) any unamortized TT Allowance, (b) any unamortized broker fees or
commissions and (c) one month of Base Rent at the rate in effect at the time of Tenant’s exercise of the Termination Option (collectively, the “Termination
Fee”). Landlord and Tenant agree that the aforementioned Termination Fee is correctly computed given the parties’ current knowledge, and shall not be
revised in the event that either party later asserts that the Termination Fee was incorrectly calculated or based on knowledge that was incorrect or has

evolved. Unamortized TI Allowance and unamortized broker fees or commissions each shall be calculated on a straight line amortization over the initial term
of sixty (60) months. For the sake of clarity, the Termination Fee shall not be required to be paid in connection with any other early termination right of
Tenant under this Lease.

4. Tenant Improvements.

4.1. The “Term Commencement Date” shall be the earlier of (a) the Estimated Term Commencement Date (subject to extensions for Force
Majeure or Landlord’s Delay (as those terms are defined below)) and (b) the day the Tenant Improvements are Substantially Complete. Tenant shall execute
and deliver to Landlord written acknowledgment of the actual Term Commencement Date and the Term Expiration Date within ten (10) days after Tenant
takes occupancy of the Premises, in the form attached as Exhibit C hereto. Failure to execute and deliver such acknowledgment, however, shall not affect the
Term Commencement Date or Landlord’s or Tenant’s liability hereunder. Failure by Tenant to obtain validation by any medical review board or other similar
governmental licensing of the Premises required for the Permitted Use by Tenant shall not serve to extend the Term Commencement Date. “Force Majeure”
means accident; breakage; repair; strike, lockout or other labor disturbance or labor dispute of any character; act of terrorism; shortage of materials, which
shortage is not unique to Landlord or

Tenant, as the case may be; or governmental regulation, moratorium or other governmental action, inaction or delay. “Landlord’s Delay” means Landlord’s
inability, despite the exercise of reasonable diligence or by any other cause, including Landlord’s negligence, to furnish any utility or service, to (y) respond
within the timeframes required by this Lease (including the Work Letter) to (i) Tenant’s requests for consent or approval in accordance with the Work Letter
or (ii) Advance Requests submitted in accordance with the Work Letter or (z) deliver the Premises to Tenant upon the Execution Date. In addition, if
Landlord fails to deliver possession of the Premises to Tenant by October 1, 2009, for any reason (including Force Majeure), then Tenant shall thereafter have
the right to terminate this Lease (except for those provisions that, by their express terms, survive the expiration or earlier termination hereof) without paying
any Termination Fee; provided that Landlord shall have ten (10) days after receipt from Tenant of notice of such failure to deliver possession of the Premises
to Tenant to so deliver the Premises, and if Landlord so delivers, Tenant shall have no right to terminate the Lease pursuant to this Section.

4.2. Landlord agrees that it shall permit Tenant to enter upon the Premises upon the Execution Date and prior to the Term Commencement Date
for the purpose of installing improvements or the placement of personal property and to use the office portion of the Premises for operating Tenant’s business
therefrom, Tenant shall furnish to Landlord evidence satisfactory to Landlord that insurance coverages required of Tenant under the provisions of Article 24
are in effect, and such entry shall be subject to all the terms and conditions of this Lease (other than the payment of Base Rent (as defined below)). To the
extent that Landlord’s ability to fulfill its obligations under this Lease (including, without limitation, with respect to the provision of utilities and utility
metering pursuant to Article 17) are adversely affected by Tenant’s use or occupancy of the Premises pursuant to this Section, Landlord shall not be deemed
to be in breach of such obligations.

4.3. Tenant shall cause to be constructed the tenant improvements in the Premises (the “Tenant Improvements”) pursuant to the Work Letter
attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Work Letter”) at a cost to Landlord not to exceed (a) Three Hundred Eighty-Two Thousand One Hundred Sixty Dollars
($382,160) (based upon Twenty Dollars ($20) per rentable square foot) (the “TI Allowance”). The TI Allowance may be applied to the costs of
(n) construction (including, without limitation, Tenant’s Signage (as defined below) and the installation of utility meters in accordance with this Lease),

(o) project review by Landlord (for which Tenant shall pay Landlord’s actual, out-of-pocket expenses reasonably incurred in connection with Landlord’s plan
review, coordination, scheduling, oversight and supervision thereof, up to a maximum of three percent (3%) of the cost of the Tenant Improvements,
including the TT Allowance), (p) space planning, architect, engineering and other related services performed by third parties unaffiliated with Tenant,

(q) building permits and other taxes, fees, charges and levies by Governmental Authorities (as defined below) for permits or for inspections of the Tenant
Improvements, and (r) costs and expenses for labor, material, equipment and fixtures. In no event shall the TI Allowance be used for (v) the cost of work that
is not authorized by the Approved Plans (as defined in the Work Letter) or otherwise approved in writing by Landlord, (w) payments to Tenant or any
affiliates of Tenant, (x) the purchase of any furniture, personal property or other non-building system equipment (other than utility meters installed in
accordance with this Lease and any other items specifically mentioned in the Approved Plans (as
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defined below), (y) costs resulting from any default by Tenant of its obligations under this Lease or (z) costs actually recovered by Tenant from a third party
(e.g., insurers, warrantors, or tortfeasors); provided that Tenant shall use commercially reasonable efforts to recover such costs from third parties.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, under no circumstances shall Tenant be required to construct any of the Tenant Improvements, even if part of the Approved
Plans, so long as such failure to construct does not materially adversely affect the Tenant Improvements constructed by Tenant.

4.4, To the extent that the total projected cost of the Tenant Improvements (as projected by Landlord) exceeds the TI Allowance (such excess,
the “Excess TI Costs”), Tenant shall pay pari passu with Landlord any Excess TI Costs. If the actual Excess TI Costs are less than the Excess TI Costs paid
by Tenant pari passu with Landlord, Landlord shall credit Tenant with the overage paid by Tenant against Tenant’s Rent (as defined below) obligations,
beginning after Landlord has completed the final accounting for the Tenant Improvements. In no event shall any unused TI Allowance entitle Tenant to a
credit against Rent payable under this Lease. Tenant shall deliver to Landlord (i) a certificate of occupancy for the Premises suitable for the Permitted Use
and (ii) a Certificate of Substantial Completion in the form of the American Institute of Architects document G704, executed by the project architect and the
general contractor.

4.5. Prior to entering upon the Premises, Tenant shall furnish to Landlord evidence satisfactory to Landlord that insurance coverages required
of Tenant under the provisions of Article 24 are in effect, and such entry shall be subject to all the terms and conditions of this Lease.



4.6. Landlord and Tenant shall mutually agree upon the selection of the architect, engineer, general contractor and major subcontractors, and
Landlord and Tenant shall each participate in the review of the competitive bid process. Landlord agrees that it cannot condition its consent on a requirement
that Tenant use union labor. Landlord further acknowledges that it has preapproved the contractors listed on Attachment 1 to the Work Letter.

4.8 Promptly after the Execution Date, Tenant shall install meters for all water, gas, heat, light, power, telephone, internet service, cable
television, other telecommunications and other utilities supplied to the Premises for use during Tenant’s construction of the Tenant Improvements and until
the Term Commencement Date, and Tenant shall pay all such utility charges, together with any fees, surcharges and taxes thereon. Tenant may use the TI
Allowance for costs properly incurred in connection with the installation of such meters.

5. Condition of Premises. Tenant acknowledges that neither Landlord nor any agent of Landlord has made any representation or warranty with respect
to the condition of the Premises, the Building or the Project, or with respect to the suitability of the Premises, the Building or the Project for the conduct of
Tenant’s business. Tenant acknowledges that (a) it is fully familiar with the condition of the Premises and agrees to take the same in its condition “as is” as of
the Term Commencement Date and (b) except as otherwise agreed in this Lease, Landlord shall have no obligation to alter, repair or otherwise prepare the
Premises for Tenant’s occupancy or to pay for or construct any improvements to the Premises. Tenant’s taking of possession of the
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Premises shall, except as otherwise agreed to in writing by Landlord and Tenant, conclusively establish that the Premises, the Building and the Project were at
such time in good, sanitary and satisfactory condition and repair. Notwithstanding anything in this Article to the contrary, Landlord shall deliver the Premises
to Tenant with Building systems serving the Premises in good, operational condition.

6. Sales Tax.

6.1. Retail sales tax otherwise applicable to portions of construction of the Building and Tenant Improvements and other improvements made
or requested by Tenant may be eligible for deferral pursuant to RCW 82.63 (the “Sales Tax Deferral”) as a result of the uses of the Premises intended by
Tenant. Landlord shall make application with the Washington State Department of Revenue (the “Revenue Department”) for the Sales Tax Deferral with
respect to work to be performed and paid for by Landlord pursuant to this Lease. When the Revenue Department has determined the final amount of the sales
tax that Landlord may defer pursuant to the Sales Tax Deferral program, Landlord shall provide Tenant with written notice of such amount. The Sales Tax
Deferral shall be credited to Tenant through the Base Rent, with Landlord agreeing not to charge against the TI Allowance the amount of the Sales Tax
Deferral.

6.2. Tenant agrees that if a subsequent audit by the Revenue Department determines that (a) because Tenant’s use of the Premises has changed
or (b) for any other reason, any of the sales tax previously deferred pursuant to the Sales Tax Deferral is due and owing to the Revenue Department (except
due to Landlord’s negligent acts or omissions or willful misconduct), Tenant shall pay (including any penalties and interest thereon) directly to the Revenue
Department and provide evidence of such payment to Landlord within ten (10) days following the date Landlord notifies Tenant of any such determination
by the Revenue Department, ; provided that Tenant may conduct a good faith contest of any such determination by the Revenue Department in accordance
with appropriate administrative procedures so long as payment of the amount claimed by the Revenue Department is stayed during the conduct of the
contest. If Tenant desires to dispute the amount claimed by the Revenue Department to be due but payment of such amount is not stayed during the conduct
of the proceedings, Tenant shall pay the amount due but may indicate it is paying such amount under protest.

6.3. Landlord shall reasonably cooperate with and assist Tenant in any challenges or audits to the Sales Tax Deferral benefit, at no cost to
Landlord. Landlord shall promptly notify Tenant of any such action of which Landlord becomes aware, and shall promptly forward any correspondence
regarding any such challenge or audit. Tenant shall have the right to contest or review on its own behalf (but not on Landlord’s behalf) any proceedings
regarding the Sales Tax Deferral benefit that may be instituted, either before, during or after the Term. Landlord shall, on a timely basis, execute all
reasonably necessary instruments in connection with any such protest, appeal or other proceedings, at no cost to Landlord. If any proceeding may only be
instituted and maintained by Landlord, then Landlord shall do so at Tenant’s cost upon the request of Tenant, with counsel engaged by Tenant and reasonably
acceptable to Landlord.

7. Rentable Area.

7.1. The term “Rentable Area” shall reflect such areas as reasonably calculated by Landlord’s architect, as the same may be reasonably adjusted
from time to time by Landlord in consultation with Landlord’s architect to reflect changes to the Premises, Building or Project, as applicable.

7.2. The Rentable Area of the Building is generally determined by making separate calculations of Rentable Area applicable to each floor
within the Building and totaling the Rentable Area of all floors within the Building. The Rentable Area of a floor is computed by measuring to the outside
finished surface of the permanent outer Building walls. The full area calculated as previously set forth is included as Rentable Area, without deduction for
columns and projections or vertical penetrations, including stairs, elevator shafts, flues, pipe shafts, vertical ducts and the like, as well as such items’
enclosing walls.

7.3. The term “Rentable Area,” when applied to the Premises, is that area equal to the usable area of the Premises, plus an equitable allocation
of Rentable Area within the Building that is not then utilized or expected to be utilized as usable area, including, but not limited to, that portion of the
Building devoted to corridors, equipment rooms, mechanical equipment areas, restrooms, elevator lobby, atrium and mailroom.

8. Rent.

8.1. Tenant shall pay to Landlord as Base Rent for the Premises, commencing on the date that is three (3) months after the Term
Commencement Date (the “Rent Commencement Date”), the sums set forth in Section 2.3, subject to the rental adjustments provided in Article 9 hereof.
Base Rent shall be paid in equal monthly installments as set forth in Section 2.3, subject to the rental adjustments provided in Article 9 hereof, each in
advance on the first day of each and every calendar month during the Term.



8.2. In addition to Base Rent, Tenant shall pay to Landlord as additional rent (“Additional Rent”) at times hereinafter specified in this Lease
(a) Tenant’s pro rata share, as set forth in Section 2.2 (“Tenant’s Pro Rata Share”), of Operating Expenses (as defined below) and (b) any other amounts that
Tenant assumes or agrees to pay under the provisions of this Lease that are owed to Landlord, including, without limitation, any and all other sums that may
become due by reason of any default of Tenant or failure on Tenant’s part to comply with the agreements, terms, covenants and conditions of this Lease to be
performed by Tenant, after notice and the lapse of any applicable cure periods.

8.3. Base Rent and Additional Rent shall together be denominated “Rent.” Rent shall be paid to Landlord, without abatement, deduction or
offset, except as otherwise expressly agreed upon in this Lease, in lawful money of the United States of America at the office of Landlord as set forth in
Section 2.8 or to such other person or at such other place as Landlord may from time designate in writing. In the event the Term commences or ends on a day
other than the first day of a calendar month, then the Rent for such fraction of a month shall be prorated for such period
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on the basis of a thirty (30) day month and shall be paid at the then-current rate for such fractional month.

9. Rent Adjustments. Base Rent shall be subject to an annual upward adjustment of three percent (3%) of the then-current Base Rent. The first such
adjustment shall become effective commencing with that monthly rental installment that is due on or after the first (1) annual anniversary of the Term
Commencement Date, and subsequent adjustments shall become effective on every successive annual anniversary for so long as this Lease continues in
effect.

10. Operating Expenses.
10.1. As used herein, the term “Operating Expenses” shall include:
(a) Government impositions including, without limitation, property tax costs consisting of real and personal property taxes and

installments of assessments, including amounts due under any improvement bond upon the Building or the Project, including the parcel or parcels of real
property upon which the Building and areas serving the Building are located or installments of assessments in lieu thereof imposed by any federal, state,
regional, local or municipal governmental authority, agency or subdivision (each, a “Governmental Authority”) are levied; taxes on or measured by gross
rentals received from the rental of space in the Project; taxes based on the square footage of the Premises, the Building or the Project, as well as any taxes on
parking, utilities surcharges or any other costs levied, assessed or imposed by, or at the direction of, or resulting from Applicable Laws (as defined below) or
interpretations thereof, promulgated by any Governmental Authority in connection with the use or occupancy of the Project or the parking facilities serving
the Project; taxes on this transaction or any document to which Tenant is a party creating or transferring an interest in the Premises; any fee for a business
license to operate an office building; and any expenses, including the reasonable cost of attorneys or experts, reasonably incurred by Landlord in seeking
reduction by the taxing authority of the applicable taxes (so long as such contests are reasonable and in good faith), less tax refunds obtained as a result of an
application for review thereof. For any taxes or assessments that may be paid in installments, Landlord agrees that such shall be paid over the longest
permitted number of installments, and Tenant shall only be liable for Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of those installments that were applicable to the Term.
Operating Expenses shall not include any net income, franchise, capital stock, gift, estate or inheritance taxes, or taxes that are the personal obligation of
Tenant or of another tenant of the Project; or federal or state net income tax imposed on Landlord’s income derived from rentals, gross receipts, or otherwise;
or any retroactive assessments to the extent imposed for periods prior to the Term Commencement Date or other taxes, assessments or charges applicable to
any period prior to the Term Commencement Date; and

(b) All other costs of any kind paid or incurred by Landlord in connection with the operation or maintenance of the Building and the
Project including only costs of repairs and replacements to improvements within the Project as appropriate to maintain the Project as required hereunder, but
specifically excluding the costs of funding reasonable reserves therefor; costs of utilities furnished to the Common Areas; sewer fees; cable television; trash
collection; cleaning, including windows; heating; ventilation; air-conditioning; maintenance of landscaping and grounds; maintenance of drives and parking
areas; maintenance of the roof; security services

and devices; building supplies; maintenance or replacement of equipment utilized for operation and maintenance of the Project; license, permit and inspection
fees; sales, use and excise taxes on goods and services purchased by Landlord and used for the operation, maintenance or repair of the Project or Building
systems and equipment; telephone, postage, stationery supplies and other expenses incurred and used for the operation, maintenance or repair of the Project;
accounting, legal and other professional fees and expenses incurred in connection with the Project; costs of furniture, draperies, carpeting, landscaping and
other customary and ordinary items of personal property provided by Landlord for use in Common Areas; capital expenditures made during the Term, the cost
of which shall be amortized over their useful lives in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (but in no event longer than seven (7) years);
Project office rent or rental value and utilities for a commercially reasonable amount of space, to the extent an office used for Project operations is maintained
in the Building; costs of complying with any federal, state, municipal and local laws, codes, ordinances, rules and regulations of Governmental Authorities,
committees, associations, or other regulatory committees, agencies or governing bodies having jurisdiction over the Property, the Project, the Building, the
Premises, Landlord or Tenant, including both statutory and common law and hazard waste rules and regulations (“Applicable Laws”); insurance premiums for
insurance Landlord is required or permitted to maintain under this Lease; portions of insured losses paid by Landlord as part of the deductible portion of a
loss pursuant to the terms of insurance policies carried pursuant to this Lease; service contracts; costs of services of independent contractors retained to do
work of a nature referenced above; and costs of valet or otherwise staffed parking (if such service is approved by Tenant as set forth below); and costs of
compensation (including employment taxes and fringe benefits) of all persons who perform regular and recurring duties connected with the day-to-day
operation and maintenance of the Project, its equipment, the adjacent walks, landscaped areas, drives and parking areas, including, without limitation,
janitors, floor waxers, window washers, watchmen, gardeners, sweepers and handymen, but excluding any employees of Landlord above the level of property
manager. The cost of providing janitorial services to the Premises shall be paid by Tenant directly, not as part of Operating Expenses.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Operating Expenses shall not include any leasing commissions; expenses that relate to preparation of rental space for
a tenant or for services rendered to other tenants but not made available to Tenant; expenses of initial development, design and construction, including, but not
limited to, grading, paving, landscaping and decorating (as distinguished from maintenance, repair and replacement of the foregoing); legal expenses relating
to other tenants; other costs incurred for the account of specific tenants, including, without limitation, such expenses that are separately billed to and paid by
specific tenants (but not as part of Operating Expenses); costs of repairs to the extent reimbursed by payment of insurance proceeds received by Landlord;



ground lease payments; interest upon loans to Landlord or secured by a mortgage or deed of trust covering the Project or a portion thereof (provided that
interest upon a government assessment or improvement bond payable in installments shall constitute an Operating Expense under Section 10.1(a)); salaries of
executive officers of Landlord; depreciation claimed by Landlord for tax purposes (provided that this exclusion of depreciation is not intended to delete from
Operating Expenses actual costs of repairs and replacements in regard thereto that are provided for in Section 10.1(b)); taxes that are excluded from Operating
Expenses by the last sentence of Section 10.1(a); any fine, interest or
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penalties incurred by Landlord (and attorneys’ fees relating thereto) as a result of Landlord’s violation of any Applicable Laws; any cost to comply with
Applicable Laws to the extent Landlord was not in compliance as of the Term Commencement Date; costs incurred due to the breach of this Lease by, or
gross negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord (including any attorneys’ fees related thereto; the cost to remediate, remove or otherwise comply with
Applicable Laws relating to Hazardous Materials (as defined below), to the extent Landlord breached any representations in this Lease related thereto, and to
the extent Hazardous Materials were present upon, in or about the Property prior to the Term Commencement Date (other than by Tenant or its officers,
assignees, subtenants, concessionaires, licensees, invitees, agents, employees or contractors) or were subsequently brought onto the Property by Landlord or
its officers, assignees, concessionaires, licensees, agents, employees or contractors; the cost to restore or repair the Property, Building or the Premises
following a casualty or condemnation to the extent resulting from Landlord’s failure to maintain the type and levels of insurance required under this Lease;
and the cost of specific services and equipment not being provided to and utilized by Tenant (including janitorial services in the Premises, back-up power,
vacuum system and reverse osmosis water). In addition, Operating Expenses expressly exclude all of the following, which the parties agree are incorporated
in the Property Management Fee (as defined below): costs of compensation (including employment taxes and fringe benefits) of any persons employed by
Landlord other than those permitted by the preceding paragraph.

10.2. Tenant shall pay to Landlord on the first day of each calendar month of the Term, as Additional Rent, (a) the Property Management Fee (as
defined below) and (b) Landlord’s estimate of Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of Operating Expenses with respect to the Project for such month. Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary herein, under no circumstances shall Landlord collect as Operating Expenses, in the aggregate from all persons, whether directly or
indirectly (e.g., through a gross lease) more than one hundred percent (100%) of Operating Expenses for the Project.

x) The “Property Management Fee” shall equal three percent (3%) of the Base Rent due from Tenant.

) Within ninety (90) days after the conclusion of each calendar year (or such longer period as may be reasonably required by
Landlord (but in no event longer than one hundred twenty (120) days), Landlord shall furnish to Tenant a statement showing in reasonable detail the actual
Operating Expenses and Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of Operating Expenses for the previous calendar year. Landlord’s annual statement shall also be final and
binding upon Landlord unless Landlord, within nine (9) months after issuance of such statement, issues an amended or corrected statement. The nine
(9) month periods stated in the immediately prior sentences do not apply in cases of actionable fraud or malfeasance, or where a retroactive adjustment is
made or additional tax imposed by a taxing authority. Any additional sum due from Tenant to Landlord shall be due and payable within thirty (30) days after
receipt of an invoice therefor. If the amounts paid by Tenant pursuant to this Section 10.2 exceed Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of Operating Expenses for the
previous calendar year, then Landlord shall credit the difference against the Rent next due and owing from Tenant; provided that, if the Lease term has
expired, Landlord shall accompany said statement with payment for the amount of such difference. Any payments pursuant to this Section 10.2(y) shall be
due no later than thirty (30)
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days after issuance of Landlord’s annual statement, with interest accruing thereafter at a rate (the “Default Rate”) equal to the least of (a) the prime rate plus
five percent (5%), as reported by the Bank of America or its successor, (b) the judgment rate for Washington State and (c) the highest rate permitted by
Applicable Laws, if any.

(z) Any amount due under this Section 10.2 for any period that is less than a full month shall be prorated (based on a thirty (30)-day
month) for such fractional month.

10.3. Landlord’s annual statement shall be final and binding upon Tenant unless Tenant, within one hundred twenty (120) days after Tenant’s
receipt thereof, shall contest any item therein by giving written notice to Landlord, specifying each item contested and the reasons therefor. If, during such
one hundred twenty (120) day period, Tenant reasonably and in good faith questions or contests the correctness of Landlord’s statement of Tenant’s Pro Rata
Share of Operating Expenses, Landlord shall provide Tenant with reasonable access to Landlord’s books and records to the extent relevant to determination of
Operating Expenses, and such information as Landlord reasonably determines to be responsive to Tenant’s written inquiries. In the event that, after Tenant’s
review of such information, Landlord and Tenant cannot agree upon the amount of Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of Operating Expenses, then Tenant shall have the
right to have an independent public accounting firm hired by Tenant (the “Independent Accountant”) on an hourly basis and not on a contingent-fee basis (at
Tenant’s sole cost and expense, but subject to reimbursement pursuant to this paragraph) and approved by Landlord (which approval Landlord shall not
unreasonably withhold or delay) audit and review such of Landlord’s books and records for the year in question as directly relate to the determination of
Operating Expenses for such year (the “Independent Review”). Landlord shall make such books and records available at the location where Landlord
maintains them in the ordinary course of its business, although Landlord shall send electronic copies to Tenant upon receipt of written request therefor from
Tenant. Landlord need not provide copies of any books or records, but shall permit Tenant or the Independent Accountant to make copies at Tenant’s
expense. Tenant shall commence the Independent Review within thirty (30) days after the date Landlord has given Tenant access to Landlord’s books and
records for the Independent Review. Tenant shall complete the Independent Review and notify Landlord in writing of Tenant’s specific objections to
Landlord’s calculation of Operating Expenses (including Tenant’s accounting firm’s written statement of the basis, nature and amount of each proposed
adjustment) prior to the expiration of the one hundred twenty (120) day review period stated herein. Landlord shall review the results of any such
Independent Review. The parties shall endeavor to agree promptly and reasonably upon Operating Expenses taking into account the results of such
Independent Review. If, as of sixty (60) days after Tenant has submitted the Independent Review to Landlord, the parties have not agreed on the appropriate
adjustments to Operating Expenses, then the parties shall engage a mutually agreeable independent third party accountant with at least ten (10) years’
experience in commercial real estate accounting in the Bothell, Washington area (the “Accountant”). If the parties cannot agree on the Accountant, each shall
within ten (10) days after such impasse appoint an Accountant (different from the accountant and accounting firm that conducted the Independent Review)
and, within ten (10) days after the appointment of both such Accountants, those two Accountants shall select a third (which cannot be the accountant and
accounting firm that conducted the Independent Review). If either party fails to timely appoint an Accountant, then the Accountant the other party appoints
shall be the sole Accountant. Within ten (10) days after appointment of the Accountant(s), Landlord and Tenant shall each simultaneously give the



Accountants (with a copy to the other party) its determination of Operating Expenses, with such supporting data or information as each submitting party
determines appropriate. Within ten (10) days
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after such submissions, the Accountants shall by majority vote select either Landlord’s or Tenant’s determination of Operating Expenses. The Accountants
may not select or designate any other determination of Operating Expenses. The determination of the Accountant(s) shall bind the parties. If the parties agree
or the Accountant(s) determine that Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of Operating Expenses actually paid for the calendar year in question exceeded Tenant’s
obligations for such calendar year, then Landlord shall, at Tenant’s option, either (a) credit the excess to the next succeeding installments of estimated
Additional Rent or (b) pay the excess to Tenant within thirty (30) days after delivery of such results. If the parties agree or the Accountant(s) determine that
Tenant’s payments of Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of Operating Expenses for such calendar year were less than Tenant’s obligation for the calendar year, then
Tenant shall pay the deficiency to Landlord within thirty (30) days after delivery of such results. If the parties agree or the Accountant(s) determine that
Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of Operating Expenses actually paid for the calendar year in question exceeded Tenant’s obligations for such calendar year by five
percent (5%) or more, then Landlord shall pay the cost of the Accountant and the cost for the Independent Review; otherwise, Tenant shall pay the cost of the
Accountant(s) and the Independent Review. Landlord shall pay the cost of any accountant or other professional (other than an Accountant) appointed solely
by Landlord (for instance, to select the Accountant(s) following an impasse with Tenant or to review and/or challenge the Independent Review).

10.4. Tenant shall not be responsible for Operating Expenses attributable to the time period prior to the Term Commencement Date; provided,
however, that if Landlord shall permit Tenant possession of the Premises prior to the Term Commencement Date, Tenant shall be responsible for Operating
Expenses from such earlier date of possession. Tenant’s responsibility for Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of Operating Expenses shall continue to the latest of
(a) the date of termination of the Lease, (b) the date Tenant has fully vacated the Premises or (c) if termination of the Lease is due to a default by Tenant, the
earliest of (i) the date of rental commencement of a replacement tenant, (ii) the applicable termination date if Tenant pays the Termination Fee and (iii) the
date that would have been the Term Expiration Date absent a Default.

10.5. Operating Expenses for the calendar year in which Tenant’s obligation to share therein commences and for the calendar year in which such
obligation ceases shall be prorated based on the number of days when Tenant is responsible for Operating Expenses pursuant to this Lease. Expenses such as
taxes, assessments and insurance premiums that are incurred for an extended time period shall be prorated based upon the time periods to which they apply so
that the amounts attributed to the Premises relate to the time period wherein Tenant has an obligation to share in Operating Expenses.

10.6. Where Tenant has incurred an expense that it believes is Landlord’s duty to pay pursuant to this Lease, Tenant shall submit to Landlord an
invoice or, in the event an invoice is not available, an itemized list, of all costs and expenses that (a) Tenant has incurred (either internally or by employing
third parties) during the prior month and (b) for which Tenant reasonably believes it is entitled to reimbursements from Landlord pursuant to the terms of this
Lease
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or that Tenant reasonably believes is the responsibility of Landlord pursuant to this Lease or the Work Letter. Any payment due from Landlord to Tenant
must be paid within thirty (30) days after such submission, with interest accruing thereafter at the Default Rate.

11. Taxes on Tenant’s Property.

11.1. Tenant shall pay prior to delinquency any and all taxes levied against any personal property or trade fixtures placed by Tenant in or about
the Premises, but only to the extent Tenant is not required to surrender such personal property and trade fixtures to Landlord upon the expiration or earlier
termination of the Term.

11.2. If any such taxes on Tenant’s personal property or trade fixtures are levied against Landlord or Landlord’s property or, if the assessed
valuation of the Building or the Property is increased by inclusion therein of a value attributable to Tenant’s personal property or trade fixtures that constitute
Tenant’s property under this Lease and that Tenant has the right to remove upon the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, and if Landlord, after
written notice to Tenant, pays the taxes based upon any such increase in the assessed valued of the Building or the Project, then Tenant shall, within thirty (30)
days after demand therefor, repay to Landlord the taxes so paid by Landlord.

12. Security Deposit.

12.1. Tenant shall deposit with Landlord on or before the Execution Date the sum set forth in Section 2.6 (the “Security Deposit”), which sum
shall be held by Landlord as security for the faithful performance by Tenant of all of the terms, covenants and conditions of this Lease to be kept and
performed by Tenant during the period commencing on the Execution Date and ending upon the expiration or termination of this Lease. If Tenant defaults
with respect to any provision of this Lease, including, but not limited to, any provision relating to the payment of Rent, then Landlord may (but shall not be
required to) use, apply or retain all or any part of the Security Deposit for the payment of any Rent or any other sum in default, or to compensate Landlord for
any other loss or damage that Landlord may suffer by reason of Tenant’s default. If any portion of the Security Deposit is so used or applied, then Tenant
shall, within ten (10) days following demand therefor, deposit cash with Landlord in an amount sufficient to restore the Security Deposit to its original
amount, and Tenant’s failure to do so shall be a material breach of this Lease. The provisions of this Article 12 shall survive the expiration or earlier
termination of this Lease.

12.2. In the event of bankruptcy or other debtor-creditor proceedings against Tenant, the Security Deposit shall be deemed to be applied first to
the payment of Rent and other charges due Landlord for all periods prior to the filing of such proceedings.

12.3. Landlord may deliver to any purchaser of Landlord’s interest in the Premises the funds deposited hereunder by Tenant, and thereupon
Landlord shall be discharged from any further liability with respect to such deposit. This provision shall also apply to any subsequent transfers.
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12.4. If Tenant shall fully and faithfully perform every provision of this Lease to be performed by it, then the Security Deposit, or any balance
thereof, shall be returned to Tenant (or, at Landlord’s option, to the last assignee of Tenant’s interest hereunder) within thirty (30) days after the expiration or
earlier termination of this Lease.

12.5. [Intentionally omitted]

12.6. If the Security Deposit shall be in cash, Landlord shall hold the Security Deposit in an account at a banking organization selected by
Landlord; provided, however, that Landlord shall not be required to maintain a separate account for the Security Deposit, but may intermingle it with other
funds of Landlord. Landlord shall be entitled to all interest and/or dividends, if any, accruing on the Security Deposit. Landlord shall not be required to credit
Tenant with any interest for any period during which Landlord does not receive interest on the Security Deposit.

12.7. The Security Deposit may be in the form of cash, a letter of credit or any other security instrument acceptable to Landlord in its sole
discretion. Tenant may at any time, except during Default (as defined below), deliver a letter of credit (the “L/C Security”) as the entire Security Deposit, as
follows.

(@ If Tenant elects to deliver L/C Security, then Tenant shall provide Landlord, and maintain in full force and effect throughout the
Term and until the date that is sixty (60) days after the then current Term Expiration Date, a letter of credit in the form of Exhibit E issued by an issuer
reasonably satisfactory to Landlord, in the amount of the Security Deposit, with an initial term of at least one year. Landlord may require the L/C Security to
be re-issued by a different issuer at any time during the Term if Landlord reasonably believes that the issuing bank of the L/C Security is or may soon become
insolvent; provided, however, Landlord shall return the existing L/C Security to the existing issuer immediately upon receipt of the substitute L/C Security. If
any issuer of the L/C Security shall become insolvent, then Tenant shall immediately deliver to Landlord (without the requirement of notice from Landlord)
substitute L/C Security issued by an issuer reasonably satisfactory to Landlord, and otherwise conforming to the requirements set forth in this Article 12. As
used herein with respect to the issuer of the L/C Security, “insolvent” shall mean the determination of insolvency as made by such issuer’s primary bank
regulator (i.e., the state bank supervisor for state chartered banks; the OCC or OTS, respectively, for federally chartered banks or thrifts; or the Federal
Reserve for its member banks). If, at the Term Expiration Date, any Rent remains uncalculated or unpaid, then: (i) Landlord shall with reasonable diligence
complete any necessary calculations; (ii) Tenant shall extend the expiry date of such L/C Security from time to time as Landlord reasonably requires; and
(iii) in such extended period, Landlord shall not unreasonably refuse to consent to an appropriate reduction of the L/C Security. Tenant shall reimburse
Landlord’s legal costs (as estimated by Landlord’s counsel) in handling Landlord’s acceptance of L/C Security or its replacement or extension.

(b) If Tenant delivers to Landlord satisfactory L/C Security in place of the entire Security Deposit, Landlord shall remit to Tenant any
cash Security Deposit Landlord previously held.
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() Landlord may draw upon the L/C Security, and hold and apply the proceeds in the same manner and for the same purposes as the
Security Deposit, if: (i) an uncured Default (as defined below) exists; (ii) as of the date forty-five (45) days before any L./C Security expires (even if such
scheduled expiry date is after the Term Expiration Date) Tenant has not delivered to Landlord an amendment or replacement for such L/C Security,
reasonably satisfactory to Landlord, extending the expiry date to the earlier of (1) six (6) months after the then-current Term Expiration Date or (2) the date
one year after the then-current expiry date of the L/C Security; (iii) the L/C Security provides for automatic renewals, Landlord asks the issuer to confirm the
current L/C Security expiry date, and the issuer fails to do so within ten (10) business days; (iv) Tenant fails to pay (when and as Landlord reasonably
requires) any bank charges for Landlord’s transfer of the L/C Security; or (v) the issuer of the L/C Security ceases, or announces that it will cease, to maintain
an office in the city where Landlord may present drafts under the L/C Security. This paragraph does not limit any other provisions of this Lease allowing
Landlord to draw the L/C Security under specified circumstances.

(d) Tenant shall not seek to enjoin, prevent, or otherwise interfere with Landlord’s draw under L/C Security, even if it violates this
Lease. Tenant acknowledges that the only effect of a wrongful draw would be to substitute a cash Security Deposit for L/C Security, causing Tenant no
legally recognizable damage. Landlord shall hold the proceeds of any draw in the same manner and for the same purposes as a cash Security Deposit. In the
event of a wrongful draw, the parties shall cooperate to allow Tenant to post replacement L/C Security simultaneously with the return to Tenant of the
wrongfully drawn sums, and Landlord shall upon request confirm in writing to the issuer of the L/C Security that Landlord’s draw was erroneous.

(e) If Landlord transfers its interest in the Premises, then Tenant shall at Tenant’s expense, within five (5) business days after
receiving a request from Landlord, deliver (and, if the issuer requires, Landlord shall consent to) an amendment to the L/C Security naming Landlord’s
grantee as substitute beneficiary. If the required Security changes while L/C Security is in force, then Tenant shall deliver (and, if the issuer requires,
Landlord shall consent to) a corresponding amendment to the L/C Security.

13. Use.

13.1. Tenant shall use the Premises for the purpose identified as the Permitted Use in Section 2.7, and shall not use the Premises, or permit or
suffer the Premises to be used, for any other purpose without Landlord’s prior written consent, which consent Landlord may withhold in its sole and absolute
discretion.

13.2. Tenant shall not use or occupy the Premises in violation of Applicable Laws; zoning ordinances; or the certificate of occupancy issued for
the Building, and shall, upon five (5) days’ written notice from Landlord, discontinue any use of the Premises that is declared or claimed by any
Governmental Authority having jurisdiction to be a violation of any of the above, or that in Landlord’s reasonable opinion violates any of the above.

Landlord shall not, however, have the right to require Tenant to discontinue the use of the Premises for the Permitted Use, unless required to do so by
Applicable Laws. If Landlord requires Tenant to discontinue the use of the Premises due to a change in Applicable Laws after the Effective Date, then Tenant
shall
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have the right, in its sole and absolute discretion, to (a) change the Permitted Use to one that is permitted by Applicable Laws, subject to Landlord’s
reasonable consent, or (b) terminate this Lease and all unaccrued obligations hereunder (except those that specifically survive the expiration or earlier
termination of this Lease), without the requirement that Tenant pay a Termination Fee. Tenant shall comply with any direction of any Governmental
Authority having jurisdiction that shall, by reason of the nature of Tenant’s use or occupancy of the Premises, impose any duty upon Tenant or Landlord with
respect to the Premises or with respect to the use or occupation thereof.

13.3. Landlord will not voluntarily cause the zoning of the Building to be changed to a designation that would prevent Tenant from conducting
the Permitted Use in the Premises without first obtaining a conditional use permit or other approval allowing the continued use of the Premises for the
Permitted Use.

13.4. Tenant shall not do or permit to be done anything that will invalidate or increase the cost of any fire, environmental, extended coverage or
any other insurance policy covering the Building and the Project, and shall comply with all rules, orders, regulations and requirements of the insurers of the
Building and the Project, and Tenant shall promptly, upon demand, reimburse Landlord for any additional premium charged for such policy by reason of
Tenant’s failure to comply with the provisions of this Article 13. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord agrees that, to its actual knowledge as of the
Execution Date and without inquiry, the Permitted Use will not implicate this Section or result in an increased charge to Tenant pursuant to this Section.

13.5. Tenant shall keep all doors opening onto public corridors closed, except when in use for ingress and egress.

13.6. No additional locks or bolts of any kind shall be placed upon any of the doors or windows by Tenant, nor shall any changes be made to
existing locks or the mechanisms thereof without Landlord’s prior written consent. Tenant shall, upon termination of this Lease, return to Landlord all keys to
offices and restrooms either furnished to or otherwise procured by Tenant. In the event any key so furnished to Tenant is lost, Tenant shall pay to Landlord
the cost of replacing the same or of changing the lock or locks opened by such lost key if Landlord shall deem it necessary to make such change.

13.7. Except with regard to the Tenant Improvements, (a) no awnings or other projections shall be attached to any outside wall of the Building,
(b) no curtains, blinds, shades or screens shall be attached to or hung in, or used in connection with, any window or door of the Premises other than
Landlord’s standard window coverings, (c) neither the interior nor exterior of any windows shall be coated or otherwise sunscreened without Landlord’s prior
written consent, which consent Landlord shall not unreasonably withhold, condition or delay if such coating or sunscreening is reasonably necessary for
Tenant’s use of the Premises for the Permitted Use, and (d) no bottles, parcels or other articles shall be placed on the windowsills.

13.8. No sign, advertisement or notice (“Signage”) shall be exhibited, painted or affixed by Tenant on any part of the Premises or the Building
without Landlord’s prior written consent; provided that Landlord acknowledges that it has approved all Signage included in the Approved
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Plans. Interior signs on doors and the directory tablet shall be inscribed, painted or affixed for Tenant by Landlord at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, and shall
be of a size, color and type and be located in a place acceptable to Landlord. The directory tablet shall be provided exclusively for the display of the name
and location of tenants only. Tenant shall not place anything on the exterior of the corridor walls or corridor doors other than Landlord’s standard lettering.
Tenant shall have Signage rights in the monument sign and Landlord acknowledges and agrees that (a) Landlord, at its sole expense, which shall not be
included in Operating Expenses or otherwise charged to Tenant, shall construct a monument sign at the main entrance to the Property and (b) Tenant shall
have the right to Tenant’s Pro-Rata Share of signage on the monument sign and to all other Signage within the Project, including any available exterior
Building and directory Signage. At Landlord’s option, Landlord may install any such Signage, and Tenant shall pay all costs associated with such installation
within thirty (30) days after demand therefor. Tenant, at its option, may include costs incurred in connection with the Signage described in this Section as
costs covered by the TI Allowance.

13.9. Tenant shall only place equipment within the Premises with floor loading consistent with the structural design of the Building without
Landlord’s prior written approval, and such equipment shall be placed in a location designed to carry the weight of such equipment.

13.10.  Tenant shall cause any office equipment or machinery to be installed in the Premises so as to reasonably prevent sounds or vibrations
therefrom from extending into the Common Areas or other offices in the Building.

13.11.  Tenant shall not (a) do or permit anything to be done in or about the Premises that shall in any way obstruct or interfere with the rights of
other tenants or occupants of the Building or the Project, or injure them, (b) use or allow the Premises to be used for unlawful purposes, (c) cause, maintain or
permit any nuisance or waste in, on or about the Premises, the Building or the Project or (d) take any other action that would in Landlord’s reasonable
determination in any manner adversely affect other tenants’ quiet use and enjoyment of their space or adversely impact their ability to conduct business in a
professional and suitable work environment.

13.12.  Notwithstanding any other provision herein to the contrary, Tenant shall be responsible for all liabilities, costs and expenses arising out of
or in connection with the compliance of the Premises with the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq. (together with regulations
promulgated pursuant thereto, the “ADA”), and Tenant shall indemnify, save, defend and hold Landlord harmless from and against any loss, cost, liability or
expense (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and disbursements) relating to such failure of the Premises to comply with the ADA. The provisions of this
Section 13.11 shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease.

14. Rules and Regulations, CC&Rs, Parking Facilities and Common Areas.

14.1. Tenant shall have the non-exclusive right, in common with others, to use the Common Areas, subject to the rules and regulations adopted
by Landlord and attached hereto as Exhibit F, together with such other reasonable and nondiscriminatory rules and regulations as are hereafter promulgated
by Landlord in its reasonable discretion (the “Rules and Regulations™);
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provided that if there is a conflict between a term in this Lease and the Rules and Regulations (whether those attached as Exhibit F or those subsequently
promulgated), then this Lease shall control and Tenant shall not be required to comply with such conflicting rule or regulation. Tenant shall faithfully observe
and comply with the Rules and Regulations. Landlord shall not be responsible to Tenant for the violation or non-performance by any other tenant or any
agent, employee or invitee thereof of any of the Rules and Regulations; provided that Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to consistently and
uniformly enforce the Rules and Regulations.

14.2. This Lease is not currently subject to (a) any recorded covenants, conditions or restrictions on the Project or Property, to the extent copies
thereof were provided to Tenant prior to Tenant’s execution of this Lease, and (b) any additions or amendments thereto of which Landlord provides a copy to
Tenant and that (i) are required by Applicable Laws or (ii) do not materially adversely affect Tenant’s rights or obligations under this Lease and (collectively,
the “CC&Rs”). Tenant shall comply with the CC&Rs.

14.3. Tenant shall have a non-exclusive, irrevocable license to use Tenant’s Parking Share (as defined below) of parking facilities serving the
Building in common on an unreserved basis with other tenants of the Building and the Project during the Term, twenty-four (24) hours per day on each day of
the Term, condemnation and casualty excepted. So long as Tenant’s Parking Share of the parking facilities is not reduced, Tenant acknowledges that Landlord
reserves the right to license the parking facilities (and common areas) to third parties during non-business hours.

14.4. “Tenant’s Parking Share” of parking facilities during the Term shall equal approximately two and four tenths spaces (2.4) per one thousand
(1,000) rentable square feet.

14.5. Tenant agrees to cooperate with Landlord and other tenants in the use of the parking facilities. Landlord reserves the right to determine
that parking facilities are becoming overcrowded and to limit Tenant’s use thereof. Upon such determination, Landlord may reasonably allocate parking
spaces among Tenant and other tenants of the Building or the Project. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall such reallocation reduce Tenant’s
Parking Share below the amount stated in Section 14.4. Nothing in this Section, however, is intended to create an affirmative duty on Landlord’s part to
monitor parking; provided that (a) Landlord shall not lease more parking spaces in aggregate than are available at the Project and (b) Landlord shall diligently
respond to notifications from Tenant that Tenant is not able to use Tenant’s Parking Share by contacting those parties that are interfering with such use.

14.6. Landlord reserves the right to modify the Common Areas, including the right to add or remove exterior and interior landscaping and to
subdivide real property; provided such subdivision shall not relieve Landlord of any of its obligations hereunder (including, specifically, the obligation to
provide Tenant with Tenant’s Parking Share). Tenant acknowledges that Landlord specifically reserves the right to allow the exclusive use of corridors and
restroom facilities located on specific floors to one or more tenants occupying such floors; provided, however, that Tenant shall not be deprived of the use of
the corridors reasonably required to serve the Premises or of restroom facilities serving the floor upon which the Premises are located. Landlord confirms that
restroom facilities located within the Premises shall not
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constitute Common Areas and that other tenants occupying the Project or the Property shall not have access rights thereto.
15. Project Control by Landlord.

15.1. Landlord reserves full control over the Building and the Project to the extent not inconsistent with Tenant’s quiet enjoyment of the
Premises as provided by this Lease and its rights granted hereunder, and not inconsistent with Landlord’s performance of all of its obligations under this
Lease. This reservation includes, without limitation, Landlord’s right to subdivide the Project, convert the Building to condominium units, grant easements
and licenses to third parties (other than to the Premises), and maintain or establish ownership of the Building separate from fee title to the Property.

15.2. Possession of areas of the Premises necessary for utilities, services, safety and operation of the Building is reserved to Landlord.

15.3. Tenant shall, at Landlord’s request, promptly execute such further documents as may be reasonably appropriate to assist Landlord in the
performance of its obligations hereunder; provided that Tenant need not execute any document that creates additional liability for Tenant or that deprives
Tenant of the quiet enjoyment and use of the Premises for the Permitted Use or otherwise adversely modifies any of Tenant’s rights or obligations as agreed
upon in this Lease.

15.4. Subject to its adherence with the procedure set forth in this Section 15.4, Landlord may enter the Premises to (a) inspect the same and to
determine whether Tenant is in compliance with its obligations hereunder, (b) supply any service Landlord is required to provide hereunder, (c) show the
Premises to prospective purchasers or tenants during the final year of the Term, (d) post notices of nonresponsibility, (e) access the roof, telephone equipment,
electrical substation and fire risers and (f) alter, improve or repair any portion of the Building other than the Premises for which access to the Premises is
reasonably necessary. At least two (2) business days prior to entering the Premises, Landlord shall (x) give Tenant oral or written notice of the times and
dates it wishes to do so, (y) make arrangements with Tenant to have a representative of Landlord be accompanied by a representative of Tenant (the “Tenant
Representative”) (provided that Tenant shall make such representative reasonably available) and (z) cause each person accessing the Premises at the request
of Landlord (other than Landlord or its employees, Tenant any Tenant Representative, or any Governmental Authority or agent thereof) to sign an Access &
Confidentiality Agreement in the form of Exhibit D attached hereto (a “Confidentiality Agreement”) or such other form reasonably acceptable to Landlord
and Tenant. The advance notice agreed upon shall not apply in the event of emergencies (i.e., situations posing an imminent threat of bodily harm or
substantial property damage); provided that Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to notify Tenant of Landlord’s entry as soon as reasonably
practicable (either before or after such entry). All access by Landlord into the Premises shall be in accordance with Applicable Laws and this Lease.
Landlord further agrees that Tenant may in every event and without exception deny access to any employee of a major competitor identified on Exhibit G
attached hereto for so long as the Tenant occupies the Premises; provided that Tenant may not otherwise deny access to any person employed by a vendor that
Landlord engages to perform Landlord’s maintenance and other obligations under this Lease and that signs
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a Confidentiality Agreement. Tenant agrees that Landlord shall have no liability for any breach of a Confidentiality Agreement by anyone other than
Landlord. In connection with any such alteration, improvement or repair as described in Subsection 15.4(f), Landlord may erect in the Premises or elsewhere
in the Project scaffolding and other structures reasonably required for the alteration, improvement or repair work to be performed. In no event shall Tenant’s



Rent abate as a result of Landlord’s activities pursuant to this Section 15.4; provided, however, that all such activities shall be conducted in such a manner so
as to cause as little interference to Tenant as is reasonably possible. Landlord shall at all times retain a key with which to unlock all of the doors in the
Premises. If an emergency necessitates immediate access to the Premises, Landlord may use whatever force is necessary to enter the Premises, and any such
entry to the Premises shall not constitute a forcible or unlawful entry to the Premises, a detainer of the Premises, or an eviction of Tenant from the Premises or
any portion thereof; provided that Landlord shall be liable for its gross negligence or willful misconduct in connection with such entry or failure to secure the
Premises in connection with such entry; and provided further, that, notwithstanding the foregoing proviso, Landlord shall not be liable for the acts or
omissions of any emergency personnel not employed by Landlord.

16. Quiet Enjoyment. So long as Tenant is not in default under this Lease, Landlord covenants that Tenant shall have quiet occupation and enjoyment of
the Premises free from anyone acting through or under Landlord, except as permitted by this Lease.

17. Utilities and Services.

17.1. Landlord shall install submeters (and deduct the costs thereof from the TT Allowance) for all heat, ventilation and air conditioning; light;
and power supplied to the Premises after the Term Commencement Date, and Tenant shall pay all charges for such utilities based on Tenant’s consumption of
such utilities, together with any fees, surcharges and taxes thereon. Tenant shall arrange and pay for (the costs of which may be paid from the TT Allowance)
installation of equipment necessary for all telephone, internet service, cable television and other telecommunications supplied to the Premises, and Tenant
shall pay all such related charges, together with any fees, surcharges and taxes thereon. If any utility is not separately metered to Tenant, Tenant shall pay
Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of all charges of such utility jointly metered with other premises or the Building as part of Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of Operating
Expenses.

17.2. Landlord shall not be liable for, nor shall any eviction of Tenant result from, the failure to furnish any utility or service, whether or not
such failure is caused by Force Majeure, except to the extent resulting from Landlord’s gross negligence or willful misconduct. In the event of such failure,
Tenant shall not be entitled to termination of this Lease or any abatement or reduction of Rent, nor shall Tenant be relieved from the operation of any
covenant or agreement of this Lease (except in each case unless such failure continues for more than twenty-four (24) hours, in which case Tenant shall be
entitled to abatement of Base Rent and Operating Expenses (to the extent such failure resulted from Landlord’s gross negligence or willful misconduct) for
the period starting on the date such failure occurs until the applicable utility or service is restored).
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17.3. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 17.2, Landlord shall provide back-up power to the Project from the current one
hundred twenty-five (125) kilowatt generator that shall be used in common with other tenants and occupants of the Project. Landlord shall service and
maintain such generator in a commercially reasonable manner and, notwithstanding anything in this Lease to the contrary (including, without limitation,
Article 10 hereof) the ongoing service, maintenance and capital repair and replacement expenses related to supplying back-up power to the Premises shall be
in included in Operating Expenses. If there is a power interruption and the back-up power fails for more than four (4) hours after Landlord’s receipt of email
notice from Tenant in connection with the same, then Tenant shall have the right, but not the obligation, to procure back-up power from other means, and
Landlord shall reimburse Tenant for its reasonable, actual, out-of-pocket costs incurred in connection therewith, within thirty (30) days after receipt of
Tenant’s written request and reasonable documentation relating thereto. Tenant shall pay for, prior to delinquency of payment therefor, any utilities and
services that may be furnished to the Premises during or, if Tenant occupies the Premises after the expiration or earlier termination of the Term, after the
Term.

17.4. Tenant shall not, without Landlord’s prior written consent, use any device in the Premises (including, without limitation, data processing
machines) that will in any way (a) increase the amount of ventilation, air exchange, gas, steam, electricity or water beyond the existing capacity of the
Building as proportionately allocated to the Premises based upon Tenant’s Pro Rata Share as usually furnished or supplied for the use set forth in Section 2.7
or (b) exceed Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of the Building’s capacity to provide such utilities or services. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord agrees that any
configuration included in the Approved Plans shall not violate this Section 17.4, although Landlord reserves its right to reasonably consent to any
modifications thereto or any subsequent alterations Tenant desires to make to the HVAC (defined below) exclusively serving the Premises.

17.5. Landlord shall demise the existing laboratory gas piping and cap the same for use by Tenant, should Tenant elect to install a laboratory gas
system for the Premises. Landlord shall provide compressed air to the Premises, for which Tenant shall pay Tenant’s Pro Rata Share.

17.6. Utilities and services provided by Landlord to the Premises that are separately metered shall be paid by Tenant directly to the supplier of
such utility or service.

17.7. Landlord shall provide water to the Premises for lavatory purposes and for laboratory use. Landlord shall demise the existing reverse
osmosis and de-ionized water piping and cap the same for use by Tenant, should Tenant elect to install a reverse osmosis and de-ionized water system for the
Premises. Tenant agrees to pay for water consumed for reverse osmosis and de-ionized water purposes as shown on said meter, as and when bills are
rendered; provided that Tenant shall pay Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of water for other purposes. If Tenant fails to timely make such payments, Landlord may
pay such charges and collect the same from Tenant. Any such costs or expenses incurred, or payments made by Landlord for any of the reasons or purposes
hereinabove stated, shall be deemed to be Additional Rent payment by Tenant and collectible by Landlord as such.
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17.8. Landlord reserves the right to stop service of the elevator, plumbing, ventilation, air conditioning and electric systems, when Landlord
deems necessary or desirable, due to accident, emergency or the need to make repairs, alterations or improvements, until such repairs, alterations or
improvements shall have been completed, and Landlord shall further have no responsibility or liability for failure to supply elevator facilities, plumbing,
ventilation, air conditioning or electric service when prevented from doing so by Force Majeure or a failure by a third party to deliver gas, oil or another
suitable fuel supply, or Landlord’s inability by exercise of reasonable diligence to obtain gas, oil or another suitable fuel. Without limiting the foregoing, it is
expressly understood and agreed that any covenants on Landlord’s part to furnish any service pursuant to any of the terms, covenants, conditions, provisions
or agreements of this Lease, or to perform any act or thing for the benefit of Tenant, shall not be deemed breached if Landlord is unable to furnish or perform
the same by virtue of Force Majeure. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that the Permitted Use
does not violate Applicable Laws solely due to Landlord’s temporary cessation of such services.



17.9. For the Premises, Landlord shall (a) maintain and operate the heating, ventilating and air conditioning systems used for the Permitted Use
only (“HVAC”) and (b) subject to clause (a) above, furnish HVAC as reasonably required (except as this Lease otherwise provides) for reasonably
comfortable occupancy of the Premises twenty-four (24) hours a day, 365 or 366 days a year. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this paragraph,
Landlord shall have no liability, and Tenant shall have no right or remedy, on account of any interruption or impairment in HVAC services, except to the
extent resulting from Landlord’s gross negligence or willful misconduct; provided that Landlord diligently endeavors to cure any such interruption or
impairment.

17.10.  This Article 17 relates to interruptions in services and utilities arising in the ordinary course of operation of the Building and the Project
and any related facilities. In the event of fire, earthquake, flood, vandalism, war, terrorism, natural disaster or similar cause of damage or destruction,
Article 25 shall apply in lieu of this Article 17.

18. Alterations.

18.1. Tenant shall make no alterations, additions or improvements in or to the Premises or engage in any construction, demolition,
reconstruction, renovation, or other work (whether major or minor) of any kind in, at, or serving the Premises (“Alterations”) without Landlord’s prior written
approval, which approval Landlord shall not unreasonably withhold; provided, however, that in the event any proposed Alteration affects (a) any structural
portions of the Building, including exterior walls, roof, foundation or core of the Building, (b) the exterior of the Building or (c) any Building systems,
including elevator, plumbing, air conditioning, heating, electrical, security, life safety and power, then Landlord may withhold its approval with respect
thereto in its sole and absolute discretion. Tenant shall, in making any such Alterations, use only those architects, contractors, suppliers and mechanics of
which Landlord has given prior written approval, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. In seeking Landlord’s
approval, Tenant shall provide Landlord, at least fourteen (14) days in advance of any proposed construction, with plans, specifications, bid proposals,
certified stamped engineering drawings and calculations by Tenant’s engineer of record or architect or record (only with respect
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to Alterations that involve connections to the Building structural system, modifications to the Building envelope, non-structural penetrations in slabs or walls,
and modifications or tie-ins to life safety systems), work contracts, requests for laydown areas and such other information concerning the nature and cost of
the Alterations as Landlord may reasonably request. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall not be required to seek Landlord’s prior consent to cosmetic
Alterations in the Premises that cost less than Fifty Thousand Dollars ($50,000) in any one instance (each, a “Minor Alteration); provided, however, that in
the event any proposed Alteration adversely affects (x) any structural portions of the Building, including exterior walls, roof, foundation or core of the
Building, (y) the exterior of the Building or (z) any Building systems, including elevator, plumbing, air conditioning, heating, electrical, security, life safety
and power, then Tenant must obtain Landlord’s approval, and Landlord may withhold such approval in its sole and absolute discretion.

18.2. Unless as part of Alterations consented to by Landlord, Tenant shall not construct or permit to be constructed partitions or other
obstructions that might unreasonably interfere with free access to mechanical installation or service facilities of the Building, or unreasonably with other
tenants’ components located within the Building, or interfere with the moving of Landlord’s equipment to or from the enclosures containing such installations
or facilities.

18.3. Tenant shall accomplish any work performed on the Premises or the Building in such a manner as to permit any fire sprinkler system and
fire water supply lines to remain fully operable at all times.

18.4. Any work performed on the Premises or the Building by Tenant or Tenant’s contractors shall be done at such times and in such manner as
Landlord may from time to time designate. Landlord’s consent shall be deemed given if Tenant uses any of the contractors listed on Attachment 1 to the
Work Letter. Tenant covenants and agrees that all work done by Tenant or Tenant’s contractors shall be performed in full compliance with Applicable Laws.
Within thirty (30) days after completion of any Alterations, Tenant shall provide Landlord with complete “as-built” drawing print sets and electronic CADD
files on disc (or files in such other current format in common use as Landlord reasonably approves or requires) showing any changes in the Premises.

18.5. Before commencing any work, Tenant shall give Landlord at least fourteen (14) days’ prior written notice of the proposed commencement
of such work. At such time, upon Tenant’s written request, Landlord shall notify Tenant whether such Alteration (a) will become part of Landlord’s property
pursuant to Section 19.6 below or (b) must be removed upon the expiration or earlier termination of the Lease and shall, if required by Landlord, secure, at
Tenant’s own cost and expense, a completion and lien indemnity bond satisfactory to Landlord for said work. Landlord agrees that the bonds described in the
immediately prior sentence shall not be required for the Tenant Improvements or Minor Alterations.

18.6. Attached equipment, decorations, fixtures, additions and improvements, subject to Section 18.8, attached to (other than in a de minimus
manner) or built into the Premises, made by either of the Parties, including, without limitation, all floor and wall coverings, built-in cabinet work and

paneling, sinks and related plumbing fixtures, laboratory benches, exterior venting
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fume hoods, walk-in freezers and refrigerators, ductwork, conduits, electrical panels and circuits, shall (unless, prior to such construction or installation,
Landlord elects otherwise) become the property of Landlord upon the expiration or earlier termination of the Term, and shall remain upon and be surrendered
with the Premises as a part thereof. The Premises shall at all times remain the property of Landlord and shall be surrendered to Landlord upon the expiration
or earlier termination of this Lease. All trade fixtures and equipment attached to the Building or the Premises (other than in a de minimus manner) and all
Tenant Improvements, Alterations installed by or under Tenant shall be the property of Landlord.

18.7. Tenant shall repair any damage to the Premises caused by Tenant’s removal of any property from the Premises. During any such
restoration period, Tenant shall pay Rent to Landlord as provided herein as if said space were otherwise occupied by Tenant. The provisions of this
Section shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease.

18.8. Except as to those items listed on Exhibit H attached hereto, all trade fixtures, machinery and equipment, built-in furniture and cabinets,
together with all additions and accessories thereto attached to the Building or the Premises (other than in a de minimus manner), installed in and upon the



Premises shall be and remain the property of Landlord and shall not be moved by Tenant at any time during the Term. If Tenant shall fail to remove any of its
effects from the Premises prior to termination of this Lease, then Landlord may, at its option, remove the same in any manner that Landlord shall choose and
store said effects without liability to Tenant for loss thereof or damage thereto, and Tenant shall pay Landlord, upon demand, any costs and expenses incurred
due to such removal and storage or Landlord may, at its sole option and without notice to Tenant, sell such property or any portion thereof at private sale and
without legal process for such price as Landlord may obtain and apply the proceeds of such sale against any (a) amounts due by Tenant to Landlord under this
Lease and (b) any expenses incident to the removal, storage and sale of said personal property.

18.9. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article 18 to the contrary, in no event shall Tenant remove any improvement from the
Premises as to which Landlord contributed payment, including, without limitation, the Tenant Improvements made pursuant to the Work Letter without
Landlord’s prior written consent, which consent Landlord may withhold in its sole and absolute discretion.

18.10.  Other than Minor Alterations, Tenant shall reimburse Landlord its actual, out of pocket expenses reasonably incurred in connection with
Landlord’s plan review, coordination, scheduling and supervision thereof, up to a maximum of three percent (3%) of Tenant’s out-of-pocket costs for such
Alterations. For purposes of payment of such sum, Landlord shall submit to Tenant copies of all bills, invoices and statements covering the costs of such
charges, and Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for any such expenses within thirty (30) days following receipt of such invoices and statements. In addition,
Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for any extra, actual out-of-pocket expenses reasonably incurred by Landlord by reason of faulty work done by Tenant or its
contractors, or by reason of inadequate clean-up.

18.11.  Within sixty (60) days after final completion of the Tenant Improvements (or any other Alterations performed by Tenant with respect to the
Premises), Tenant shall submit to
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Landlord documentation showing the amounts expended by Tenant with respect to such Tenant Improvements (or any other Alterations performed by Tenant
with respect to the Premises), together with supporting documentation reasonably acceptable to Landlord.

18.12.  Tenant shall require its contractors and subcontractors performing work on the Premises to name Landlord and its affiliates and lenders as
additional insureds on their respective insurance policies.

19. Repairs and Maintenance.

19.1. Landlord shall repair and maintain the structural and exterior portions and Common Areas of the Building and the Project, including,
without limitation, roofing and covering materials, foundations, exterior walls, plumbing, fire sprinkler systems (if any), heating, ventilating, air conditioning,
elevators, and electrical systems installed or furnished by Landlord. Any costs related to the repair or maintenance activities specified in this Section 19.1
shall be included as a part of Operating Expenses, unless such repairs or maintenance is (a) specifically excluded from the definition of Operating Expenses
above, in which case Landlord shall not charge Tenant any portion thereof, or (b) required in whole or in part because of any act, neglect, fault or omissions of
Tenant, its agents, servants, employees or invitees, in which case Tenant shall pay to Landlord the cost of such repairs and maintenance.

19.2. Except for services of Landlord, if any, required by Section 19.1, Tenant shall at Tenant’s sole cost and expense maintain and keep the
Premises and every part thereof in good condition and repair, damage thereto from ordinary wear and tear and insured casualty excepted. Tenant shall, upon
the expiration or sooner termination of the Term, surrender the Premises to Landlord in as good of a condition as when received, ordinary wear and tear and
insured casualty excepted; and shall, at Landlord’s request, remove all telephone and data systems, wiring and equipment from and serving the Premises
installed by Tenant (collectively, the “Cabling”), and repair any damage to the Premises caused thereby. Landlord shall have no obligation to alter, remodel,
improve, repair, decorate or paint the Premises or any part thereof, other than pursuant to the terms and provisions of the Work Letter.

19.3. [Intentionally omitted]

19.4. Repairs under this Article 19 that are obligations of Landlord are subject to allocation among Tenant and other tenants as Operating
Expenses, except as otherwise provided in this Article 19 or as specifically excluded from the definition of Operating Expenses in Article 10.

19.5. This Article 19 relates to repairs and maintenance arising in the ordinary course of operation of the Building and the Project and any
related facilities. In the event of fire, earthquake, flood, vandalism, war, terrorism, natural disaster or similar cause of damage or destruction, Article 25 shall

apply in lieu of this Article 19.
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20. Liens.

20.1. Subject to the immediately succeeding sentence, Tenant shall keep the Premises, the Building and the Project free from any liens arising
out of work performed, materials furnished or obligations incurred by Tenant. Tenant further covenants and agrees that any mechanic’s lien filed against the
Premises, the Building or the Project for work claimed to have been done for, or materials claimed to have been furnished to, shall be discharged or bonded
by Tenant pursuant with Applicable Laws within ten (10) business days after Tenant’s receipt of notice of such filing at Tenant’s sole cost and expense.

20.2. Should Tenant fail to discharge or bond against any lien of the nature described in Section 20.1, Landlord may, at Landlord’s election, pay
such claim or post a bond or otherwise provide security to eliminate the lien as a claim against title, and Tenant shall immediately reimburse Landlord for the
costs thereof as Additional Rent.

20.3. In the event that Tenant leases or finances the acquisition of office equipment, furnishings or other personal property of a removable nature
utilized by Tenant in the operation of Tenant’s business, Tenant warrants that any Uniform Commercial Code financing statement shall, upon its face or by
exhibit thereto, indicate that such financing statement is applicable only to removable personal property of Tenant located within the Premises. In no event
shall the address of the Building be furnished on a financing statement without qualifying language as to applicability of the lien only to removable personal
property located in an identified suite leased by Tenant. Should any holder of a financing statement record or place of record a financing statement that



appears to constitute a lien against any interest of Landlord or against equipment that may be located other than within an identified suite leased by Tenant,
Tenant shall, within ten (10) business days after Tenant is notified of the filing such financing statement, cause (a) a copy of the lender security agreement or
other documents to which the financing statement pertains to be furnished to Landlord to facilitate Landlord’s ability to demonstrate that the lien of such
financing statement is not applicable to Landlord’s interest and (b) Tenant’s lender to amend such financing statement and any other documents of record to
clarify that any liens imposed thereby are not applicable to any interest of Landlord in the Premises, the Building or the Project. Landlord hereby agrees to
reasonably cooperate with Tenant and its lenders (at no expense to Landlord) in connection with such financing, and to confirm in writing within ten

(10) business days of a request therefor that the proposed collateral constitutes Tenant’s property under this Lease and to afford such lenders reasonable access
to the Premises during the Term to remove such collateral during the Term upon written request to Landlord; provided that Landlord shall not be required to
act in any way or to execute any documentation that modifies its rights or obligations under this Lease or otherwise increases its liability.

21. Estoppel Certificate. Tenant shall, within ten (10) business days of receipt of written notice from Landlord, execute, acknowledge and deliver a
statement in writing substantially in the form attached to this Lease as Exhibit I, or on any other commercially reasonable form (unless such other form
modifies Tenant’s rights and obligations under this Lease or otherwise increases Tenant’s liability) requested by a proposed lender, mortgagee or beneficiary
(each, a “Lender”) or purchaser, (a) certifying that this Lease is unmodified and in full force and effect (or, if modified, stating the nature of such modification
and certifying that this Lease as so
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modified is in full force and effect) and the dates to which rental and other charges are paid in advance, if any, (b) acknowledging that there are not, to
Tenant’s knowledge, any uncured defaults on the part of Landlord hereunder, or specifying such defaults if any are claimed, and (c) setting forth such further
information with respect to this Lease or the Premises as may be requested thereon. Any such statement may be relied upon by any prospective purchaser or
encumbrancer of all or any portion of the real property of which the Premises are a part. Tenant’s failure to deliver such statement within the prescribed time
shall, at Landlord’s option, constitute a default under this Lease and, provided that Tenant does not cure such default within five (5) business days after receipt
of notice thereof from Landlord, shall be binding upon Tenant that the Lease is in full force and effect and without modification except as may be represented
by Landlord in any certificate prepared by Landlord and delivered to Tenant for execution.

22. Hazardous Materials.

22.1. Tenant shall not cause or permit any Hazardous Materials (as defined below) to be brought upon, kept or used in or about the Premises, the
Building or the Project in violation of Applicable Laws by Tenant, its agents, employees, contractors or invitees. Landlord’s consent shall not be required for
Tenant to bring, keep or use in or about the Premises, Building or the Project Hazardous Materials for the Permitted Use as permitted by Applicable Laws;
provided that, if Landlord’s insurance carrier reasonably determines that any such Hazardous Materials pose an unusual risk of damage or injury, Tenant shall
obtain such additional insurance coverage as Landlord’s insurance carrier reasonably requests. If Tenant breaches such obligation, or if the presence of
Hazardous Materials as a result of such a breach results in contamination of the Premises, the Building, the Project or any adjacent property, or if
contamination of the Premises, the Building, the Project or any adjacent property by Hazardous Materials otherwise occurs (other than as caused by Landlord
or its agents, employees or contractors) during the Term or any extension or renewal hereof or holding over hereunder, then Tenant shall indemnify, save,
defend and hold Landlord, its agents and contractors harmless from and against any and all claims, judgments, damages, penalties, fines, costs, liabilities and
losses (including, without limitation, diminution in value of the Premises, the Building, the Project or any portion thereof; damages for the loss or restriction
on use of rentable or usable space or of any amenity of the Premises or Project; damages arising from any adverse impact on marketing of space in the
Premises, the Building or the Project; and sums paid in settlement of claims, attorneys’ fees, consultants’ fees and experts’ fees) that arise during or after the
Term as a result of such breach or contamination. This indemnification does not apply to any contamination to the extent arising from or relating to the
actions, negligence or breach of this Lease of Landlord or its agents, employees or contractors; nor to any contamination present at the Premises prior to the
Term Commencement Date (unless caused by Tenant or its agents, employees, contractors or invitees). This indemnification of Landlord by Tenant includes,
without limitation, costs incurred in connection with any investigation of site conditions or any cleanup, remedial, removal or restoration work required by
any Governmental Authority because of Hazardous Materials present in the air, soil or groundwater above, on or under the Premises. Without limiting the
foregoing, if the presence of any Hazardous Materials in, on, under or about the Premises, the Building, the Project or any adjacent property caused or
permitted by Tenant results in any contamination of the Premises, the Building, the Project or any adjacent property, then Tenant shall promptly take all
actions at its sole cost and expense as are necessary to return the Premises, the Building, the Project and any
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adjacent property to their respective condition existing prior to the time of such contamination; provided that Landlord’s written approval of such action shall
first be obtained, which approval Landlord shall not unreasonably withhold, condition or delay; and provided, further, that it shall be reasonable for Landlord
to withhold its consent if such actions could have a material adverse long-term or short-term effect on the Premises, the Building or the Project.

22.2. Landlord acknowledges that it is not the intent of this Article 22 to prohibit Tenant from operating its business as described in Section 2.7.
Tenant may operate its business according to the custom of Tenant’s industry so long as the use or presence of Hazardous Materials is strictly and properly
monitored according to Applicable Laws. As a material inducement to Landlord to allow Tenant to use Hazardous Materials in connection with its business,
Tenant agrees to deliver to Landlord prior to the Term Commencement Date a list identifying each type of Hazardous Material to be present on the Premises
and setting forth any and all governmental approvals or permits required in connection with the presence of such Hazardous Material on the Premises (the
“Hazardous Materials List”); provided that Tenant may delay the delivery of the Hazardous Materials List until after the Term Commencement Date, so long
as Tenant delivers it to Landlord prior to Tenant commencing business operations at the Premises using Hazardous Materials. Tenant shall deliver to
Landlord an updated Hazardous Materials List on or prior to each annual anniversary of the Term Commencement Date and shall also deliver an updated
Hazardous Materials List before any new Hazardous Materials are brought onto the Premises. Tenant shall deliver to Landlord true and correct copies of the
following documents (hereinafter referred to as the “Documents”) relating to the handling, storage, disposal and emission of Hazardous Materials prior to the
Term Commencement Date or, if unavailable at that time, concurrent with the receipt from or submission to any Governmental Authority: permits; approvals;
reports and correspondence; storage and management plans; notices of violations of Applicable Laws; plans relating to the installation of any storage tanks to
be installed in or under the Premises, the Building or the Project (provided that installation of storage tanks shall only be permitted after Landlord has given
Tenant its written consent to do so, which consent Landlord may withhold in its sole and absolute discretion unless approved as part of the Tenant
Improvements); and all closure plans or any other documents required by any and all Governmental Authorities for any storage tanks installed in, on or under
the Premises, the Building or the Project for the closure of any such storage tanks. Tenant shall not be required, however, to provide Landlord with any
portion of the Documents containing information of a proprietary nature that, in and of themselves, do not contain a reference to any Hazardous Materials or



activities related to Hazardous Materials. Upon Landlord’s written request, Tenant agrees that it shall enter into a written agreement with other tenants of the
Building and the Project concerning the equitable allocation of fire control areas (as defined in the Uniform Building Code as adopted by the city or
municipality(ies) in which the Project is located (the “UBC”)) within the Building and the Project for the storage of Hazardous Materials. In the event that
Tenant’s use of Hazardous Materials is such that it utilizes fire control areas in the Building or the Project in excess of Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of the Building
or the Project, as applicable, as set forth in Section 2.2, Tenant agrees that it shall, at its sole cost and expense and upon Landlord’s written request, establish
and maintain a separate area of the Premises classified by the UBC as an “H” occupancy area for the use and storage of Hazardous Materials or take such
other action as is necessary to ensure that its share of the fire control areas
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of the Building and the Project is not greater than Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of the Building or the Project, as applicable.
22.3. [Intentionally omitted]

22.4. At any time, and from time to time, prior to the expiration of the Term, subject to Section 15.4, if Landlord has a good faith reasonable
belief that there has been a contamination of the Premises, or if required by a Lender, Landlord shall have the right to conduct appropriate tests of the
Premises, the Building and the Project to demonstrate whether Hazardous Materials are present or that contamination has occurred due to Tenant or Tenant’s
agents, employees or invitees. Unless Landlord has a good faith reasonable belief that there has been a contamination of the Premises by Tenant, said testing
shall not occur more than once every two (2) years. Tenant shall not be liable for the costs of any tests required by any Lender, investor or potential purchaser
of Landlord’s interest in the Premises and shall not be liable for the costs of Landlord’s testing unless a contamination in violation of Applicable Laws by
Tenant is established. Under no circumstances shall Landlord’s testing unreasonably interfere with Tenant’s business operations from the Premises for the
Permitted Use.

22.5. If underground or other storage tanks storing Hazardous Materials are located on the Premises or are hereafter placed on the Premises by
any party, Tenant shall monitor the storage tanks, maintain appropriate records, implement reporting procedures, properly close any underground storage
tanks, and take or cause to be taken all other steps necessary or required under the Applicable Laws.

22.6. Tenant’s obligations under this Article 22 shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease. During any period of time
needed by Tenant or Landlord after the termination of this Lease to complete the removal from the Premises of any such Hazardous Materials, Tenant shall
continue to pay Rent in accordance with this Lease, which Rent shall be prorated daily.

22.7. As used herein, the term “Hazardous Material” means any hazardous or toxic substance, material or waste that is or becomes regulated by
any Governmental Authority.

22.8. Landlord represents to Tenant that, to Landlord’s actual knowledge, there are no Hazardous Materials on, in or about the Property, the
Building or the Premises in violation of Applicable Laws, and Landlord further represents that it has not caused the generation, storage or release of
Hazardous Materials upon the Project in violation of Applicable Laws.

23. Odors and Exhaust. Tenant acknowledges that Landlord would not enter into this Lease with Tenant unless Tenant assured Landlord that under no
circumstances will any other occupants of the Building or Project (including persons legally present in any outdoor areas of the Project) be subjected to odors
or fumes (whether or not noxious), and that the Building and Project will not be damaged by any exhaust, in each case from Tenant’s operations. Landlord
and Tenant therefore agree as follows:
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23.1. Tenant shall not cause or permit (or conduct any activities that would cause) any release of any odors or fumes of any kind from the
Premises.
23.2. If Landlord at any time determines that any existing ventilation system is inadequate, or if no ventilation system exists, Tenant shall in

compliance with Applicable Laws vent all fumes and odors from the Premises (and remove odors from Tenant’s exhaust stream) as Landlord requires. The
placement and configuration of all ventilation exhaust pipes, louvers and other equipment shall be subject to Landlord’s approval. Tenant acknowledges
Landlord’s legitimate desire to maintain the Project (indoor and outdoor areas) in an odor-free manner, and Landlord may require Tenant to abate and remove
all odors in a manner that goes beyond the requirements of Applicable Laws.

23.3. Tenant shall, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, provide odor eliminators and other devices (such as filters, air cleaners, scrubbers and
whatever other equipment may in Landlord’s reasonable judgment be necessary or appropriate from time to time) to reasonably remove, eliminate and abate
any odors, fumes or other substances in Tenant’s exhaust stream that, in Landlord’s judgment, emanate from Tenant’s Premises. Any work Tenant performs
under this paragraph shall constitute Alterations.

23.4. Tenant’s responsibility to remove, eliminate and abate odors, fumes and exhaust shall continue throughout the Term. Landlord’s approval
of the Tenant Improvements shall not preclude Landlord from requiring additional measures to eliminate odors, fumes and other adverse impacts of Tenant’s
exhaust stream (as Landlord may designate in Landlord’s discretion). Tenant shall install additional equipment as Landlord requires from time to time under
the preceding sentence. Such installations shall constitute Alterations.

23.5. If Tenant fails to initiate the installation of satisfactory odor control equipment within thirty (30) days after Landlord’s demand made at any
time or does not thereafter diligently and reasonably prosecute to completion such installation, then Landlord may, without limiting Landlord’s other rights
and remedies, require Tenant to cease and suspend any operations in the Premises that, in Landlord’s determination, cause odors, fumes or exhaust. For
example, if Landlord determines that Tenant’s production of a certain type of product causes odors, fumes or exhaust, and Tenant does not install satisfactory
odor control equipment within thirty (30) days after Landlord’s request, then Landlord may require Tenant to stop producing such type of product in the
Premises unless and until Tenant has installed odor control equipment satisfactory to Landlord.

24. Insurance; Waiver of Subrogation.




24.1. Landlord shall maintain insurance for the Building and the Project in amounts equal to full replacement cost (exclusive of the costs of
excavation, foundations and footings, and without reference to depreciation taken by Landlord upon its books or tax returns) or such lesser coverage as
Landlord may elect, provided that such coverage shall not be less than ninety percent (90%) of such full replacement cost or the amount of such insurance
Landlord’s Lender, if any, reasonably requires Landlord to maintain, providing protection against any peril generally included within the classification “Fire
and Extended Coverage,” together with insurance against
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sprinkler damage (if applicable), vandalism and malicious mischief. Landlord, subject to availability thereof, shall further insure, if Landlord deems it
appropriate, coverage against flood, environmental hazard, earthquake, loss or failure of building equipment, rental loss during the period of repairs or
rebuilding, workmen’s compensation insurance and fidelity bonds for employees employed to perform services. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord
may, but shall not be deemed required to, provide insurance for any improvements installed by Tenant or that are in addition to the standard improvements
customarily furnished by Landlord that constitute Tenant’s property under this Lease, without regard to whether or not such are made a part of or are affixed
to the Building; provided that Landlord shall provide insurance for any improvements installed by Tenant that constitute Landlord’s property under this Lease.

24.2. In addition, Landlord shall carry public liability insurance with limits that will not be less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) for death
or bodily injury, or property damage with respect to the Project. Such policy will include additional insureds and contractual indemnity provisions or
endorsements. Prior to the Term Commencement Date, Landlord shall deliver certificates evidencing such coverage to Tenant and Landlord shall, at least
twenty (20) days prior to the expiration of such policies, furnish Tenant with new certificates evidencing the renewal thereof.

24.3. Tenant shall, at its own cost and expense, procure and maintain in effect, beginning on the Term Commencement Date or the date of
occupancy, whichever occurs first, and continuing throughout the Term (and occupancy by Tenant, if any, after termination of this Lease) comprehensive
public liability insurance with limits of not less than Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) per occurrence for death or bodily injury and not less than Two
Million Dollars ($2,000,000) for property damage with respect to the Premises (including $100,000 fire legal liability (each loss)).

24.4. The insurance required to be purchased and maintained by Tenant pursuant to this Lease shall name Landlord, BioMed Realty, L.P.,
BioMed Realty Trust, Inc., and their respective officers, employees, agents, general partners, members, subsidiaries, affiliates and Lenders (“Landlord
Parties™) as additional insureds. Said insurance shall be with companies having a rating of not less than policyholder rating of A and financial category rating
of at least Class XII in “Best’s Insurance Guide.” Tenant shall obtain for Landlord from the insurance companies or cause the insurance companies to furnish
certificates of coverage to Landlord. No such policy shall be cancelable or subject to reduction of coverage or other modification or cancellation except after
thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to Landlord from the insurer (except in the event of non-payment of premium, in which case ten (10) days written notice
shall be given). Tenant shall provide Landlord with written notice of any reduction of coverage or other modification of Tenant’s insurance at least thirty (30)
days’ prior to the date that such reduction or other modification becomes effective. All such policies shall be written as primary policies, not contributing
with and not in excess of the coverage that Landlord may carry. Tenant’s policy may be a “blanket policy” that specifically provides that the amount of
insurance shall not be prejudiced by other losses covered by the policy. Tenant shall, at least twenty (20) days prior to the expiration of such policies, furnish
Landlord with certificates or binders evidencing renewals. Tenant agrees that if Tenant does not take out and maintain such insurance, Landlord may (but
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shall not be required to) procure said insurance on Tenant’s behalf and at its cost to be paid by Tenant as Additional Rent.

24.5. Other than with respect to claims arising from the gross negligence, intentional misconduct or breach of this Lease by Landlord or its
agents, employees, contractors or invitees, Tenant assumes the risk of damage to any fixtures, goods, inventory, merchandise, equipment and leasehold
improvements, and Landlord shall not be liable for injury to Tenant’s business or any loss of income therefrom, relative to such damage, all as more
particularly set forth within this Lease. Tenant shall, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, carry such insurance as Tenant desires for Tenant’s protection with
respect to personal property of Tenant or business interruption.

24.6. In each instance where insurance is to name Landlord Parties as additional insureds, Tenant shall, upon Landlord’s written request, also
designate and furnish certificates evidencing such Landlord Parties as additional insureds to (a) any Lender of Landlord holding a security interest in the
Building or the Project, (b) the landlord under any lease whereunder Landlord is a tenant of the real property upon which the Building is located if the interest
of Landlord is or shall become that of a tenant under a ground lease rather than that of a fee owner, and (c) any management company retained by Landlord to
manage the Project.

24.7. Landlord and Tenant each hereby waive any and all rights of recovery against the other or against the officers, directors, employees, agents
and representatives of the other on account of loss or damage occasioned by such waiving party or its property or the property of others under such waiving
party’s control, in each case to the extent that such loss or damage is insured against under any fire and extended coverage insurance policy that either
Landlord or Tenant may have in force at the time of such loss or damage (or is required to have in place under this Lease). Such waivers shall continue so
long as their respective insurers so permit. Any termination of such a waiver shall be by written notice to the other party, containing a description of the
circumstances hereinafter set forth in this Section 24.7. Landlord and Tenant, upon obtaining the policies of insurance required or permitted under this Lease,
shall give notice to the insurance carrier or carriers that the foregoing mutual waiver of subrogation is contained in this Lease. If such policies shall not be
obtainable with such waiver or shall be so obtainable only at a premium over that chargeable without such waiver, then the party seeking such policy shall
notify the other of such conditions, and the party so notified shall have ten (10) days thereafter to either (a) procure such insurance with companies reasonably
satisfactory to the other party or (b) agree to pay such additional premium (in Tenant’s case, in the proportion that the area of the Premises bears to the insured
area). If the parties do not accomplish either (a) or (b), then this Section 24.7 shall have no effect during such time as such policies shall not be obtainable or
the party in whose favor a waiver of subrogation is desired refuses to pay the additional premium. If such policies shall at any time be unobtainable, but shall
be subsequently obtainable, then neither party shall be subsequently liable for a failure to obtain such insurance until a reasonable time after notification
thereof by the other party. If the release of either Landlord or Tenant, as set forth in the first sentence of this Section 24.7, shall contravene Applicable Laws,
then the liability of the party in question shall be deemed not released but shall be secondary to the other party’s insurer.
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24.8. Landlord may require insurance policy limits required under this Lease to be raised to conform with requirements of Landlord’s Lender or
to bring coverage limits to levels then being required of new tenants within the Project; provided such levels shall not be increased more than once each year
and in no event more than what is reasonably required by institutional lenders and owners in the same geographic area as the Project.

24.9. Any costs incurred by Landlord in obtaining the insurance it is required to carry under this Article 24 or in otherwise performing its
obligations under this Article 24 shall constitute a portion of Operating Expenses.

25. Damage or Destruction.

25.1. In the event of a partial destruction of the Building or the Project by fire or other perils covered by extended coverage insurance not
exceeding twenty-five percent (25%) of the full insurable value thereof, and provided that (a) the damage thereto is such that the Building or the Project may
be repaired, reconstructed or restored within a period of six (6) months from the date of the happening of such casualty and (b) Landlord shall receive
insurance proceeds sufficient to cover the cost of such repairs (except for any deductible amount provided by Landlord’s policy, which deductible amount, if
paid by Landlord, shall constitute an Operating Expense), Landlord shall commence and proceed diligently with the work of repair, reconstruction and
restoration of the Building or the Project, as applicable, and this Lease shall continue in full force and effect.

25.2. In the event of any damage to or destruction of the Building or the Project other than as described in Section 25.1, Landlord may elect to
repair, reconstruct and restore the Building or the Project, as applicable, in which case this Lease shall continue in full force and effect. If, however,
(a) Landlord estimates (in its reasonable discretion) that such repairs cannot be completed within twelve (12) months from the date of the happening of the
casualty or (b) Landlord elects not to repair the Building or the Project, as applicable, then Tenant shall have the right to terminate this Lease (except for those
provisions that, by their express terms, survive the expiration or earlier termination hereof) in whole or as to the equitable portion of the Premises and use of
the Common Areas affected by such damage or destruction, without any payment of a Termination Fee, upon written notice to Landlord delivered no later
than ten (10) business days after Tenant receives Landlord’s notice of (y) the estimate of time required to rebuild or (z) Landlord’s election not to rebuild, with
such termination to be effective as of the date of Landlord’s receipt of such notice.

25.3. Landlord shall give written notice to Tenant within sixty (60) days following the date of damage or destruction of (a) whether Landlord can
and will complete repairs within the twelve (12) month period set forth in Section 26.1 or (b) its election not to repair, reconstruct or restore the Building or

the Project, as applicable.

25.4. Upon any termination of this Lease under any of the provisions of this Article 25, the parties shall be released thereby without further
obligation to the other from the date possession of the Premises is surrendered to Landlord, except with regard to (a) items occurring
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prior to the damage or destruction and (b) provisions of this Lease that, by their express terms, survive the expiration or earlier termination hereof.

25.5. In the event of repair, reconstruction and restoration as provided in this Article 25, all Rent to be paid by Tenant under this Lease shall be
abated in proportion to the extent to which Tenant’s use of the Premises for the Permitted Use is impaired during the period of such repair, reconstruction or
restoration, or is prohibited by Applicable Laws, unless Landlord provides Tenant with other space during the period of repair that, in Tenant’s reasonable
opinion, is suitable for the temporary conduct of Tenant’s business for the Permitted Use.

25.6. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Article 25, should Landlord be delayed or prevented from completing the repair,
reconstruction or restoration of the damage or destruction to the Premises after the occurrence of such damage or destruction by Force Majeure (other than the
Force Majeure event constituting the original casualty), then the time for Landlord to commence or complete repairs shall be extended on a day-for-day basis;
provided, however, that, at Landlord’s election, Landlord shall be relieved of its obligation to make such repair, reconstruction or restoration.

25.7. If Landlord is obligated to or elects to repair, reconstruct or restore as herein provided, then Landlord shall be obligated to make such
repair, reconstruction or restoration only with regard to those portions of the Premises, the Building or the Project that were originally provided at Landlord’s
expense (including the Tenant Improvements). The repair, reconstruction or restoration of improvements not originally provided by Landlord or at Landlord’s
expense is addressed in Section 25.9.

25.8. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Article 25, if there is a casualty during the last twenty-four (24) months of the
Term or any extension hereof such that a majority of the Premises is not usable for the Permitted Use, then either party can elect to terminate this Lease in
connection with such casualty (except for those provisions that, by their express terms, survive the expiration or earlier termination hereof), and Tenant shall
have no obligation to pay a Termination Fee in connection therewith, and Landlord shall not have any obligation whatsoever to repair, reconstruct or restore
the Premises.

25.9. Landlord’s obligation, should it elect or be obligated to repair or rebuild, shall be limited to the Property, the Building and the Tenant
Improvements; provided that Tenant shall, at its expense, replace or fully repair all of Tenant’s personal property and any Alterations installed by Tenant
existing at the time of such damage or destruction. If the Property or the Building is to be repaired in accordance with the foregoing, Landlord shall make
available to Tenant any portion of insurance proceeds it receives that are allocable to the Alterations constructed by Tenant pursuant to this Lease, provided
Tenant is not then in default under this Lease, and subject to the requirements of any Lender of Landlord.

26. Eminent Domain.

26.1. In the event the whole of the Premises, or such part thereof as shall substantially interfere with Tenant’s use and occupancy thereof, shall
be taken for any public or quasi-public
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purpose by any lawful power or authority by exercise of the right of appropriation, condemnation or eminent domain, or sold to prevent such taking, Tenant
or Landlord may terminate this Lease (except for those provisions that, by their express terms, survive the expiration or earlier termination hereof) effective as
of the date possession is required to be surrendered to said authority. If there is any taking of more than twenty-five percent (25%) of the Premises, Tenant
may terminate this Lease (except for those provisions that, by their express terms, survive the expiration or earlier termination hereof) effective as of the date
possession is required to be surrendered to the applicable Governmental Authority.

26.2. In the event of a partial taking of the Building or the Project, or of drives, walkways or parking areas serving the Building or the Project for
any public or quasi-public purpose by any lawful power or authority by exercise of right of appropriation, condemnation, or eminent domain, or sold to
prevent such taking, then, without regard to whether any portion of the Premises occupied by Tenant was so taken, Landlord may elect to terminate this Lease
(except for those provisions that, by their express terms, survive the expiration or earlier termination hereof) as of such taking if such taking is, in Landlord’s
reasonable opinion, of a material nature such as to make it uneconomical to continue use of the unappropriated portion for purposes of renting office or
laboratory space.

26.3. Tenant shall be entitled to any award that is specifically awarded as compensation for (a) the taking of Tenant’s personal property that was
installed at Tenant’s expense and (b) the costs of Tenant moving to a new location. Except as set forth in the previous sentence, any award for such taking
shall be the property of Landlord.

26.4. If, upon any taking of the nature described in this Article 26, this Lease continues in effect, then Landlord shall promptly proceed to restore
the Premises, the Building and the Project, as applicable, to substantially their same condition prior to such partial taking. To the extent such restoration is
feasible, as determined by Landlord in reasonable discretion, the Rent shall be decreased proportionately to reflect the loss of any portion of the Premises no
longer available to Tenant for the Permitted Use.

27. Surrender.

27.1. At least ten (10) days prior to Tenant’s surrender of possession of any part of the Premises, Tenant shall provide Landlord with (a) either
(i) a facility decommissioning and Hazardous Materials closure plan for the Premises (“Exit Survey”) or (ii) a Phase I environmental site assessment (“Phase I
Report”) and (b) written evidence of all appropriate governmental releases, if applicable, obtained by Tenant in accordance with Applicable Laws, including,
without limitation, laws pertaining to the surrender of the Premises. In addition, Tenant agrees to remain responsible after the surrender of the Premises for
the remediation of any recognized environmental conditions set forth in the Exit Survey or Phase I Report (as applicable) and compliance with any
recommendations set forth in the Exit Survey or Phase I Report with respect to matters for which Tenant is otherwise responsible pursuant to this Lease.
Tenant’s obligations under this Section 27.1 shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of the Lease.
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27.2. No surrender of possession of any part of the Premises shall release Tenant from any of its obligations hereunder, unless such surrender is
accepted in writing by Landlord.
27.3. The voluntary or other surrender of this Lease by Tenant shall not effect a merger with Landlord’s fee title or leasehold interest in the

Premises, the Building or the Property, unless Landlord consents in writing, and shall, at Landlord’s option, operate as an assignment to Landlord of any or all
subleases.

27.4. The voluntary or other surrender of any ground or other underlying lease that now exists or may hereafter be executed affecting the
Building or the Project, or a mutual cancellation thereof or of Landlord’s interest therein by Landlord and its lessor shall not effect a merger with Landlord’s
fee title or leasehold interest in the Premises, the Building or the Property and shall, at the option of the successor to Landlord’s interest in the Building or the
Project, as applicable, operate as an assignment of this Lease.

28. Holding Over.

28.1. If, with Landlord’s prior written consent, Tenant holds possession of all or any part of the Premises after the Term, Tenant shall become a
tenant from month to month after the expiration or earlier termination of the Term, and in such case Tenant shall continue to pay (a) Base Rent in accordance
with Article 8, as adjusted in accordance with Article 9, and (b) any amounts for which Tenant would otherwise be liable under this Lease if the Lease were
still in effect, including, without limitation, payments for Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of Operating Expenses. Any such month-to-month tenancy shall be subject
to every other term, covenant and agreement contained herein.

28.2. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Tenant remains in possession of the Premises after the expiration or earlier termination of the Term
without Landlord’s prior written consent, (a) Tenant shall become a tenant at sufferance subject to the terms and conditions of this Lease, except that the
monthly rent shall be equal to one hundred fifty percent (150%) of the Rent in effect during the last thirty (30) days of the Term, and (b) Tenant shall be liable
to Landlord for any and all damages suffered by Landlord as a result of such holdover, including, without limitation, any lost rent or consequential, special
and indirect damages.

28.3. Acceptance by Landlord of Rent after the expiration or earlier termination of the Term shall not result in an extension, renewal or
reinstatement of this Lease.

28.4. The foregoing provisions of this Article 28 are in addition to and do not affect Landlord’s right of reentry or any other rights of Landlord
hereunder or as otherwise provided by Applicable Laws.

29. Indemnification and Exculpation.
29.1. Tenant agrees to indemnify, save, defend and hold Landlord harmless from and against any and all demands, claims, liabilities, losses,
costs, expenses, actions, causes of action, damages or judgments, and all reasonable expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees,

charges and disbursements) incurred in investigating or resisting the same
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(collectively, “Claims”) arising from injury or death to any person or damage to any property occurring within or about the Premises, the Building or the
Property arising out of Tenant’s or Tenant’s employees’, agents’ or guests’ use or occupancy of the Premises or a breach or default by Tenant in the
performance of any of its obligations hereunder, except to the extent caused by the willful misconduct or gross negligence of Landlord or its employees or
agents or a breach or default by Landlord in the performance of any of its obligations hereunder.

29.2. Notwithstanding any provision of Section 29.1 to the contrary, Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant for, and Tenant assumes all risk of,
damage to personal property or scientific research, including, without limitation, loss of records kept by Tenant within the Premises and damage or losses
caused by fire, electrical malfunction, gas explosion or water damage of any type (including, without limitation, broken water lines, malfunctioning fire
sprinkler systems, roof leaks or stoppages of lines), unless any such loss is due to Landlord’s willful disregard of written notice by Tenant of need for a repair
that Landlord is responsible to make for an unreasonable period of time or to the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord or any of Landlord’s
employees, agents or contractors. Tenant further waives any claim for injury to Tenant’s business or loss of income relating to any such damage or
destruction of personal property as described in this Section 29.2.

29.3. Landlord shall not be liable for any damages arising from any act, omission or neglect of any other tenant in the Building or the Project, or
of any other third party (other than Landlord’s employees, agents or contractors).

29.4. Tenant acknowledges that security devices and services, if any, while intended to deter crime, may not in given instances prevent theft or
other criminal acts. Landlord shall not be liable for injuries or losses caused by criminal acts of third parties, and Tenant assumes the risk that any security
device or service may malfunction or otherwise be circumvented by a criminal. If Tenant desires protection against such criminal acts, then Tenant shall, at
Tenant’s sole cost and expense, obtain appropriate insurance coverage.

29.5. The provisions of this Article 29 shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease.

29.6. Landlord agrees to indemnify, save, defend and hold Tenant harmless from and against any and all Claims arising from injury or death to
any person or damage to any property occurring within or about the Premises, the Building or the Property to the extent arising out of Landlord’s or
Landlord’s employees’ gross negligence or willful misconduct, except to the extent caused by Tenant or any of Tenant’s employees, agents, contractors or
invitees.

29.7. The indemnities in this Article 29 are intended to specifically cover actions brought by the indemnifying party’s own employees, with
respect to acts or omissions during the term of this Lease. In that regard, with respect to the other, each party waives any immunity it may have under
Washington’s Industrial Insurance Act, RCW Title 51, to the extent necessary to provide the indemnified party with a full and complete indemnity from
claims made by the indemnifying party and its employees, to the extent of their negligence. If losses, liabilities, damages, liens, costs and expenses covered
by an indemnity are caused by the sole negligence of the indemnified party or by
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the concurrent negligence of both Landlord and Tenant or their respective employees, agents, invitees and licensees, then the indemnifying party shall
indemnify the other only to the extent of the indemnifying party’s own negligence or that of its officers, agents, employees, guests or invitees. LANDLORD
AND TENANT ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THE INDEMNIFICATION PROVISIONS OF THIS ARTICLE 29 WERE SPECIFICALLY NEGOTIATED
AND AGREED UPON BY THEM.

29.8. Notwithstanding anything in this Lease or any Confidentiality Agreement to the contrary entered into by Landlord or any other party, in no
event shall Landlord be liable to Tenant for special, consequential, exemplary or punitive damages, of for lost profits or loss of business opportunity. This
limitation also applies to and supercedes anything to the contrary in any Confidentiality Agreement.

30. Assignment or Subletting.

30.1. Except as hereinafter expressly permitted, Tenant shall not, either voluntarily or by operation of Applicable Laws, directly or indirectly
sell, hypothecate, assign, pledge, encumber or otherwise transfer this Lease, or sublet the Premises (each, a “Transfer”), without Landlord’s prior written
consent, which consent Landlord may not unreasonably withhold, condition or delay. Tenant shall have the right to Transfer without Landlord’s prior written
consent the Premises or any part hereof to any person that as of the date of determination and at all times thereafter directly, or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with Tenant (“Tenant’s Affiliate”); provided that, to the extent permitted by Applicable
Laws, Tenant notifies Landlord in writing at least ten (10) days prior to the effectiveness of such Transfer to Tenant’s Affiliate (an “Affiliate Transfer”) and
otherwise comply with the requirements of this Lease regarding such Transfer (and if such prior notification is not permitted by Applicable Laws, as soon as
reasonably practicable). In addition, Tenant may, without Landlord’s prior written consent but upon prior written notice to Landlord, Transfer the Premises in
its entirety in connection with a merger or acquisition of Tenant by a person other than a Tenant Affiliate; provided that, to the extent permitted by Applicable
Laws, Tenant notifies Landlord in writing at least ten (10) days prior to the effectiveness of such Transfer (in sufficient detail to allow Landlord’s tax counsel
to determine whether the Transfer would be prohibited by the last sentence of Section 30.3) and, if prior notice is not permitted by Applicable Laws, within
ten (10) days after the effectiveness of such Transfer; and provided, further, that, if a Transfer described in this sentence would be prohibited by the last
sentence of Section 30.3 (as determined by Landlord’s tax counsel), then Landlord may either elect to (a) permit the Transfer notwithstanding the last
sentence of Section 30.3 or (b) upon Landlord’s notice to Tenant (delivered no later than fourteen (14) days after Tenant notifies Landlord of the Transfer
pursuant to this Section), terminate this Lease as of the date of the effectiveness of such Transfer (except for the provisions hereof that expressly survive the
expiration or earlier termination hereof). If Landlord terminates this Lease pursuant to Subsection 30.1(b), then Tenant shall be liable to Landlord for default

(b) (provided that, if such early termination occurs prior to the Permitted Early Termination Date, then, for the sake of this sentence, the amounts calculated
pursuant to Sections 32.5(b) and (c) shall be calculated using the Permitted Early Termination Date). For purposes of
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Affiliate Transfers, “control” requires both (a) owning (directly or indirectly) more than fifty percent (50%) of the stock or other equity interests of another
person and (b) possessing, directly or indirectly, the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such person. An “Exempt
Transfer” means an Affiliate Transfer and any subleases, licenses any other occupancy agreements that, in the aggregate, do not exceed twenty-five percent
(25%) of the Premises’ Rentable Area. In no event shall Tenant perform a Transfer to or with an entity that is a tenant at the Project or that is in discussions
or negotiations with Landlord or an affiliate of Landlord to lease premises at the Project or a property owned by Landlord or an affiliate of Landlord; provided
that the limitations in this sentence shall not apply if the Tenant merges with such other tenant or prospective tenant.

30.2. In the event Tenant desires to effect a Transfer, then, if permitted by Applicable Laws, at least thirty (30) days prior to the date when
Tenant desires the Transfer to be effective (the “Transfer Date”), Tenant shall provide written notice to Landlord (the “Transfer Notice”) containing
information (including references) concerning the character of the proposed transferee, assignee or sublessee; the Transfer Date; any ownership or
commercial relationship between Tenant and the proposed transferee, assignee or sublessee, all in such detail as Landlord shall reasonably require (and if such
prior notification is not permitted by Applicable Laws, as soon as reasonably practicable).

30.3. Landlord, in determining whether consent should be given to a proposed Transfer, may give consideration to (a) the financial strength of
such transferee, assignee or sublessee (notwithstanding Tenant remaining liable for Tenant’s performance), (b) any change in use from the Permitted Use that
such transferee, assignee or sublessee proposes to make in the use of the Premises and (c) Landlord’s desire to exercise its rights under Section 30.8 to cancel
this Lease. In no event shall Landlord be deemed to be unreasonable for declining to consent to a Transfer to a transferee, assignee or sublessee of poor
reputation, lacking financial qualifications or seeking a change in the Permitted Use, or jeopardizing directly or indirectly the status of Landlord or any of
Landlord’s affiliates as a Real Estate Investment Trust under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (as the same may be amended from time to time, the
“Revenue Code”). Notwithstanding anything contained in this Lease to the contrary, (w) no Transfer shall be consummated on any basis such that the rental
or other amounts to be paid by the occupant, assignee, manager or other transferee thereunder would be based, in whole or in part, on the income or profits
derived by the business activities of such occupant, assignee, manager or other transferee; (x) Tenant shall not furnish or render any services to an occupant,
assignee, manager or other transferee with respect to whom transfer consideration is required to be paid, or manage or operate the Premises or any capital
additions so transferred, with respect to which transfer consideration is being paid; (y) Tenant shall not consummate a Transfer with any person in which
Landlord owns an interest, directly or indirectly (by applying constructive ownership rules set forth in Section 856(d)(5) of the Revenue Code); and (z) Tenant
shall not consummate a Transfer with any person or in any manner that could cause any portion of the amounts received by Landlord pursuant to this Lease or
any sublease, license or other arrangement for the right to use, occupy or possess any portion of the Premises to fail to qualify as “rents from real property”
within the meaning of Section 856(d) of the Revenue Code, or any similar or successor provision thereto or which could cause any other income of Landlord
to fail to qualify as income described in Section 856(c)(2) of the Revenue Code.
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30.4. As conditions precedent to Tenant subleasing the Premises or to Landlord considering a request by Tenant to Tenant’s transfer of rights or
sharing of the Premises (for the sake of clarify, Affiliate Transfers do not require Landlord’s consent), Landlord may require any or all of the following:

(a) Tenant shall remain fully liable under this Lease during the unexpired Term;

(b) Tenant shall provide Landlord with evidence reasonably satisfactory to Landlord that the value of Landlord’s interest under this
Lease shall not be diminished or reduced by the proposed Transfer. Such evidence shall include, without limitation, evidence respecting the relevant business
experience and financial responsibility and status of the proposed transferee, assignee or sublessee;

(©) Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for Landlord’s actual costs and expenses, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’
fees, charges and disbursements incurred in connection with the review, processing and documentation of such request in an amount not to exceed Two
Thousand Dollars ($2,000) in any one instance;

(d) If Tenant’s transfer of rights or sharing of the Premises (except for Exempt Transfers) provides for the receipt by, on behalf of or
on account of Tenant of any consideration of any kind whatsoever (including, without limitation, a premium rental for a sublease or lump sum payment for an
assignment, but excluding Tenant’s reasonable costs in marketing and subleasing the Premises) in excess of the rental and other charges due to Landlord
under this Lease, Tenant shall pay fifty percent (50%) of all of such excess to Landlord, after all deductions for any out-of-pocket transaction costs incurred
by Tenant, including, without limitation, marketing expenses, tenant improvement allowances actually provided by Tenant, alterations, cash concessions,
brokerage commissions, attorneys’ fees and free rent. If said consideration consists of cash paid to Tenant, payment to Landlord shall be made upon receipt
by Tenant of such cash payment;

(e) The proposed transferee, assignee or sublessee shall agree that, in the event Landlord gives such proposed transferee, assignee or
sublessee notice that Tenant is in default under this Lease, such proposed transferee, assignee or sublessee shall thereafter make all payments otherwise due
Tenant directly to Landlord, which payments shall be received by Landlord without any liability being incurred by Landlord, except to credit such payment
against those due by Tenant under this Lease, and any such proposed transferee, assignee or sublessee shall agree to attorn to Landlord or its successors and
assigns should this Lease be terminated for any reason; provided, however, that in no event shall Landlord or its Lenders, successors or assigns be obligated
to accept such attornment;

® Landlord’s consent to any such Transfer shall be effected on the form attached as Exhibit J (for a sublease of the entire Premises)
or Exhibit K (for a sublease of a portion of the Premises) hereto;

(8 Tenant shall not then be in Default hereunder;
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(h) Such proposed transferee, assignee or sublessee’s use of the Premises shall be the same as the Permitted Use;
@) Landlord shall not be bound by any provision of any agreement pertaining to the Transfer, except for Landlord’s written consent

to the same;



G Tenant shall pay all transfer and other taxes, if any (including interest and penalties), assessed or payable for any Transfer;

k) Landlord’s consent (or waiver of its rights) for any Transfer shall not waive Landlord’s right to consent to any later Transfer;
) Tenant shall deliver to Landlord one executed copy of any and all written instruments evidencing or relating to the Transfer; and
(m) A list of Hazardous Materials (as defined in Section 22.7), certified by the proposed transferee, assignee or sublessee to be true

and correct, that the proposed transferee, assignee or sublessee intends to use or store in the Premises. Additionally, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord, on or
before the date any proposed transferee, assignee or sublessee takes occupancy of the Premises, all of the items relating to Hazardous Materials of such
proposed transferee, assignee or sublessee as described in Section 22.2.

30.5. Any Transfer that is not in compliance with the provisions of this Article 30 shall be void and shall, at the option of Landlord, terminate
this Lease (except for those provisions that, by their express terms, survive the expiration or earlier termination hereof).

30.6. The consent by Landlord to a Transfer shall not relieve Tenant or proposed transferee, assignee or sublessee from obtaining Landlord’s
consent to any further Transfer, nor shall it release Tenant or any proposed transferee, assignee or sublessee of Tenant from full and primary liability under
this Lease.

30.7. Notwithstanding any Transfer, Tenant shall remain fully and primarily liable for the payment of all Rent and other sums due or to become
due hereunder, and for the full performance of all other terms, conditions and covenants to be kept and performed by Tenant. The acceptance of Rent or any
other sum due hereunder, or the acceptance of performance of any other term, covenant or condition thereof, from any person or entity other than Tenant shall
not be deemed a waiver of any of the provisions of this Lease or a consent to any Transfer.

30.8. Other than in connection with an Exempt Transfer, if Tenant delivers to Landlord a Transfer Notice indicating a desire to transfer this
Lease to a proposed transferee, assignee or sublessee other than as provided within Section 30.4, then Landlord shall have the option, exercisable by giving
notice to Tenant at any time within ten (10) days after Landlord’s receipt of such Transfer Notice, to terminate this Lease as of the date specified in the
Transfer Notice as the Transfer Date, as to the portion of the Premises that is the subject of such Transfer Notice, except for those provisions that, by their
express terms, survive the expiration or earlier termination hereof. If Landlord exercises such option, then Tenant shall have the right to withdraw such
Transfer Notice by delivering to Landlord written notice of such election within five business (5)
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days after Landlord’s delivery of notice electing to exercise Landlord’s option to terminate this Lease. In the event Tenant withdraws the Transfer Notice as
provided in this Section 30.8, this Lease shall continue in full force and effect. No failure of Landlord to exercise its option to terminate this Lease shall be
deemed to be Landlord’s consent to a proposed Transfer.

30.9. If Tenant sublets the Premises or any portion thereof, Tenant hereby immediately and irrevocably assigns to Landlord, as security for
Tenant’s obligations under this Lease, all rent from any such subletting, and appoints Landlord as assignee and attorney-in-fact for Tenant, and Landlord (or a
receiver for Tenant appointed on Landlord’s application) may collect such rent and apply it toward Tenant’s obligations under this Lease; provided that,
during the pendency of a Default (as defined below) by Tenant that remains uncured after the expiration of any applicable notice and cure period, Tenant shall
have the right to collect such rent.

31. Subordination and Attornment.

31.1. This Lease shall be subject and subordinate to the lien of any mortgage, deed of trust, or lease in which Landlord is tenant now or hereafter
in force against the Building or the Project and to all advances made or hereafter to be made upon the security thereof without the necessity of the execution
and delivery of any further instruments on the part of Tenant to effectuate such subordination; provided that the Mortgagee (as defined below) agrees to
recognize this Lease and not disturb Tenant so long as Tenant is not in Default.

31.2. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall execute and deliver upon demand such further commercially reasonable instrument or
instruments evidencing such subordination of this Lease to the lien of any such mortgage or mortgages or deeds of trust or lease in which Landlord is tenant
as may be required by Landlord, so long as such instrument includes the recognition and non-disturbance provisions of Section 31.1 above, and does not
materially modify any of Tenant’s rights or obligations or Landlord’s obligations under this Lease in a way adverse to Landlord. If any such mortgagee,
beneficiary or landlord under a lease wherein Landlord is tenant (each, a “Mortgagee”) so elects, however, this Lease shall be deemed prior in lien to any such
lease, mortgage, or deed of trust upon or including the Premises regardless of date and Tenant shall execute a statement in writing to such effect at Landlord’s
request. If Tenant fails to execute any document required from Tenant under this Section within ten (10) business days after written request therefor, Tenant
hereby constitutes and appoints Landlord or its special attorney-in-fact to execute and deliver any such document or documents in the name of Tenant. Such
power is coupled with an interest and is irrevocable.

31.3. Upon written request of Landlord and opportunity for Tenant to review, Tenant agrees to execute any Lease amendments not materially
altering the terms of this Lease and not adversely modifying Tenant’s rights and obligations hereunder, if required by a mortgagee or beneficiary of a deed of

trust encumbering real property of which the Premises constitute a part incident to the financing of the real property of which the Premises constitute a part.

31.4. In the event any proceedings are brought for foreclosure, or in the event of the exercise of the power of sale under any mortgage or deed of
trust made by Landlord covering the Premises, Tenant shall at the election of the purchaser at such foreclosure or sale attorn to the
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purchaser upon any such foreclosure or sale and recognize such purchaser as Landlord under this Lease; provided such purchaser agrees to recognize this
Lease and not disturb Tenant so long as Tenant is not in Default.



31.5. Landlord agrees to obtain a subordination, nondisturbance and attornment agreement (“SNDA”) from any Lenders of Landlord that have a
lien on the Propject on such Lenders’ standard form, subject to commercially reasonable modifications requested by Tenant; provided that Tenant shall not be
required to execute an SNDA that materially modifies Tenant rights and obligations or Landlord’s obligations hereunder.

32. Defaults and Remedies.

32.1. Late payment by Tenant to Landlord of Rent and other sums due shall cause Landlord to incur costs not contemplated by this Lease, the
exact amount of which shall be extremely difficult and impracticable to ascertain. Such costs include, but are not limited to, processing and accounting
charges and late charges that may be imposed on Landlord by the terms of any mortgage or trust deed covering the Premises. Therefore, if any installment of
Rent due from Tenant is not received by Landlord five (5) business days after the date such payment is due, Tenant shall pay to Landlord an additional sum of
three percent (3%) of the overdue Rent as a late charge. The parties agree that this late charge represents a fair and reasonable estimate of the costs that
Landlord shall incur by reason of late payment by Tenant. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord agrees not to impose a late charge on the first delinquent
payment of Base Rent or any other payment constituting Rent which may occur during any given calendar year of the Term, provided such delinquent
payment is received by Landlord within three (3) calendar days after Tenant’s receipt of Landlord’s delinquency notice.

32.2. No payment by Tenant or receipt by Landlord of a lesser amount than the Rent payment herein stipulated shall be deemed to be other than
on account of the Rent, nor shall any endorsement or statement on any check or any letter accompanying any check or payment as Rent be deemed an accord
and satisfaction, and Landlord may accept such check or payment without prejudice to Landlord’s right to recover the balance of such Rent or pursue any
other remedy provided in this Lease or in equity or at law. If a dispute shall arise as to any amount or sum of money to be paid by Tenant to Landlord
hereunder, Tenant shall have the right to make payment “under protest,” such payment shall not be regarded as a voluntary payment, and there shall survive
the right on the part of Tenant to institute suit for recovery of the payment paid under protest.

32.3. If Tenant fails to pay any sum of money required to be paid by it hereunder, or shall fail to perform any other act on its part to be
performed hereunder, Landlord may, without waiving or releasing Tenant from any obligations of Tenant, but shall not be obligated to, make such payment or
perform such act; provided that Tenant does cure such failure within a reasonable time (which shall be no longer than five (5) business days in the case of
monetary defaults and thirty (30) days in the case of non-monetary defaults) after Tenant’s receipt of written notice of such default, which notice must specify
the nature of Tenant’s failure; provided, however, that if the nature of Tenant’s obligation is such that more than thirty (30) days are required for its
performance related to a non-monetary default, then Tenant shall not be in default
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if Tenant commences performance within such thirty (30) day period and thereafter diligently prosecutes the same to completion; or provided that such failure
by Tenant unreasonably interfered with the use of the Building by any other tenant or with the efficient operation of the Building, or resulted or could have
resulted in a violation of Applicable Laws or the cancellation of an insurance policy maintained by Landlord. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of
an emergency, Landlord shall have the right to enter the Premises and act in accordance with its rights (but subject to Section 15.4). In addition to the late
charge described in Section 32.1, Tenant shall pay to Landlord as Additional Rent all sums so paid or incurred by Landlord, together with interest thereon,
from the date such sums were paid or incurred, at the Default Rate.

32.4. The occurrence of any one or more of the following events shall constitute a “Default” hereunder by Tenant:
(a) If Tenant fails to maintain the Premises as required by this Lease;
(b) The failure by Tenant to make any payment of Rent, as and when due, or to satisfy its obligations under Article 20, where such

failure shall continue for a period of five (5) business days after written notice thereof from Landlord to Tenant;

(o) The failure by Tenant to observe or perform any obligation or covenant contained herein (other than described in Subsections
32.4(a) and 32.4(b)) to be performed by Tenant, where such failure shall continue for a period of thirty (30) days after written notice thereof from Landlord to
Tenant; provided that, if the nature of Tenant’s default is such that it reasonably requires more than thirty (30) days to cure, Tenant shall not be deemed to be
in Default if Tenant shall commence such cure within said thirty (30) day period and thereafter diligently prosecute the same to completion;

(d) Tenant makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors;

(e) A receiver, trustee or custodian is appointed to or does take title, possession or control of all or substantially all of Tenant’s assets
and such action is not dismissed or vacated within one hundred twenty (120) days;

® Tenant files a voluntary petition under the United States Bankruptcy Code or any successor statute (as the same may be amended
from time to time, the “Bankruptcy Code™) or an order for relief is entered against Tenant pursuant to a voluntary or involuntary proceeding commenced

under any chapter of the Bankruptcy Code that is not vacated within one hundred twenty (120) days of entry;

(g) Any involuntary petition if filed against Tenant under any chapter of the Bankruptcy Code and is not dismissed within one
hundred twenty (120) days;

(h) Failure to deliver an estoppel certificate in accordance with Article 21, which is not cured within five (5) business days from
receipt of a default notice in connection therewith;
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@) Tenant’s interest in this Lease is attached, executed upon or otherwise judicially seized and such action is not released within one
hundred twenty (120) days of the action; or

Notices given under this Section 32.4 shall specify the alleged default and shall demand that Tenant perform the provisions of this Lease or
pay the Rent that is in arrears, as the case may be, within the applicable period of time, or quit the Premises. No such notice shall be deemed a forfeiture or a



termination of this Lease unless Landlord elects otherwise in such notice. The foregoing notice and cure provisions shall be inclusive of and not in addition to
the notices and cure periods provided for in RCW 59.12, as now or hereafter amended, or any legislation in lieu or substitution thereof.

32.5. In the event of a Default by Tenant, and at any time thereafter, with or without notice or demand and without limiting Landlord in the
exercise of any right or remedy that Landlord may have, Landlord shall be entitled to terminate Tenant’s right to possession of the Premises by any lawful
means, in which case this Lease shall terminate (except for those provisions that, by their express terms, survive the expiration or earlier termination hereof)
and Tenant shall immediately surrender possession of the Premises to Landlord. In such event, Landlord shall have the immediate right to re-enter and
remove all persons and property, and such property may be removed and stored in a public warehouse or elsewhere at the cost and for the account of Tenant,
all without service of notice or resort to legal process and without being deemed guilty of trespass or becoming liable for any loss or damage that may be
occasioned thereby. In the event that Landlord shall elect to so terminate this Lease, then Landlord shall be entitled to recover from Tenant all damages
incurred by Landlord by reason of Tenant’s default, including, without limitation:

(a) The worth at the time of award of any unpaid Rent that had accrued at the time of such termination; plus

(b) The worth at the time of award of the amount by which the unpaid Rent that would have accrued during the period commencing
with termination of the Lease and ending at the time of award exceeds that portion of the loss of Landlord’s rental income from the Premises that Tenant
proves to Landlord’s reasonable satisfaction could have been reasonably avoided; plus

(o) The worth at the time of award of the amount by which the unpaid Rent for the balance of the Term after the time of award
exceeds that portion of the loss of Landlord’s rental income from the Premises that Tenant proves to Landlord’s reasonable satisfaction could have been

reasonably avoided; plus

(d) Any other amount necessary to compensate Landlord for all damages caused by Tenant’s failure to perform its obligations under
this Lease; plus

(e) At Landlord’s election, such other amounts in addition to or in lieu of the foregoing as may be permitted from time to time by
Applicable Laws, but specifically excluding
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all special, consequential, exemplary or punitive damages, or Claims for lost profits or loss of business opportunity, unless specifically permitted by this
Section 32.5.

As used in Subsections 32.5(a) and 32.5(b), “worth at the time of award” shall be computed by allowing interest at the Default Rate. As used in Subsection
32.5(c), the “worth at the time of the award” shall be computed by taking the present value of such amount, using the Default Rate at the time of the award.

32.6. In addition to any other remedies available to Landlord at law or in equity and under this Lease (but subject to the limitation in
Section 32.5(e)), Landlord may continue this Lease in effect after Tenant’s Default and recover Rent as it becomes due. In addition, Landlord shall not be
liable in any way whatsoever for its failure or refusal to relet the Premises. For purposes of this Section 32.6, the following acts by Landlord will not
constitute the termination of Tenant’s right to possession of the Premises:

(a) Acts of maintenance or preservation or efforts to relet the Premises, including, but not limited to, alterations, remodeling,
redecorating, repairs, replacements or painting as Landlord shall consider advisable for the purpose of reletting the Premises or any part thereof; or

b) The appointment of a receiver upon the initiative of Landlord to protect Landlord’s interest under this Lease or in the Premises.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of a Default by Tenant, Landlord may elect at any time to terminate this Lease (except for those provisions that,
by their express terms, survive the expiration or earlier termination hereof) and to recover damages to which Landlord is entitled, unless Tenant has cured
such Default prior to the effective date of such termination.

32.7. If Landlord does not elect to terminate this Lease as provided in Section 32.5, then Landlord may, from time to time, recover all Rent as it
becomes due under this Lease. At any time thereafter, Landlord may elect to terminate this Lease (except for those provisions that, by their express terms,
survive the expiration or earlier termination hereof) and to recover damages to which Landlord is entitled.

32.8. In the event Landlord elects to terminate this Lease and relet the Premises, Landlord may execute any new lease in its own name; provided
that this Lease shall thereafter be deemed terminated and Landlord’s remedies shall be limited to those stated in this Article 32. Tenant hereunder shall have

no right or authority whatsoever to collect any Rent from such tenant. The proceeds of any such reletting shall be applied as follows:

(a) First, to the payment of any indebtedness other than Rent due hereunder from Tenant to Landlord, including, without limitation,
storage charges or brokerage commissions owing from Tenant to Landlord as the result of such reletting;

(b) Second, to the payment of the costs and expenses of reletting the Premises, including (i) alterations and repairs that Landlord
deems reasonably necessary and advisable and
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(ii) reasonable attorneys’ fees, charges and disbursements incurred by Landlord in connection with the retaking of the Premises and such reletting;
() Third, to the payment of Rent and other charges due and unpaid hereunder; and

(d) Fourth, to the payment of future Rent and other damages payable by Tenant under this Lease.



32.9. Except as stated in Section 32.5, all of Landlord’s rights, options and remedies hereunder shall be construed and held to be nonexclusive
and cumulative. Landlord shall have the right to pursue any one or all of such remedies, or any other remedy or relief that may be provided by Applicable
Laws, whether or not stated in this Lease. No waiver of any default of Tenant hereunder shall be implied from any acceptance by Landlord of any Rent or
other payments due hereunder or any omission by Landlord to take any action on account of such default if such default persists or is repeated, and no express
waiver shall affect defaults other than as specified in said waiver.

32.10. Landlord’s termination of (a) this Lease or (b) Tenant’s right to possession of the Premises shall not relieve Tenant of any liability to
Landlord that has previously accrued or that shall arise based upon events that occurred prior to the later to occur of (i) the date of Lease termination or
(ii) the date Tenant surrenders possession of the Premises.

32.11.  To the extent permitted by Applicable Laws, Tenant waives any and all rights of redemption granted by or under any present or future
Applicable Laws if Tenant is evicted or dispossessed for any cause, or if Landlord obtains possession of the Premises due to Tenant’s default hereunder or
otherwise.

32.12.  Landlord shall not be in default under this Lease unless Landlord fails to perform obligations required of Landlord within a reasonable
time (which shall be no longer than five (5) business days in the case of monetary defaults and thirty (30) days in the case of non-monetary defaults) after
Landlord’s receipt of written notice of such default, which notice must specify the nature of Landlord’s failure; provided, however, that if the nature of
Landlord’s obligation is such that more than thirty (30) days are required for its performance related to a non-monetary default, then Landlord shall not be in
default if Landlord commences performance within such thirty (30) day period and thereafter diligently prosecutes the same to completion. If Landlord is in
default and has not cured within the time periods set forth herein, Tenant shall have all rights and remedies at law or in equity, including without limitation
(a) the right to proceed in equity or at law to compel Landlord to perform its obligations or (b) to cure the underlying default and have the right to be
reimbursed for the sum it reasonably expends to effect such cure, in which event Landlord shall reimburse Tenant within thirty (30) days after Tenant’s
written demand (along with supporting documentation reasonably acceptable to Landlord) therefor (and such costs shall constitute Operating Expenses), with
interest accruing thereafter at the Default Rate.

32.13.  In the event of any default by Landlord, Tenant shall give notice by nationally recognized overnight courier (e.g., Federal Express) or by
registered or certified mail to any (a)
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beneficiary of a deed of trust or (b) mortgagee under a mortgage covering the Premises, the Building or the Project and to any landlord of any lease of land
upon or within which the Premises, the Building or the Project is located, and shall offer such beneficiary, mortgagee or landlord the same cure period
afforded to Landlord; provided that Landlord shall furnish to Tenant in writing, upon written request by Tenant, the names and addresses of all such persons
who are to receive such notices.

33. Bankruptcy. In the event a debtor, trustee or debtor in possession under the Bankruptcy Code, or another person with similar rights, duties and
powers under any other Applicable Laws, proposes to cure any default under this Lease or to assume or assign this Lease and is obliged to provide adequate
assurance to Landlord that (a) a default shall be cured, (b) Landlord shall be compensated for its damages arising from any breach of this Lease and (c) future
performance of Tenant’s obligations under this Lease shall occur, then such adequate assurances shall include any or all of the following, as designated by
Landlord in its sole and absolute discretion:

33.1. Those acts specified in the Bankruptcy Code or other Applicable Laws as included within the meaning of “adequate assurance,” even if
this Lease does not concern a shopping center or other facility described in such Applicable Laws;

33.2. A prompt cash payment to compensate Landlord for any monetary defaults or actual damages arising directly from a breach of this Lease;
33.3. A cash deposit in an amount at least equal to the then-current amount of the Security Deposit; or
33.4. The assumption or assignment of all of Tenant’s interest and obligations under this Lease.
34. Brokers.
34.1. Tenant represents and warrants that it has had no dealings with any real estate broker or agent in connection with the negotiation of this

Lease other than EDG Commercial Real Estate and CB Richard Ellis (collectively, “Broker”), and that it knows of no other real estate broker or agent that is
or might be entitled to a commission in connection with this Lease. Landlord shall compensate Broker in relation to this Lease pursuant to a separate
agreement between Landlord and Broker.

34.2. Tenant represents and warrants that no broker or agent has made any representation or warranty relied upon by Tenant in Tenant’s decision
to enter into this Lease, other than as contained in this Lease.

34.3. Tenant acknowledges and agrees that the employment of brokers by Landlord is for the purpose of solicitation of offers of leases from
prospective tenants and that no authority is granted to any broker to furnish any representation (written or oral) or warranty from Landlord unless expressly
contained within this Lease. Landlord is executing this Lease in reliance upon Tenant’s representations, warranties and agreements contained within Sections
34.1 and 34.2.
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34.4. Landlord and Tenant agree to indemnify, save, defend and hold the other harmless from any and all cost or liability for compensation
claimed by any broker or agent other than Broker employed or engaged by it or claiming to have been employed or engaged by it.

35. Definition of Landlord. With regard to obligations imposed upon Landlord pursuant to this Lease, the term “Landlord,” as used in this Lease, shall
refer only to Landlord or Landlord’s then-current successor-in-interest. In the event of any transfer, assignment or conveyance of Landlord’s entire interest in



this Lease and in Landlord’s fee title to or leasehold interest in the entirety of the Property, as applicable, Landlord herein named (and in case of any
subsequent transfers or conveyances, the subsequent Landlord) shall be automatically freed and relieved, from and after the date of such transfer, assignment
or conveyance, from all liability for the performance of any covenants or obligations contained in this Lease thereafter to be performed by Landlord so long
as the transferee, assignee or conveyee of Landlord’s in this Lease or in Landlord’s fee title to or leasehold interest in the Property, as applicable, shall be
deemed to have assumed and agreed to observe and perform any and all covenants and obligations of Landlord hereunder during the tenure of its interest in
the Lease or the Property. Landlord or any subsequent Landlord may transfer its interest in the Premises or this Lease without Tenant’s consent, but agrees to
give Tenant prompt notice of such transfer.

36. Limitation of Landlord’s Liability.

36.1. If Landlord is in default under this Lease and, as a consequence, Tenant recovers a monetary judgment against Landlord, the judgment
shall be satisfied only out of (a) the proceeds of sale received on execution of the judgment and levy against the right, title and interest of Landlord in the
Building and the Project of which the Premises are a part, (b) rent, proceeds or other income from such real property receivable by Landlord or (c) the
consideration received by Landlord from the sale, financing, refinancing or other disposition of all or any part of Landlord’s right, title or interest in the
Building or the Project of which the Premises are a part.

36.2. Landlord shall not be personally liable for any deficiency under this Lease. If Landlord is a partnership or joint venture, then the partners
of such partnership shall not be personally liable for Landlord’s obligations under this Lease, and no partner of Landlord shall be sued or named as a party in
any suit or action, and service of process shall not be made against any partner of Landlord except as may be necessary to secure jurisdiction of the
partnership or joint venture. If Landlord is a corporation, then the shareholders, directors, officers, employees and agents of such corporation shall not be
personally liable for Landlord’s obligations under this Lease, and no shareholder, director, officer, employee or agent of Landlord shall be sued or named as a
party in any suit or action, and service of process shall not be made against any shareholder, director, officer, employee or agent of Landlord except as may be
necessary to secure jurisdiction of the corporation. If Landlord is a limited liability company, then the members of such limited liability company shall not be
personally liable for Landlord’s obligations under this Lease, and no member of Landlord shall be sued or named as a party in any suit or action, and service
of process shall not be made against any member of Landlord except as may be necessary to secure jurisdiction of the limited liability company. No partner,
shareholder, director, employee, member or agent of Landlord shall be required to answer or otherwise plead to any service of process, except as may be
necessary to secure jurisdiction of the
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Landlord, and no judgment shall be taken or writ of execution levied against the assets of any partner, shareholder, director, employee or agent of Landlord.

36.3. Each of the covenants and agreements of this Article 36 shall be applicable to any covenant or agreement either expressly contained in this
Lease or imposed by Applicable Laws and shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease.

37. Joint and Several Obligations. If more than one person or entity executes this Lease as Tenant, then:

37.1. Each of them is jointly and severally liable for the keeping, observing and performing of all of the terms, covenants, conditions, provisions
and agreements of this Lease to be kept, observed or performed by Tenant; and

37.2. The term “Tenant,” as used in this Lease shall mean and include each of them, jointly and severally. The act of, notice from, notice to,
refund to, or signature of any one or more of them with respect to the tenancy under this Lease, including, without limitation, any renewal, extension,
expiration, termination or modification of this Lease, shall be binding upon each and all of the persons executing this Lease as Tenant with the same force and
effect as if each and all of them had so acted, so given or received such notice or refund, or so signed.

38. Authority.

38.1. Tenant guarantees, warrants and represents that (a) Tenant is duly incorporated or otherwise established or formed and validly existing
under the laws of its state of incorporation, establishment or formation, (b) Tenant has and is duly qualified to do business in the state in which the Property is
located, (c) Tenant has full corporate, partnership, trust, association or other appropriate power and authority to enter into this Lease and to perform all
Tenant’s obligations hereunder and (d) each person (and all of the persons if more than one signs) signing this Lease on behalf of Tenant is duly and validly
authorized to do so.

38.2. Landlord guarantees, warrants and represents that (a) Landlord is duly incorporated or otherwise established or formed and validly existing
under the laws of its state of incorporation, establishment or formation, (b) Landlord has and is duly qualified to do business in the state in which the Property
is located, (c) Landlord has full corporate, partnership, trust, association or other appropriate power and authority to enter into this Lease and to perform all
Landlord’s obligations hereunder and (d) each person (and all of the persons if more than one signs) signing this Lease on behalf of Landlord is duly and
validly authorized to do so

39. Confidentiality. Tenant shall keep the terms and conditions of this Lease confidential and shall not (a) disclose to any third party any terms or
conditions of this Lease or any other Lease-related document (including, without limitation, subleases, assignments, work letters, construction contracts,
letters of credit, subordination agreements, non-disturbance agreements, brokerage agreements or estoppels) or (b) provide to any third party an original or
copy of this Lease (or any Lease-related document). Landlord shall not release to any third party any non-public financial information or non-public
information about Tenant’s ownership structure that
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Tenant gives Landlord. Notwithstanding the foregoing, confidential information under this Section may be released by Landlord or Tenant under the
following circumstances: (x) if required by Applicable Laws (to the extent and as determined by the releasing party’s legal counsel) or in any judicial
proceeding; provided that the releasing party has given the other party reasonable notice of such requirement, if feasible, (y) to a party’s attorneys,
accountants, brokers and other bona fide consultants or advisers; provided such third parties agree to be bound by this Section or (z) to bona fide prospective
assignees or subtenants of this Lease; provided they agree in writing to be bound by this Section.




40. Notices. Any notice, consent, demand, bill, statement or other communication required or permitted to be given hereunder shall be in writing and
shall be given by personal delivery, overnight delivery with a reputable nationwide overnight delivery service, or certified mail (return receipt requested), and
if given by personal delivery, shall be deemed delivered upon receipt; if given by overnight delivery or certified mail (return receipt requested), shall be
deemed delivered on the date of delivery or date delivery is first refused. Any notices given pursuant to this Lease shall be addressed to Landlord or Tenant at
the addresses shown in Sections 2.9 and 2.10, respectively, with a copy delivered to Tenant at the Premises. Either party may, by notice to the other given
pursuant to this Section, specify additional or different street addresses for notice purposes.

41. Miscellaneous.

41.1. Landlord reserves the right to change the name of the Project or the Building in its sole discretion; provided that, during the Term,
Landlord shall not name the Project or the Building for any of Tenant’s major competitors identified on Exhibit G attached hereto. Such limitation shall not
apply when (a) Tenant is not occupying at least a portion of the Premises or (b) Tenant has received notice of a default with regard to a monetary or material
non-monetary obligation under this Lease.

41.2. To induce Landlord to enter into this Lease, in the event that Tenant is no longer a publicly traded company, Tenant agrees that it shall
promptly furnish to Landlord, from time to time, upon Landlord’s written request, the most recent audited year-end financial statements reflecting Tenant’s
current financial condition. Tenant shall, within ninety (90) days after the end of Tenant’s financial year, furnish Landlord with a certified copy of Tenant’s
audited (if otherwise prepared by Tenant) year-end financial statements for the previous year. Tenant represents and warrants that all financial statements,
records and information furnished by Tenant to Landlord in connection with this Lease are true, correct and complete in all respects.

41.3. Where applicable in this Lease, the singular includes the plural and the masculine or neuter includes the masculine, feminine and neuter.
The section headings of this Lease are not a part of this Lease and shall have no effect upon the construction or interpretation of any part hereof.

41.4. If either party commences an action against the other party arising out of or in connection with this Lease, then the substantially prevailing
party shall be entitled to have and
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recover from the other party reasonable attorneys’ fees, charges and disbursements and costs of suit.

41.5. Submission of this instrument for examination or signature by Tenant does not constitute a reservation of or option for a lease, and shall
not be effective as a lease or otherwise until execution by and delivery to both Landlord and Tenant.

41.6. Time is of the essence with respect to the performance of every provision of this Lease in which time of performance is a factor.
41.7. Each provision of this Lease performable by Tenant shall be deemed both a covenant and a condition.
41.8. Whenever consent or approval of either party is required, that party shall not unreasonably withhold such consent or approval, except as

may be expressly set forth to the contrary.

41.9. The terms of this Lease are intended by the parties as a final expression of their agreement with respect to the terms as are included herein,
and may not be contradicted by evidence of any prior or contemporaneous agreement.

41.10.  Any provision of this Lease that shall prove to be invalid, void or illegal shall in no way affect, impair or invalidate any other provision
hereof, and all other provisions of this Lease shall remain in full force and effect and shall be interpreted as if the invalid, void or illegal provision did not
exist.

41.11.  Landlord may, but shall not be obligated to, record a short form or memorandum hereof without Tenant’s consent. Neither party shall
record this Lease. Tenant shall be responsible for the cost of recording any short form or memorandum of this Lease, including any transfer or other taxes
incurred in connection with said recordation.

41.12.  The language in all parts of this Lease shall be in all cases construed as a whole according to its fair meaning and not strictly for or against
either Landlord or Tenant.

41.13.  Each of the covenants, conditions and agreements herein contained shall inure to the benefit of and shall apply to and be binding upon the
parties hereto and their respective heirs; legatees; devisees; executors; administrators; and permitted successors, assigns, sublessees. Nothing in this

Section 41.13 shall in any way alter the provisions of this Lease restricting assignment or subletting.

41.14.  This Lease shall be governed by, construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State in which the Premises are located,
without regard to such State’s conflict of law principles.

41.15.  Each party guarantees, warrants and represents that the individual or individuals signing this Lease on its behalf have the power, authority
and legal capacity to sign this Lease on behalf of and to bind all entities, corporations, partnerships, limited liability companies, joint
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venturers or other organizations and entities on whose behalf said individual or individuals have signed.

41.16.  This Lease may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which, when taken together, shall constitute one and the same document.



41.17.  No provision of this Lease may be modified, amended or supplemented except by an agreement in writing signed by Landlord and Tenant.
The waiver by Landlord of any breach by Tenant of any term, covenant or condition herein contained shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any subsequent
breach of the same or any other term, covenant or condition herein contained.

41.18.  To the extent permitted by Applicable Laws, the parties waive trial by jury in any action, proceeding or counterclaim brought by the other
party hereto related to matters arising out of or in any way connected with this Lease; the relationship between Landlord and Tenant; Tenant’s use or
occupancy of the Premises, the Building or the Project; or any claim of injury or damage related to this Lease or the Premises, the Building or the Project.
The parties hereby consent to the jurisdiction of the courts in the county in which the Premises are located, and agree that such venue is not now and will not
in the future be an inconvenient forum.
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IN WITNESS WHEREUOF, the parties hereto have executed this Lease as of the date first above written.
LANDLORD:

BMR-3450 MONTE VILLA PARKWAY LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

By: /s/ Kevin M. Simonsen
Name: Kevin M. Simonsen
Title: VP, Real Estate Counsel

TENANT:

AVI BIOPHARMA, INC.,
an Oregon corporation

By: /s/ Leslie Hudson, Ph.D.
Name: Dr. L. Hudson
Title: President and CEO

EXHIBIT A-1

PROPERTY L EGAL DESCRIPTION

That certain real property located in the City of Bothell, County of Snohomish, State of Washington, legally described as Lot 7, Quadrant Monte Villa Center,
according to the plat thereof recorded in Volume 54 of Plats, pages 165 through 169, inclusive, records of Snohomish County, Washington.
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EXHIBIT A-2

PREMISES SPACE PLAN
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EXHIBIT B
WORK LETTER

This Work Letter (this “Work Letter”) is made and entered into as of the 24" day of July, 2009, by and between BMR-3450 MONTE VILLA
PARKWAY LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Landlord”), and AVI BIOPHARMA, INC., an Oregon corporation (“Tenant”), and is attached to
and made a part of that certain Lease dated as of July 24, 2009 (as the same may be amended, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified
from time to time, the “Lease”), by and between Landlord and Tenant for the Premises located at 3450 Monte Villa Parkway in Bothell, Washington. All
capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given them in the Lease.

1. General Requirements.

1.1. Authorized Representatives.



(a) Landlord designates, as Landlord’s authorized representative (“Landlord’s Authorized Representative), (a) Pico Mina as the
person authorized to initial plans, drawings and approvals pursuant to this Work Letter and (b) John Bonanno as the person authorized to initial plans,
drawings, approvals and to sign change orders pursuant to this Work Letter and any amendments to this Work Letter or the Lease. Tenant shall not be
obligated to respond to or act upon any such item until such item has been initialed or signed (as applicable) by the appropriate Landlord’s Authorized
Representative. Landlord may change either Landlord’s Authorized Representative upon one (1) business day’s prior written notice to Tenant.

(b) Tenant designates Mark Reddish (“Tenant’s Authorized Representative”) as the person authorized to initial and sign all plans,
drawings, change orders and approvals pursuant to this Work Letter. Landlord shall not be obligated to respond to or act upon any such item until such item
has been initialed or signed (as applicable) by Tenant’s Authorized Representative. Tenant may change Tenant’s Authorized Representative upon one
(1) business day’s prior written notice to Landlord.

1.2 Schedule. The schedule for design and development of the Tenant Improvements (as hereinafter defined), including, without limitation,
the time periods for preparation and review of construction documents, approvals and performance, shall be in accordance with the schedule attached as
Attachment 3 hereto (the “Schedule”). The Schedule shall be subject to adjustment as mutually agreed upon in writing by the parties, or as provided in this
Work Letter.

1.3. Tenant’s Architects, Contractors and Consultants. The architect, engineering consultants, design team, general contractor and
subcontractors responsible for the construction of the Tenant Improvements shall be selected by Tenant and approved by Landlord, which approval Landlord
shall not unreasonably withhold, condition or delay. Landlord agrees that it cannot condition its consent on a requirement that Tenant use union labor. All
Tenant contracts related to the Tenant Improvements shall provide that Tenant may assign such contracts to Landlord and Landlord’s tenants at any time.
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2. Tenant Improvements. All Tenant Improvements shall be performed by Tenant’s contractor, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense (subject to Landlord’s
obligations with respect to any portion of the TI Allowance and in accordance with the plans attached as Attachment 4 hereto (the “Construction Plans”), the
Lease and this Work Letter. Excess TI Costs shall be handled in accordance with Section 4.4 of the Lease. If Tenant fails to pay, or is late in paying, any sum
due to Landlord under Section 4.4 of the Lease or this Exhibit B, then Landlord shall have all of the rights and remedies set forth in the Lease for nonpayment
of Rent (including, but not limited to, the right to interest and the right to assess a late charge), and for purposes of any litigation instituted with regard to such
amounts the same shall be considered Rent. All material and equipment furnished by Tenant or its contractors as the Tenant Improvements shall be new or
“like new;” the Tenant Improvements shall be performed in a first-class, workmanlike manner; and the quality of the Tenant Improvements shall be of a
nature and character not less than Landlord’s building standards. Promptly after the Effective Date, two (2) copies of such Construction Plans shall be
initialed and dated by Landlord and Tenant, and Tenant shall promptly submit such Construction Plans to all appropriate Governmental Authorities for
approval. The Landlord has approved the Construction Plans attached hereto. The Construction Plans, as approved by the Governmental Authorities, and all
change orders specifically permitted by this Work Letter, are referred to herein as the “Approved Plans.”

2.1. Changes to the Tenant Improvements. Any changes to the Construction Plans or the Approved Plans (each, a “Change™) shall be requested
and instituted in accordance with the provisions of this Article 2 and shall be subject to the written approval of the non-requesting party in accordance with
this Work Letter.

(a) Change Request. Either Landlord or Tenant may request Changes after Landlord approves the Construction Plans by notifying the
other party thereof in writing in substantially the same form as the AIA standard change order form (a “Change Request”), which Change Request shall detail
the nature and extent of any requested Changes, including, without limitation, (a) the Change, (b) the party required to perform the Change and (c) any
modification of the Construction Plans or the Approved Plans (as applicable) and the Schedule, as applicable, necessitated by the Change. If the nature of a
Change requires revisions to the Construction Plans or the Approved Plans, then the requesting party shall be solely responsible for the cost and expense of
such revisions. Change Requests shall be signed by the requesting party’s Authorized Representative.

(b) Approval of Changes. All Change Requests shall be subject to the other party’s prior written approval, which approval shall not
be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. The non-requesting party shall have five (5) business days after receipt of a Change Request to notify the
requesting party in writing of the non-requesting party’s decision either to approve or object to the Change Request. The non-requesting party’s failure to
respond within such five (5) business day period shall be deemed approval by the non-requesting party.

2.2. Preparation of Estimates. Tenant shall, before proceeding with any Change, using its best efforts, prepare as soon as is reasonably
practicable (but in no event more than five (5) business days after delivering a Change Request to Landlord or receipt of a Change Request) an estimate of the
increased costs or savings that would result from such Change, as well as an estimate on such Change’s effects on the Schedule. Landlord shall have five
(5) business days
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after receipt of such information from Tenant to (a) in the case of a Tenant-initiated Change Request, approve or reject such Change Request in writing, or
(b) in the case of a Landlord-initiated Change Request, notify Tenant in writing of Landlord’s decision either to proceed with or abandon the Landlord-
initiated Change Request.

3. Completion of Tenant Improvements. Tenant, at its sole cost and expense (except for the TT Allowance shall perform and complete the Tenant
Improvements in all respects (a) in substantial conformance with the Approved Plans, (b) otherwise in compliance with provisions of the Lease and this Work
Letter and (c) in accordance with Applicable Laws, the requirements of Tenant’s insurance carriers, the requirements of Landlord’s insurance carriers (to the
extent Landlord provides its insurance carriers’ requirements to Tenant) and the board of fire underwriters having jurisdiction over the Premises. The Tenant
Improvements shall be deemed completed at such time as Tenant shall furnish to Landlord (v) evidence satisfactory to Landlord that (i) all Tenant
Improvements have been completed and paid for in full (which shall be evidenced by the architect’s certificate of completion and the general contractor’s and
each subcontractor’s and material supplier’s final unconditional waivers and releases of liens, each in a form reasonably acceptable to Owner and complying
with Applicable Laws), (ii) all Tenant Improvements have been accepted by Landlord, (iii) any and all liens related to the Tenant Improvements have either
been discharged of record (by payment, bond, order of a court of competent jurisdiction or otherwise) or waived by the party filing such lien and (iv) no
security interests relating to the Tenant Improvements are outstanding, (w) all certifications and approvals with respect to the Tenant Improvements that may



be required from any Governmental Authority and any board of fire underwriters or similar body for the use and occupancy of the Premises, (x) certificates of
insurance required by the Lease to be purchased and maintained by Tenant, (y) an affidavit from Tenant’s architect certifying that all work performed in, on or
about the Premises is in accordance with the Approved Plans and (z) complete drawing print sets and electronic CADD files on disc of all contract documents
for work performed by their architect and engineers in relation to the Tenant Improvements. If the cost of the Tenant Improvements is reasonably anticipated
by Landlord to exceed the TI Allowance, Tenant shall pay the Excess TI Costs pari passu with Landlord. If Tenant fails to pay, or is late in paying, any sum
due to Landlord under this Exhibit B, then Landlord shall have all of the rights and remedies set forth in the Lease for nonpayment of Rent (including, but not
limited to, the right to interest and the right to assess a late charge), and for purposes of any litigation instituted with regard to such amounts the same shall be
considered Rent.

4, Insurance.

4.1. Property Insurance. At all times during the period beginning with commencement of construction of the Tenant Improvements and ending
with final completion of the Tenant Improvements and, Tenant shall maintain, or cause to be maintained (in addition to the insurance required of Tenant
pursuant to the Lease), property insurance insuring Landlord and its affiliates, agents and employees, as their interests may appear. Such policy shall, on a
completed values basis for the full insurable value at all times, insure against loss or damage by fire, vandalism and malicious mischief and other such risks as
are customarily covered by the so-called “broad form extended coverage endorsement” upon all Tenant Improvements and the general contractor’s and any
subcontractors’ machinery, tools and equipment, all while each forms a part of, or is
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contained in, the Tenant Improvements or any temporary structures on the Premises, or is adjacent thereto. Tenant agrees to pay any deductible, and Landlord
is not responsible for any deductible, for a claim under such insurance. Said property insurance shall contain an express waiver of any right of subrogation by
the insurer against Landlord and its affiliates, agents and employees, and shall name Landlord and its affiliates as loss payees as their interests may appear.

4.2, Workers” Compensation Insurance. At all times during the period of construction of the Tenant Improvements, Tenant shall, or shall cause
its contractors or subcontractors to, maintain statutory workers’ compensation insurance as required by Applicable Laws.

4.3. Bonding Requirements. Tenant’s contractors performing the Tenant Improvements shall not be required to obtain completion and lien
indemnity bonds.

5. Liability. Tenant assumes sole responsibility and liability for any and all injuries or the death of any persons, including Tenant’s contractors and
subcontractors and their respective employees, and for any and all damages to property caused by, resulting from or arising out of any act or omission on the
part of Tenant, Tenant’s contractors or subcontractors, or their respective employees in the prosecution of the Tenant Improvements. Tenant agrees to
indemnify, defend, protect and save free and harmless Landlord and Landlord’s affiliates, agents and employees from and against all losses and expenses,
including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses, that Landlord may incur as the result of claims or lawsuits due to, because of, or arising out of any and all
such injuries, death or damage, whether real or alleged, and Tenant and Tenant’s contractors and subcontractors shall assume and defend at their sole cost and
expense all such claims or lawsuits; provided, however, that nothing contained in this Work Letter shall be deemed to indemnify or otherwise hold Landlord
harmless from or against liability caused by Landlord’s gross negligence or willful misconduct. Any deficiency in design or construction of the Tenant
Improvements shall be solely the responsibility of Tenant, notwithstanding the fact that Landlord may have approved of the same in writing.

6. TI Allowance.

6.1. Application of TT Allowance. Landlord shall contribute the TT Allowance toward the costs and expenses incurred in connection with the
performance of the Tenant Improvements, in accordance with Article 4 of the Lease. If the entire TI Allowance is not applied toward or reserved for the costs
of the Tenant Improvements, then Tenant shall not be entitled to a credit of such unused portion of the TI Allowance. Tenant may apply the TI Allowance for
the payment of construction and other costs in accordance with the terms and provisions of the Lease.

6.2. Approval of Budget for the Tenant Improvements. The approved budget for the Tenant Improvements (the “Approved Budget”) is

attached as Attachment 5 hereto. The TT Allowance may be applied to the cost of installing temporary submeters for utilities serving the Premises in
accordance with the Lease, even if Tenant causes such work to be done prior to agreement on the Approved Budget.

6.3. Advance Requests. Upon submission by Tenant to Landlord of (a) a statement (an “Advance Request”) setting forth the total amount of
the TI Allowance requested, (b) a

B-4

summary of the Tenant Improvements performed using AIA standard form Application for Payment (G 702) executed by the general contractor and by the
architect and (c) lien releases from the general contractor and each subcontractor and material supplier with respect to the Tenant Improvements performed
that correspond to the Advance Request, then Landlord shall, within thirty (30) days following receipt by Landlord of an Advance Request and the
accompanying materials required by this Section 6.3, pay to the applicable contractors, subcontractors and material suppliers or to Tenant (for reimbursement
for payments made by Tenant prior to Landlord’s approval of the Approved Budget to such contractors, subcontractors or material suppliers), as elected by
Landlord, the amount of Tenant Improvement costs set forth in such Advance Request; provided, however, that Landlord shall not be obligated to make any
payments under this Section 6.3 until the budget for the Tenant Improvements is approved in accordance with Section 6.2 above, and any Advance Request
under this Section 6.3 shall be subject to the payment limits set forth in Section 6.2 above and Article 4 of the Lease.

7. Miscellaneous.
7.1. Number; Headings. Where applicable in this Work Letter, the singular includes the plural and the masculine or neuter includes the

masculine, feminine and neuter. The section headings of this Work Letter are not a part of this Work Letter and shall have no effect upon the construction or
interpretation of any part hereof.




7.2. Attorneys’ Fees. If either party commences an action against the other party arising out of or in connection with this Work Letter, then the
substantially prevailing party shall be entitled to have and recover from the other party reasonable attorneys’ fees, charges and disbursements and costs of
suit.

7.3. Time of Essence. Time is of the essence with respect to the performance of every provision of this Work Letter in which time of
performance is a factor.

7.4. Covenant and Condition. Each provision of this Work Letter performable by Tenant shall be deemed both a covenant and a condition.

7.5. Withholding of Consent. Whenever consent or approval of either party is required, that party shall not unreasonably withhold such consent
or approval, except as may be expressly set forth to the contrary.

7.6. Invalidity. Any provision of this Work Letter that shall prove to be invalid, void or illegal shall in no way affect, impair or invalidate any
other provision hereof, and all other provisions of this Work Letter shall remain in full force and effect and shall be interpreted as if the invalid, void or illegal
provision did not exist.

7.7. Interpretation. The language in all parts of this Work Letter shall be in all cases construed as a whole according to its fair meaning and not
strictly for or against either Landlord or Tenant.

7.8. Successors. Each of the covenants, conditions and agreements herein contained shall inure to the benefit of and shall apply to and be
binding upon the parties hereto and their
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respective heirs; legatees; devisees; executors; administrators; and permitted successors, assigns, sublessees. Nothing in this Section shall in any way alter the
provisions of the Lease restricting assignment or subletting.

7.9. Governing Law. This Work Letter shall be governed by, construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State in which the
Premises are located, without regard to such State’s conflict of law principles.

7.10. Power and Authority. Each of Landlord and Tenant guarantees, warrants and represents to the other that the individual or individuals
signing this Work Letter on its behalf have the power, authority and legal capacity to sign this Work Letter on behalf of and to bind all entities, corporations,
partnerships, limited liability companies, joint venturers or other organizations and entities on whose behalf said individual or individuals have signed.

7.11. Counterparts. This Work Letter may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which, when taken together, shall constitute one and
the same document.

7.12. Amendments; Waiver. No provision of this Work Letter may be modified, amended or supplemented except by an agreement in writing
signed by Landlord and Tenant. The waiver by Landlord of any breach by Tenant of any term, covenant or condition herein contained shall not be deemed to
be a waiver of any subsequent breach of the same or any other term, covenant or condition herein contained.

7.13. Waiver of Jury Trial. To the extent permitted by Applicable Laws, the parties waive trial by jury in any action, proceeding or counterclaim
brought by the other party hereto related to matters arising out of or in any way connected with this Work Letter; the relationship between Landlord and
Tenant; Tenant’s use or occupancy of the Premises; or any claim of injury or damage related to this Work Letter or the Premises.

IN WITNESS WHEREOQOF, Landlord and Tenant have executed this Work Letter to be effective on the date first above written.
LANDLORD:
BMR-3450 MONTE VILLA PARKWAY LLC,

a Delaware limited liability company

By: /s/ Kevin M. Simonsen
Name: Kevin M. Simonsen
Title: VP, Real Estate Counsel

TENANT:
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AVI BIOPHARMA, INC,,
an Oregon corporation

By: /s/ Leslie Hudson, Ph.D.
Name: Dr. L. Hudson
Title:  President and CEO
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ATTACHMENT 1 TO EXHIBIT B
PRE-APPROVED PROFESSIONALS AND CONTRACTORS
1. Mortenson
2. BN Builders
3. Turner
4. Sierra
5. Saba Architects
6. Lease Crutcher Lewis
7. Rushing Engineering
8. Pacific Alliance Construction
9. PSF Mechanical, Inc.
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ATTACHMENT 2 TO EXHIBIT B

TENANT WORK PILANS
Architectural Drawings
Engineering Drawings
1. Mechanical
2. Plumbing
3. Electrical
4. Fire protection
5. Civil engineering
Specifications — Required for all disciplines listed above
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ATTACHMENT 3 TO EXHIBIT B
SCHEDULE
[See attached]
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ATTACHMENT 4 TO EXHIBIT B

CONSTRUCTION PLANS

[See attached]
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ATTACHMENT 5 TO EXHIBIT B

APPROVED BUDGET




[See attached]
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EXHIBIT C

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF TERM COMMENCEMENT DATE
AND TERM EXPIRATION DATE

THIS ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF TERM COMMENCEMENT DATE AND TERM EXPIRATION DATE is entered into as of [ 1,20[ 1, with
reference to that certain Lease (the “Lease”) dated as of July 24, 2009, by AVI BIOPHARMA, INC., an Oregon corporation (“Tenant”), in favor of BMR-
3450 MONTE VILLA PARKWAY LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Landlord”). All capitalized terms used herein without definition shall have
the meanings ascribed to them in the Lease.

Tenant hereby confirms the following:

1. Tenant accepted possession of the Premises on [ 1,200 1.

2. The Premises are in good order, condition and repair.

3. The Tenant Improvements required to be constructed by Landlord under the Lease have been substantially completed.

4. All conditions of the Lease to be performed by Landlord as a condition to the full effectiveness of the Lease have been satisfied, and

Landlord has fulfilled all of its duties in the nature of inducements offered to Tenant to lease the Premises.

5. In accordance with the provisions of Section 4.1 of the Lease, the Term Commencement Date is [ 1,20[ ], and, unless the Lease is
terminated prior to the Term Expiration Date pursuant to its terms, the Term Expiration Date shall be [ 1,20 1.

6. Tenant commenced occupancy of the Premises for the Permitted Use on [ 1,20 1.

7. The Lease is in full force and effect, and the same represents the entire agreement between Landlord and Tenant concerning the Premises|,
except [ 1.

8. Tenant has no existing defenses against the enforcement of the Lease by Landlord, and there exist no offsets or credits against Rent owed or

to be owed by Tenant.

9. The obligation to pay Rent is presently in effect and all Rent obligations on the part of Tenant under the Lease commenced to accrue on
[ 1,200 1
10. The undersigned Tenant has not made any prior assignment, transfer, hypothecation or pledge of the Lease or of the rents thereunder or

sublease of the Premises or any portion thereof.
[REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Tenant has executed this Acknowledgment of Term Commencement Date and Term Expiration Date as of the date first
written above.

TENANT:
[ 1,
al ]
By:
Name:
Title:
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EXHIBIT D
FORM OF ACCESS & CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENT
This Access & Confidentiality Agreement (this “ Agreement”) is entered into as of [ 1, 20[ ] (the “Effective Date”), by and between AVI

BIOPHARMA, INC., an Oregon corporation (“AVI”), and [ ] (“Recipient” and, together with AVI, each a “Party” and, together, the “Parties”).



In consideration of the mutual covenants expressed herein and other valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby
acknowledged, the Parties, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:

1. Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement:
1.1 “Affiliate” of a Party means employees, agents and entities controlled by such Party.
1.2 “Confidential Information” means any business, marketing, technical or other information in tangible or intangible form disclosed by AVI

to Recipient or to which Recipient gains access while in AVI’s business premises, only if, at the time of such disclosure, such information is designated as
confidential (or like designation), including (without limitation) business plans, product concepts, technical know-how, methods of and other information
relating to operations, development strategies, distribution arrangements, financial data, marketing plans, and business practices, policies and objectives.

1.3 “Representative” means, with respect to either Party, such Party’s members, managers, partners, Affiliates, attorneys, advisors, potential
lenders, potential co-investors, directors, officers, employees, agents or representatives.

2. Disclosure, Use Restrictions and Proprietary Rights.
2.1 Disclosure and Use.
(a) Except as expressly provided in this Agreement, Recipient shall retain all Confidential Information in confidence and shall not

directly or indirectly disclose, reveal, divulge, publish or otherwise make known to parties other than AVI any Confidential Information for any reason or
purpose whatsoever without AVI’s prior written consent, which may be withheld in AVI’s sole discretion. Recipient shall take commercially reasonable steps
to safeguard and protect the Confidential Information from unauthorized access, use or disclosure by or to others as a result of Recipient’s acts or omissions,
including (but not limited to) maintaining appropriate security measures. The obligations of confidence set forth in this Agreement shall extend to any of
Recipient’s Representatives that may receive Confidential Information from AVI or Recipient, and Recipient shall be responsible for any breach of this
Agreement by its Representatives if the breach relates to improper disclosure of Confidential Information obtained by Recipient from AVI or Recipient’s
Representatives.

(b) In accordance with Section 2.4, Recipient shall notify AVI promptly after discovery of any unauthorized use or disclosure of
Confidential Information by AVT or its Representative in violation of this Agreement, and shall reasonably cooperate with AVI to assist AVI to regain
possession of the Confidential Information and prevent its further unauthorized use or disclosure.

2.2 Exemptions. Recipient shall not be bound by the obligations restricting disclosure and use set forth in this Agreement with respect to
Confidential Information, or any part thereof, that (a) was known by Recipient prior to disclosure, (b) was lawfully in the public domain prior to its
disclosure, or becomes publicly available other than through a breach of this Agreement, (c) was disclosed to the Recipient by a third party, provided such
third party is not in breach of any confidentiality obligation to AVI with respect to such information, (d) is independently developed by Recipient or (e) is
disclosed when such disclosure is compelled pursuant to legal, judicial or administrative proceedings, or otherwise required by law. The foregoing exemptions
shall extend to any Representatives that receive or have received Confidential Information.

2.3 Proprietary Rights. Neither Recipient nor its Representatives shall acquire any rights, express or implied, in the Confidential Information,
except for the limited use specified in this Agreement. The Confidential Information, including all right, title and interest therein, remains the sole and
exclusive property of AVI. This Section shall not apply if Recipient independently develops the Confidential Information.

24 Compulsory Disclosure. If Recipient is legally compelled to disclose any of the Confidential Information, Recipient shall promptly provide
written notice to AVI to enable AVI (at its sole cost and expense) to seek a protective order or other appropriate legal remedy to avoid public or third party
disclosure of its Confidential Information. If such protective order or other appropriate legal remedy is not obtained, Recipient shall furnish only so much of
the Confidential Information as Recipient is legally compelled to disclose, and shall exercise its commercially reasonable efforts (at AVI’s sole cost and
expense) to obtain reliable assurances that confidential treatment will be accorded the Confidential Information. Recipient shall reasonably cooperate with
and assist AVI (at AVI’s sole cost and expense) in seeking any protective order or other relief requested by AVI pursuant to this Section 2.4.

3. Remedies. Recipient acknowledges and agrees that the Confidential Information is special and unique, and that the breach or threatened breach of
this Agreement by the Recipient would cause AVI irreparable harm and that money damages would not be an adequate remedy. Recipient agrees on behalf of
itself and its Representatives that AVI shall be entitled to equitable relief, including, without limitation, an injunction or injunctions (without the requirements
of posting a bond or other security or any similar requirement or of proving any actual damages), to prevent breaches or threatened breaches of this
Agreement by Recipient or any of its Representatives and to specifically enforce the terms and provisions of this Agreement, such remedies being in addition
to any other remedy to which AVI may be entitled at law or in equity.

4. Indemnification. Recipient shall indemnify and defend AVI and its Representatives and each of their respective directors, officers, employees,
managers, members, partners, shareholders, agents and affiliates (collectively, the “Indemnified Persons”) against and hold each
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Indemnified Person harmless from any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, costs, expenses, claims, penalties, lawsuits, proceedings, actions,
judgments and disbursements of any kind or nature whatsoever, interest, fines, settlements and reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses that the Indemnified
Persons may incur, suffer, sustain or become subject to arising out of, relating to, or due to the breach of this Agreement by Recipient. The provisions of this
Section 4 shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

5. Term of Obligation.



5.1 Term. The confidentiality obligations set forth in this Agreement shall continue with regard to an item of information as long as that
information continues to meet the definition of “Confidential Information” and is not exempt under Section 2.2.

5.2 Return of Confidential Information. At any time upon written request by AVI, Recipient shall return or destroy all documents or other
materials embodying Confidential Information and shall retain no copies thereof, unless necessary for Recipient to fulfill duties or obligations pursuant to
which Recipient first received the Confidential Information.

6. General.

6.1 Waiver. The failure of either Party to claim a breach of any term of this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of such breach or the right
of such Party to enforce any subsequent breach of such term.

6.2 Assignment. This Agreement shall be binding on and inure to the benefit of each Party and their respective successors and assigns.

6.3 Severability. In the event that any provision of this Agreement is found to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the Parties agree that, unless
such provision materially affects the intent and purpose of this Agreement, such invalidity, voidability or unenforceability shall not affect the validity of this
Agreement nor the remaining provisions hereof.

6.4 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Washington, without regard to its conflict of law principles.
The Parties agree that the exclusive jurisdiction for any legal action shall be Snohomish County, Washington.

6.5 Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties regarding the subject matter hereof and supersedes
all prior agreements, communications and understandings of any nature whatsoever, oral or written. This Agreement may not be modified or waived orally
and may be modified only in a writing signed by a duly authorized representative of both parties. Notwithstanding anything in the foregoing to the contrary,
as between AVI and BMR-3450 Monte Villa Parkway LLC (“BMR”), this Agreement shall be subject to that certain Lease dated as of July 24, 2009, by and
between AVI and BMR, as the same may be amended, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized representatives and to be effective on the
Effective Date.

AVI:
By:
Name:
Title:
RECIPIENT:
By:
Name:
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EXHIBIT E
FORM OF LETTER OF CREDIT
[On letterhead or L/C letterhead of Issuer.]
LETTER OF CREDIT
Date: , 200
(the “Beneficiary”)
Attention:
L/C. No.:
Loan No. :

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We establish in favor of Beneficiary our irrevocable and unconditional Letter of Credit numbered as identified above (the “L/C”) for an aggregate
amount of $ , expiring at  :00 p.m. on or, if such day is not a Banking Day, then the next succeeding Banking Day (such date, as extended
from time to time, the “Expiry Date”). “Banking Day” means a weekday except a weekday when commercial banks in are authorized or
required to close.



We authorize Beneficiary to draw on us (the “Issuer”) for the account of (the “Account Party”), under the terms and conditions of this L/C.

Funds under this L/C are available by presenting the following documentation (the “Drawing Documentation”): (a) the original L/C and (b) a sight
draft substantially in the form of Attachment 1, with blanks filled in and bracketed items provided as appropriate. No other evidence of authority, certificate,
or documentation is required.

Drawing Documentation must be presented at Issuer’s office at on or before the Expiry Date by personal presentation, courier or
messenger service, or fax. Presentation by fax shall be effective upon electronic confirmation of transmission as evidenced by a printed report from the
sender’s fax machine. After any fax presentation, but not as a condition to its effectiveness, Beneficiary shall with reasonable promptness deliver the original
Drawing Documentation by any other means. Issuer will on request issue a receipt for Drawing Documentation.

We agree, irrevocably, and irrespective of any claim by any other person, to honor drafts drawn under and in conformity with this L/C, within the
maximum amount of this L/C, presented
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to us on or before the Expiry Date, provided we also receive (on or before the Expiry Date) any other Drawing Documentation this L/C requires.

We shall pay this L/C only from our own funds by check or wire transfer, in compliance with the Drawing Documentation.

If Beneficiary presents proper Drawing Documentation to us on or before the Expiry Date, then we shall pay under this L/C at or before the
following time (the “Payment Deadline”): (a) if presentment is made at or before noon of any Banking Day, then the close of such Banking Day; and
(b) otherwise, the close of the next Banking Day. We waive any right to delay payment beyond the Payment Deadline. If we determine that Drawing
Documentation is not proper, then we shall so advise Beneficiary in writing, specifying all grounds for our determination, within one Banking Day after the
Payment Deadline.

Partial drawings are permitted. This L/C shall, except to the extent reduced thereby, survive any partial drawings.

We shall have no duty or right to inquire into the validity of or basis for any draw under this L/C or any Drawing Documentation. We waive any
defense based on fraud or any claim of fraud.

The Expiry Date shall automatically be extended by one year (but never beyond (the “Outside Date)) unless, on or before the date 90 days
before any Expiry Date, we have given Beneficiary notice that the Expiry Date shall not be so extended (a “Nonrenewal Notice”). We shall promptly upon
request confirm any extension of the Expiry Date under the preceding sentence by issuing an amendment to this L/C, but such an amendment is not required
for the extension to be effective. We need not give any notice of the Outside Date.

Beneficiary may from time to time without charge transfer this L/C, in whole but not in part, to any transferee (the “Transferee”). Issuer shall look
solely to Account Party for payment of any fee for any transfer of this L/C. Such payment is not a condition to any such transfer. Beneficiary or Transferee
shall consummate such transfer by delivering to Issuer the original of this L/C and a Transfer Notice substantially in the form of Attachment 2, purportedly
signed by Beneficiary, and designating Transferee. Issuer shall promptly reissue or amend this L/C in favor of Transferee as Beneficiary. Upon any transfer,
all references to Beneficiary shall automatically refer to Transferee, who may then exercise all rights of Beneficiary. Issuer expressly consents to any
transfers made from time to time in compliance with this paragraph.

Any notice to Beneficiary shall be in writing and delivered by hand with receipt acknowledged or by overnight delivery service such as FedEx (with
proof of delivery) at the above address, or such other address as Beneficiary may specify by written notice to Issuer. A copy of any such notice shall also be
delivered, as a condition to the effectiveness of such notice, to: (or such replacement as Beneficiary designates from time to time by written
notice).
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No amendment that adversely affects Beneficiary shall be effective without Beneficiary’s written consent.

This L/C is subject to and incorporates by reference: (a) the Uniform Customs and Practice for Documentary Credits, International Chamber of
Commerce Publication No. 600 (the “UCP”); and (b) to the extent not inconsistent with the UCP, Article 5 of the Uniform Commercial Code of the State of
New York.

Very truly yours,

[Issuer Signature]
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ATTACHMENT 1 TO EXHIBIT E
FORM OF SIGHT DRAFT
[BENEFICIARY LETTERHEAD]

TO:



[Name and Address of Issuer]

SIGHT DRAFT
AT SIGHT, pay to the Order of , the sum of United States Dollars ($ ). Drawn under [Issuer] Letter of
Credit No. dated
[Issuer is hereby directed to pay the proceeds of this Sight Draft solely to the following account: ]

[Name and signature block, with signature or purported signature of Beneficiary]

Date:
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ATTACHMENT 2 TO EXHIBIT E
FORM OF TRANSFER NOTICE
[BENEFICIARY LETTERHEAD]
TO:

[Name and Address of Issuer] (the “Issuer”)
TRANSFER NOTICE

By signing below, the undersigned, Beneficiary (the “Beneficiary”) under Issuer’s Letter of Credit No. dated (the “L/C”),
transfers the L/C to the following transferee (the “Transferee”):

[Transferee Name and Address]

The original L/C is enclosed. Beneficiary directs Issuer to reissue or amend the L/C in favor of Transferee as Beneficiary. Beneficiary represents and warrants
that Beneficiary has not transferred, assigned, or encumbered the L/C or any interest in the L/C, which transfer, assignment, or encumbrance remains in effect.

[Name and signature block, with signature or purported signature of Beneficiary]
Date: ]
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EXHIBIT F
RULES AND REGULATIONS
NOTHING IN THESE RULES AND REGULATIONS (“RULES AND REGULATIONS”) SHALL SUPPLANT ANY PROVISION OF THE LEASE. IN

THE EVENT OF A CONFLICT OR INCONSISTENCY BETWEEN THESE RULES AND REGULATIONS AND THE LEASE, THE LEASE SHALL
PREVAIL.

1. Except as specifically provided in the Lease to which these Rules and Regulations are attached, no sign, placard, picture, advertisement,
name or notice shall be installed or displayed on any part of the outside of the Premises or the Building without Landlord’s prior written consent. Landlord
shall have the right to remove, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense and without notice, any sign installed or displayed in violation of this rule.

2. If Landlord objects in writing to any curtains, blinds, shades, screens or hanging plants or other similar objects attached to or used in
connection with any window or door of the Premises or placed on any windowsill, which window, door or windowsill is (a) visible from the exterior of the
Premises and (b) not included in plans approved by Landlord, then Tenant shall promptly remove said curtains, blinds, shades, screens or hanging plants or
other similar objects at its sole cost and expense.

3. Tenant shall not obstruct any sidewalks or entrances to the Building, or any halls, passages, exits, entrances or stairways within the
Premises, in any case that are required to be kept clear for health and safety reasons.

4. No deliveries shall be made that impede or interfere with other tenants in or the operation of the Project.

5. Tenant shall not place a load upon any floor of the Premises that exceeds the load per square foot that (a) such floor was designed to carry or
(b) that is allowed by Applicable Laws. Fixtures and equipment that cause noises or vibrations that may be transmitted to the structure of the Building to such
a degree as to be objectionable to other tenants shall be placed and maintained by Tenant, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, on vibration eliminators or other

devices sufficient to eliminate such noises and vibrations to levels reasonably acceptable to Landlord and other tenants of the Building.

6. Tenant shall not use any method of heating or air conditioning other than that shown in the Tenant Improvement plans.



7. Tenant shall not install any radio, television or other antenna, cell or other communications equipment, or any other devices on the roof or
exterior walls of the Premises except to the extent shown on approved Tenant Improvements plans. Tenant shall not interfere with radio, television or other
communications from or in the Premises or elsewhere.

8. Canvassing, peddling, soliciting and distributing handbills or any other written material within, on or around the Project (other than within
the Premises) are prohibited, and Tenant shall cooperate to prevent such activities.

9. Tenant shall store all of its trash, garbage and Hazardous Materials within its Premises or in designated receptacles outside of the Premises.
Tenant shall not place in any such receptacle any material that cannot be disposed of in the ordinary and customary manner of trash, garbage and Hazardous
Materials disposal.

10. The Premises shall not be used for any improper, immoral or objectionable purpose. No cooking shall be done or permitted on the
Premises; provided, however, that Tenant may use (a) equipment approved in accordance with the requirements of insurance policies that Landlord or Tenant
is required to purchase and maintain pursuant to the Lease for brewing coffee, tea, hot chocolate and similar beverages, (b) microwave ovens for employees’
use and (c) equipment shown on Tenant Improvement plans approved by Landlord; provided, further, that any such equipment and microwave ovens are used
in accordance with Applicable Laws.

11. Tenant shall not, without Landlord’s prior written consent, use the name of the Project, if any, in connection with or in promoting or
advertising Tenant’s business except as Tenant’s address.

12. Tenant shall comply with all safety, fire protection and evacuation procedures and regulations established by Landlord or any Governmental
Authority.
13. Tenant assumes any and all responsibility for protecting the Premises from theft, robbery and pilferage, which responsibility includes

keeping doors locked and other means of entry to the Premises closed.

14. Landlord may waive any one or more of these Rules and Regulations for the benefit of Tenant or any other tenant, but no such waiver by
Landlord shall be construed as a waiver of such Rules and Regulations in favor of Tenant or any other tenant, nor prevent Landlord from thereafter enforcing
any such Rules and Regulations against any or all of the tenants of the Project, including Tenant.

15. These Rules and Regulations are in addition to, and shall not be construed to in any way modify or amend, in whole or in part, the terms
covenants, agreements and conditions of the Lease.

16. Landlord reserves the right to make such other and reasonable rules and regulations as, in its judgment, may from time to time be needed for
safety and security, the care and cleanliness of the Project, or the preservation of good order therein; provided, however, that Landlord shall provide written
notice to Tenant of such rules and regulations prior to them taking effect. Tenant agrees to abide by these Rules and Regulations and any additional rules and
regulations issued or adopted by Landlord.

17. Tenant shall be responsible for the observance of these Rules and Regulations by Tenant’s employees, agents, clients, customers, invitees
and guests.
EXHIBIT G
MAJOR COMPETITORS

Genzyme Corporation
Biomarin Pharmaceuticals Inc.
Prosensa Holding B.V.

Isis Pharmaceuticals Inc.

EXHIBIT H

TENANT’S PERSONAL PROPERTY

Landlord and Tenant agree to use good faith, commercially reasonable efforts to reach agreement on the list for this Exhibit H prior to the Term
Commencement Date.




EXHIBIT I

FORM OF ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE

To: BMR-3450 Monte Villa Parkway LLC
17190 Bernardo Center Drive
San Diego, California 92128
Attention: Vice President, Real Estate Counsel

BioMed Realty, L.P.
17190 Bernardo Center Drive
San Diego, California 92128
Re: The Premises (the “Premises”) located at 3450 Monte Villa Parkway in Bothell, Washington (the “Property™)

The undersigned tenant (“Tenant”) hereby certifies to you as follows:

1. Tenant is a tenant at the Property under a lease (the “Lease”) for the Premises dated as of July 24, 2009. The Lease has not been cancelled,
modified, assigned, extended or amended [except as follows: [ 11, and there are no other agreements, written or oral, affecting or relating to Tenant’s
lease of the Premises or any other space at the Property. The lease term expires on [ 1,200 1

2. Tenant took possession of the Premises, currently consisting of [ ] square feet, on [ ]1,20[ 1, and commenced to pay rent on
[ 1,20[ ]. Tenant has full possession of the Premises, has not assigned the Lease or sublet any part of the Premises, and does not hold the Premises
under an assignment or sublease[, except as follows: [ 11

3. All base rent, rent escalations and additional rent under the Lease have been paid through [ 1,20[ ]. There is no prepaid rent|[,
except $[ 11[, and the amount of security deposit is $[ ] [in cash][in the form of a letter of credit]]. Tenant currently has no right to any future

rent abatement under the Lease.
4. Base rent is currently payable in the amount of $[ ] per month.

5. Tenant is currently paying estimated payments of additional rent of $[ ] per month on account of real estate taxes, insurance,
management fees and common area maintenance expenses.

6. To Tenant’s actual knowledge, all work to be performed for Tenant under the Lease has been performed as required under the Lease and has
been accepted by Tenant[, except [ 11, and all allowances to be paid to Tenant, including allowances for tenant improvements, moving expenses or
other items, have been paid.

7. The Lease is in full force and effect, and to Tenant’s actual knowledge without investigation, free from default and free from any event that
could become a default under the
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Lease, and Tenant has no claims against the landlord or offsets or defenses against rent, and there are no disputes with the landlord. Tenant has received no

notice of prior sale, transfer, assignment, hypothecation or pledge of the Lease or of the rents payable thereunder|, except [ 11

8. [Tenant has the following expansion rights or options for the Property: [ ].1[Tenant has no rights or options to purchase the
Property.]

9. To Tenant’s actual knowledge without investigation, no hazardous wastes have been generated, treated, stored or disposed of by or on behalf

of Tenant in, on or around the Premises or the Project in violation of any environmental laws.

10. The undersigned has executed this Estoppel Certificate with the knowledge and understanding that [INSERT NAME OF LANDLORD,
PURCHASER OR LENDER, AS APPROPRIATE] or its assignee is acquiring the Property in reliance on this certificate and that the undersigned shall be
bound by this certificate. The statements contained herein may be relied upon by [[INSERT NAME OF PURCHASER OR LENDER, AS APPROPRIATE],
BMR-3450 Monte Villa Parkway LLC, BioMed Realty, L.P., BioMed Realty Trust, Inc., and any [other] mortgagee of the Property and their respective
successors and assigns.

Any capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the respective meanings given in the Lease.
Dated this [ ] day of [ 1,20 1.
AVI BIOPHARMA, INC,,

an Oregon corporation

By:
Name:
Title:

EXHIBIT J



FORM OF CONSENT TO SUBLEASE FOR ENTIRE PREMISES

This CONSENT TO SUBLEASE (this “Consent™) is entered into as of this day of [ 1,20[ ], by and between [ 1, a Delaware
limited [liability company][partnership] (“Master Lessor”), [as successor in interest to [ L1 l,al ] (“Sublessor”), and [ 1, a
[ 1 (“Sublessee”).
RECITALS
A. WHEREAS, Master Lessor and Sublessor are parties to that certain Lease dated as of July 24, 2009 (as the same may have been amended,

amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Master Lease”), whereby Sublessor leases certain premises (the
“Premises™) from Master Lessor at 3450 Monte Villa Parkway in Bothell, Washington (the “Building”); and

B. WHEREAS, Sublessor has applied to Master Lessor for its consent to that certain [Sublease] dated as of [ 1,20 ] (the
“Sublease”), by and between Sublessor and Sublessee, whereby Sublessor subleases its interest in the Premises (the “Subleased Premises”) to Sublessee.

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, Master Lessor hereby consents to the Sublease, subject to and upon the following terms and conditions, to each of which
Sublessor, Sublessee and Master Lessor expressly agree:

1. Nothing contained in this Consent shall either:

(a) operate as a consent to or approval by Master Lessor of any of the provisions of the Sublease or as a representation or warranty by
Master Lessor, and Master Lessor shall not be bound or estopped in any way by the provisions of the Sublease; or

(b) be construed to modify, waive or affect any of the provisions, covenants or conditions of, or any rights or remedies of Master
Lessor under, the Master Lease. In the case of any conflict between the provisions of this Consent and those of the Sublease, the provisions of this Consent
shall prevail.

2. Sublessor expressly assumes and agrees that during the term of the Sublease, Sublessor shall perform and comply with each and every
obligation of Sublessor under the Master Lease. Sublessee expressly assumes and agrees that during the term of the Sublease, Sublessee shall perform and

comply with each and every obligation of Sublessor under the Master Lease related to the Subleased Premises.

3. Neither the Sublease nor this Consent shall release or discharge Sublessor from any liability under the Master Lease, and Sublessor shall
remain liable and responsible for the
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full performance of all of the provisions, covenants and conditions set forth in the Master Lease. The acceptance of rent by Master Lessor from Sublessee or
from any other person shall not be deemed a waiver by Master Lessor of any provisions of the Master Lease. Sublessor and Sublessee understand and
represent that by entering into the Sublease, Master Lessor’s rights, remedies and liabilities under the Master Lease have not in any way been modified.

4. Sublessor and Sublessee warrant that the attached Sublease represents the entire agreement between them. Sublessee further warrants that
there was no compensation or consideration paid to either party as a condition of this Consent or the Sublease other than as stated herein or therein.

5. The Sublease shall be subject and subordinate at all times to the Master Lease and all of its provisions, covenants and conditions. In case of
a conflict, the provisions of the Master Lease shall prevail.

6. This Consent shall not constitute a consent to any subsequent subletting or assignment of the Master Lease, the Sublease or the Premises.
This Consent may not be assigned by Sublessor or Sublessee in whole or in part.

7. Sublessor and Sublessee shall protect, defend, indemnify, release, save and hold Master Lessor and each of Master Lessor’s officers,
directors, affiliates, employees, agents, consultants and lenders (each, an “Indemnified Party”) harmless from and against any and all Losses (as defined
below) imposed upon or incurred by or asserted against such Indemnified Party and directly or indirectly arising out of or in any way relating to Sublessor’s
or Sublessee’s failure to perform or comply with any existing Master Lease obligations (in the case of Sublessee, only to the maximum extent that Sublessee
is liable to comply with such obligations pursuant to the Sublease or this Consent, or that such obligations relate to the Subleased Premises), and otherwise as
set forth in the Master Lease. As used herein, the term “Losses” includes any and all claims, suits, liabilities, actions, proceedings, obligations, debts,
damages, losses, costs, expenses, diminutions in value, fines, penalties, charges, fees, expenses, judgments, awards, amounts paid in settlement, punitive
damages and foreseeable and unforeseeable consequential damages of whatever kind or nature (including, without limitation, attorneys’ fees and other costs
of defense).

8. In the event of any default of Sublessor under the Master Lease, Master Lessor may proceed directly against Sublessor, any guarantors, or
anyone else liable under the Master Lease or the Sublease without first exhausting Master Lessor’s remedies against any other person or entity liable therefor
to Master Lessor.

9. In the event that Sublessor defaults in its obligations under the Master Lease, Master Lessor may, at its option and without being obligated
to do so, require Sublessee to attorn to Master Lessor with respect to the Subleased Premises. If Master Lessor elects to require Sublessee to so attorn, then
Master Lessor shall undertake the obligations of Sublessor under the Sublease with respect to the Subleased Premises from the time of the exercise of Master
Lessor’s option under this Section until termination of the Sublease; provided, however, that Master
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Lessor shall not be liable for any prepaid rents or any security deposit paid by Sublessee, nor shall Master Lessor be liable for any other defaults of Sublessor
under the Sublease.

10. If Master Lessor brings about legal action or proceedings to enforce the terms and/or conditions of the Master Lease or to declare its rights
thereunder, Sublessor and Sublessee agree that any attorneys’ fees, costs and expenses of such proceeding shall be paid by the losing party as determined by
the appropriate court.

11. This Consent (a) shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Washington, without regard to its conflict of law principles,
(b) contains the entire agreement of the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and (c) may not be changed or terminated orally or by any
course of conduct.

12. Sublessor represents and warrants that it has dealt with no broker, agent or other person in connection with this transaction and that no
broker, agent or other person brought about this transaction, [other than [ 1,] and Sublessor agrees to indemnify and hold Master Lessor and
Sublessee harmless from and against any claims by [this or] any [other] broker, agent or other person claiming a commission or other form of compensation
by virtue of having dealt with Sublessor with regard to the Sublease. The provisions of this Section shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this
Consent or the Master Lease.

13. If any terms or provisions of the Master Lease or this Consent, or the application thereof to any person or circumstance, shall to any extent
be held to be invalid or unenforceable, then the remainder of the Master Lease, this Consent or the application of such term or provision to persons or
circumstances other than those as to which they are held invalid or unenforceable shall not be affected thereby, and each term and provision of the Master
Lease and this Consent shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law. Master Lessor’s rights and remedies provided for in the Master
Lease, this Consent or by law shall, to the extent permitted by law, be cumulative.

14. This Consent may be executed in several counterparts, each of which counterparts shall be deemed an original instrument and all of which
together shall constitute a single Consent.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Sublessor and Sublessee have affixed their respective signatures hereto as evidence of understanding of and agreement to
the above, and Master Lessor has affixed its signature hereto to convey its consent to the Sublease.

MASTER LESSOR:

By:
Name:
Title:

SUBLESSOR:

EXHIBIT K
FORM OF CONSENT TO SUBLEASE FOR PORTION OF PREMISES
This CONSENT TO SUBLEASE (this “Consent™) is entered into as of this day of [ 1,20[ ], by and between [ 1, a Delaware

limited [liability company][partnership] (“Master Lessor”), [as successor in interest to [ L1[ l,al ] (“Sublessor”), and [ ], a
[ 1 (“Sublessee™).




RECITALS

A. WHEREAS, Master Lessor and Sublessor are parties to that certain Lease dated as of July 24, 2009 (as the same may have been amended,
amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Master Lease), whereby Sublessor leases certain premises (the
“Premises™) from Master Lessor at 3450 Monte Villa Parkway in Bothell, Washington (the “Building™); and

B. WHEREAS, Sublessor has applied to Master Lessor for its consent to that certain [Sublease] dated as of [ 1,20 ] (the
“Sublease”), by and between Sublessor and Sublessee, whereby Sublessor subleases its interest in a portion of the Premises (such portion, the “Subleased
Premises”) to Sublessee.

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, Master Lessor hereby consents to the Sublease, subject to and upon the following terms and conditions, to each of which
Sublessor, Sublessee and Master Lessor expressly agree:

1. Nothing contained in this Consent shall either:

(a) operate as a consent to or approval by Master Lessor of any of the provisions of the Sublease or as a representation or warranty by Master
Lessor, and Master Lessor shall not be bound or estopped in any way by the provisions of the Sublease; or

(b) be construed to modify, waive or affect any of the provisions, covenants or conditions of, or any rights or remedies of Master Lessor under,
the Master Lease. In the case of any conflict between the provisions of this Consent and those of the Sublease, the provisions of this Consent shall prevail.

2. Sublessor expressly assumes and agrees that during the term of the Sublease, Sublessor shall perform and comply with each and every obligation of
Sublessor under the Master Lease. Sublessee expressly assumes and agrees that during the term of the Sublease, Sublessee shall perform and comply with
each and every obligation of Sublessor under the Master Lease related to the Subleased Premises.

3. Neither the Sublease nor this Consent shall release or discharge Sublessor from any liability under the Master Lease, and Sublessor shall remain
liable and responsible for the full

performance of all of the provisions, covenants and conditions set forth in the Master Lease. The acceptance of rent by Master Lessor from Sublessee or from
any other person shall not be deemed a waiver by Master Lessor of any provisions of the Master Lease. Sublessor and Sublessee understand and represent
that by entering into the Sublease, Master Lessor’s rights, remedies and liabilities under the Master Lease have not in any way been modified.

4. Sublessor and Sublessee warrant that the attached Sublease represents the entire agreement between them. Sublessee further warrants that there was
no compensation or consideration paid to either party as a condition of this Consent or the Sublease other than as stated herein or therein.

5. The Sublease shall be subject and subordinate at all times to the Master Lease and all of its provisions, covenants and conditions. In case of a
conflict, the provisions of the Master Lease shall prevail.

6. This Consent shall not constitute a consent to any subsequent subletting or assignment of the Master Lease, the Sublease or the Premises. This
Consent may not be assigned by Sublessor or Sublessee in whole or in part.

7. Sublessor and Sublessee shall protect, defend, indemnify, release, save and hold Master Lessor and each of Master Lessor’s officers, directors,
affiliates, employees, agents, consultants and lenders (each, an “Indemnified Party”) harmless from and against any and all Losses (as defined below)
imposed upon or incurred by or asserted against such Indemnified Party and directly or indirectly arising out of or in any way relating to Sublessor’s or
Sublessee’s failure to perform or comply with any existing Master Lease obligations (in the case of Sublessee, only to the maximum extent that Sublessee is
liable to comply with such obligations pursuant to the Sublease or this Consent, or that such obligations relate to the Subleased Premises), and otherwise as
set forth in the Master Lease. As used herein, the term “Losses” includes any and all claims, suits, liabilities, actions, proceedings, obligations, debts,
damages, losses, costs, expenses, diminutions in value, fines, penalties, charges, fees, expenses, judgments, awards, amounts paid in settlement, punitive
damages and foreseeable and unforeseeable consequential damages of whatever kind or nature (including, without limitation, attorneys’ fees and other costs
of defense).

8. In the event of any default of Sublessor under the Master Lease, Master Lessor may proceed directly against Sublessor, any guarantors, or anyone
else liable under the Master Lease or the Sublease without first exhausting Master Lessor’s remedies against any other person or entity liable therefor to
Master Lessor.

9. In the event that Sublessor defaults in its obligations under the Master Lease, Master Lessor may, at its option and without being obligated to do so,
require Sublessee to attorn to Master Lessor with respect to the Subleased Premises. If Master Lessor elects to require Sublessee to so attorn, then Master
Lessor shall undertake the obligations of Sublessor under the Sublease with respect to the Subleased Premises from the time of the exercise of Master
Lessor’s option under this Section until termination of the Sublease; provided, however, that Master
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Lessor shall not be liable for any prepaid rents or any security deposit paid by Sublessee, nor shall Master Lessor be liable for any other defaults of Sublessor
under the Sublease.

10. If Master Lessor brings about legal action or proceedings to enforce the terms and/or conditions of the Master Lease or to declare its rights
thereunder, Sublessor and Sublessee agree that any attorneys’ fees, costs and expenses of such proceeding shall be paid by the losing party as determined by
the appropriate court.



11. This Consent (a) shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of [ ], without regard to its conflict of law principles,
(b) contains the entire agreement of the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and (c) may not be changed or terminated orally or by any
course of conduct.

12. Sublessor represents and warrants that it has dealt with no broker, agent or other person in connection with this transaction and that no broker, agent
or other person brought about this transaction, [other than [ 1,] and Sublessor agrees to indemnify and hold Master Lessor and Sublessee harmless
from and against any claims by [this or] any [other] broker, agent or other person claiming a commission or other form of compensation by virtue of having
dealt with Sublessor with regard to the Sublease. The provisions of this Section shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Consent or the
Master Lease.

13. If any terms or provisions of the Master Lease or this Consent, or the application thereof to any person or circumstance, shall to any extent be held to
be invalid or unenforceable, then the remainder of the Master Lease, this Consent or the application of such term or provision to persons or circumstances
other than those as to which they are held invalid or unenforceable shall not be affected thereby, and each term and provision of the Master Lease and this
Consent shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law. Master Lessor’s rights and remedies provided for in the Master Lease, this
Consent or by law shall, to the extent permitted by law, be cumulative.

14. This Consent may be executed in several counterparts, each of which counterparts shall be deemed an original instrument and all of which together
shall constitute a single Consent.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Sublessor and Sublessee have affixed their respective signatures hereto as evidence of understanding of and agreement to
the above, and Master Lessor has affixed its signature hereto to convey its consent to the Sublease.

MASTER LESSOR:

[ 1,
al 1
By:

Name:
Title:
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SUBLESSOR:

By:
Name:
Title:

SUBLESSEE:

By:
Name:
Title:
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Exhibit 10.77

1. CONTRACT |PAGE OF

(O The above numbered solicitation is amended as set forth in Item 14. The hour and date specified for receipt of Offer

AMENDMENT OF SOLICITATION/MODIFICATION OF CONTRACT ID CODE PA(|3ES
U 1 6
2. AMENDMENT/MODIFICATION NO. 3. EFFECTIVE DATE 4. REQUISITION/PURCHASE REQ. NO. 5. PROJECT
NO.(If
applicable)
[P00008 30-Sep-2009 SEE SCHEDULE
6. ISSUED BY CODE HDTRA1 7. ADMINISTERED BY (If other than item 6) CODE | S2401A]
DEFENSE CONTRACT MANAGEMENT AGENCY
DEFENSE THREAT REDUCTION AGENCY/BE-BC 1 FEDERAL DRIVE, ROOM 1150
8725 JOHN J. KINGMAN ROAD, MSC 6201 FORT SNELLING MN 55111-4080
FORT SELVOIR VA 22060-6201
8. NAME AND ADDRESS OF CONTRACTOR (No., Street, County, State and Zip Code) 9A. AMENDMENT OF
SOLICITATION NO.
AVI BIOPHARMA INC.
J. DAVID BOYLE II ?]13) DATED (SEE ITEM
4575 SWRESEARCH WAY STE 200
CORVALLIS OR 97333-1299 10A. MOD. OF
X CONTRACT/ORDER
NO.
HDTRA1-07-C-0010
10B. DATED (SEE
ITEM 13)
CODE _ 49WU1 [FACILITY CODE x [29-Nov-2006
11. THIS ITEM ONLY APPLIES TO AMENDMENTS OF SOLICITATIONS
Ois O is not

Offer must acknowledge receipt of this amendment prior to the hour and date specified in the solicitation or as amended by one of the following methods:
(a) By completing Items 8 and 15, and returning copies of the amendment; (b) By acknowledging receipt of this amendment on each copy of the offer submitted; or (c) By separate letter or telegram which
includes a reference to the solicitation and amendment numbers. FAILURE OF YOUR ACKNOWLEDGMENT TO BE RECEIVED AT THE PLACE DESIGNATED FOR THE RECEIPT OF OFFERS PRIOR TO THE
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13. THIS ITEM APPLIES ONLY TO MODIFICATIONS OF CONTRACTS/ORDERS,
IT MODIFIES THE CONTRACT/ORDER NO. AS DESCRIBED IN ITEM 14.
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SECTION SF 30 BLOCK 14 CONTINUATION PAGE
SUMMARY OF CHANGES
SECTION A - - SOLICITATION/CONTRACT FORM
The total cost of this contract was increased by $11,520,901.97 from $33,838,652.20 to $45,359,554.17.
The number of invoices to be submitted has decreased by 3 from 4 to 1.
The discount terms Net 30 Days has been added.
SECTION B - - SUPPLIES OR SERVICES AND PRICES
CLIN 0001
The CLIN extended description has changed from A New Antiviral (AntiSense) Platform Targeting Hemorrhagic Fever Viruses and Models
of Antibotic-Resistant Intracellular Bacterial Pathogens in accordance with the attached Statement of Work dated November 21, 2006 to A New
Antiviral (AntiSense) Platform Targeting Hemorrhagic Fever Viruses and Models of Antibotic-Resistant Intracellular Bacterial Pathogens in
accordance with the attached Statement of Work dated November 21, 2006 and revised Statement of Work dated September 29, 2009..
The estimated/max cost has increased by $10,719,046.93 from $25,957,424.00 to $36,676,470.93.
The fixed fee has increased by $801,855.04 from $2,076,594.00 to $2,878,449.04.
The total cost of this line item has increased by $11,520,901.97 from $28,034,018.00 to $39,554,919.97.

SUBCLIN 000105 is added as follows:

ITEM NO SUPPLIES/SERVICES QUANTITY UNIT UNIT PRICE AMOUNT
000105 $ 0.00
Funding
CPFF
FOB: Destination
ESTIMATED COST $ 0.00
FIXED FEE $ 0.00
TOTAL EST COST + FEE $ 0.00
ACRN AF
CIN: CBM090013892000105 $ 5,601,194.00

The following have been modified:

252.232-9000  CONTRACT FUNDING PROFILE (OCT 1998)
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Subject to FAR Clause 52.232-22, Limitation of Funds, the amount of $39,439,846.20 is obligated for work to be performed during the period beginning with
contract award and continuing through September 29, 2010.

(End of clause)

252.232-9001 PRICES/COST

a. Subject to the provisions of the Clauses of this Contract entitled LIMITATION OF FUNDS, ALLOWABLE COST AND PAYMENT, and FIXED FEE, the
total allowable cost under this Contract shall not exceed $42,078,432.93, which is the total estimated cost of the Contractor’s performance hereunder,
exclusive of fixed fee. In addition, the Government shall pay the Contractor a fixed fee of $3,281,121 for the performance of this Contract. It is understood
and agreed that the Government’s obligation is limited to INCREMENTAL FUNDING in the amount of $39,439,846.20 Within this amount ($39,439,846.20)
the fixed fee shall bear the same relationship to the total fixed fee, as the costs incurred bear to the total estimated cost.

b. Interim payment vouchers may be submitted for provisional payment pursuant to the Clauses of this Contract entittled ALLOWABLE COST AND
PAYMENT and FIXED FEE.

SECTION E - - INSPECTION AND ACCEPTANCE

The following Acceptance/Inspection Schedule was added for SUBCLIN 000105:

INSPECT AT INSPECT BY ACCEPT AT ACCEPT BY
N/A N/A N/A Government

SECTION F - - DELIVERIES OR PERFORMANCE

The following Delivery Schedule item for CLIN 0001 has been changed from:

DELIVERY DATE QUANTITY SHIP TO ADDRESS UIC
POP 30-NOV-2006 TO N/A DEFENSE THREAT REDUCTION HDTRA1
31-MAY-2009 AGENCY/RD-CBM

ROBERT KIMBROUGH

8725 JOHN J KINGMAN ROAD, MAIL

STOP 6201,

FORT BELVOIR VA 22060

703-767-2346

FOB: Destination

To:

DELIVERY DATE QUANTITY SHIP TO ADDRESS UIC
POP 30-NOV-2006 TO N/A DEFENSE THREAT REDUCTION HDTRA1

28-FEB-2011

AGENCY/RD-CBM

SEE SEPARATE LETTER

8725 JOHN J KINGMAN ROAD, MAIL
STOP 6201,

FORT BELVOIR VA 22060

FOB: Destination

3

SECTION G - - CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION DATA

Accounting and Appropriation

Summary for the Payment Office

SUBCLIN 000105:
Funding on SUBCLIN 000105 is initiated as follows:

ACRN: AF

CIN: CBM090013892000105

HDTRA1-07-C-0010
P00008
Page 4 of 6

As a result of this modification, the total funded amount for this document was increased by $5,601,194.00 from $33,838,652.20 to $39,439,846.20.



Acctng Data: 9790400.2620 1000 B63D 255999 BD29576000 S49012
Increase: $5,601,194.00
Total: $5,601,194.00
The following have been deleted:
252.232-9002 Accounting and Appropriation Data AUG 2001
SECTION H - SPECIAL CONTRACT REQUIREMENTS
The following have been deleted:
INDIRECT COST CEILING
SECTION I - - CONTRACT CLAUSES

The following have been added by reference:

252.211-7003 Item Identification and Valuation AUG 2008
4
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252.211-7007 Reporting of Government-Furnished Equipment in the DoD NOV 2008
Item Unique Identification (IUID) Registry
252.215-7004 Alt I Excessive Pass-Through Charges - Alternate I MAY 2008

The following have been added by full text:
252.216-9003 CONSULTANTS (OCT 1998)

Services of consultants shall be at rates and for periods approved in advance by the Contracting Officer. Requests for approval shall be submitted to
the Contracting Officer sufficiently in advance of the need to use a consultant under this Contract. The request shall include (a) a copy of the proposed
consultant agreement, (b) a brief biography of the consultant, and (c) an indication of the area(s) in which consultant’s expertise will be utilized and why it is
essential for contract performance. In addition, significant deviations from the dollar amount approved for consultant services, or changes in the consultants to
be utilized, must likewise be approved in advance upon submission of adequate justification.

252.216-9005 PROFIT OR FEE ON TRAVEL COSTS (JUL 2008)
Travel shall not be a profit or fee bearing cost element.

(End of clause)
252.245-9000 Government Property (AUG 2009)

(a) Inaccordance with FAR 52.245-1 (b), Property Management, and FAR 52.245-1 (f), Contractor Plans and Systems, the Contractor shall have a system to
manage (control, use, preserve, protect, repair and maintain) Government property in its possession.

(b) The Contract Data Requirements Lists (CDRLs) associated with the Property for this Contract are contained in Exhibit “A” and included in Section J of
this contract. The spreadsheet required by the CDRL entitled “Master Government Property List (MGPL) will be incorporated in Section J of this contract.

(c) The Contractor shall provide to the Government an updated MGPL according to the CDRL.

(d) The Government Site Visits/Physical Inventory — The DTRA will annually verify the Property in the Possession of the Contractor. The Contactor’s
Point of Contact shall coordinate with the Program Manager/Contracting Officer Representative or DTRA Accountable Property Officer (APO) on
prearranged site visits upon request.

(e) The Contractor shall annually conduct and provide to the DTRA a physical inventory report of ALL Government Property in its possession according to
the Master Government Property List (Physical Inventory) CDRL.

(f) The physical inventory report shall be validated/confirmed via signature by both the Contractor’s Property Administrator and the DTRA’s Government
Representative (i. e. COR, APO, etc.). Inventory discrepancies must be reported immediately to the Contracting Officer, COR/Program Manager and resolved
by the DTRA APO.
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(g) The Contractor shall provide all CDRL reports to the Government electronically in a spreadsheet using Microsoft Office Excel. Unless otherwise
specified, the contractor shall submit all data through the IUID Registry.

(End of Clause)
The following have been deleted:
252.247-9000 Government Contractor Travel JUL 2007
(End of Summary of Changes)
6
SECTION J - EXHIBIT A CONTRACT #: HDTRA1-07-C-0010

Contract Data Requirement List (CDRL) Supplement
Distribution Addresses:
CDRL ADDRESS LIST
OFFICE SYMBOL ADDRESS

DTRA/BE-BL 8725 John J Kingman Road
Fort Belvoir, VA 22060-6201
First name. Last name@dtra.mil

DTRA/BE-BF 8725 John J Kingman Road
Fort Belvoir, VA 22060-6201
First name. Last name@dtra.mil

DTRA/BE-BC 8725 John J Kingman Road
Fort Belvoir, VA 22060-6201
First name. Last name@dtra.mil

DTRA/BE-BI 8725 John J Kingman Road
Fort Belvoir, VA 22060-6201
First name. Last name@dtra.mil

DTRA/COR 8725 John J Kingman Road
Fort Belvoir, VA 22060-6201
First name. Last name@dtra.mil

CDRL EXHIBIT A
TABLE OF CONTENTS

AUTHORITY
CDRL REQUIRING OFFICE TITLE/SUBTITLE
A 001 DI-MGMT-80269 MASTER GOVERNMENT PROPERTY LIST LOGISTICS
A 002 DI-MGMT-80441 LOGISTICS MASTER GOVERNMENT PROPERTY LIST — PHYSICAL INVENTORY

BE-BC SOP 09-03 Enclosure 1

SECTION J - EXHIBIT A

Form Approved
OMB No. 0704-
0188

CONTRACT DATA REQUIREMENTS LIST
(1 Data item)

Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 110 hours per response, including the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering
and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing the collection of information. Send comments regarding thus burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection o f information,
including suggestions for reducing this burden, to Department of Defense, Washington Headquarters Services, Directorate for Information Operations and Reports, 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway,
Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22202-4302, and to the Office of Management and Budget. Paperwork Reduction Project (0704-0188), Washington, DC 20503. Please DO NOT RETURN your form to
either of these addresses. Send completed form to the Government Issuing Contracting Officer for the Contract|PR No. listed in Block E.

A. CONTRACT LINE ITEM NO. B. EXHIBIT C. CATEGORY:
0002 TDP ™ OTHER



D. SYSTEM|ITEM E. CONTRACT/PR NO. F. CONTRACTOR

HDTRA 1-07-C-0010 AVI BioPharma
1. DATA ITEM 2. TITLE OF DATA ITEM 3. SUBTITLE
NO.
Master Government Property List GFP, GFE, GFM, and Contractor
A001 Acquired Property)
4. AUTHORITY (Data Acquisition Document No.) 5. CONTRACT REFERENCE 6. REQUIRING OFFICE
DI-MGMT-80269 SOW PARA DTRA/BE-BL
7.DD 250 REQ 9. DIST STATEMENT 10. FREQUENCY 12. DATE OF FIRST 14. DISTRIBUTION
REQUIRED SEE BLOCK 16 SUBMISSION
SEE BLOCK 16 b. COPIES
8. APP CODE 11. AS OF DATE 13. DATE OF a DRAFT pINAL
SUBSEQUENT :
SEE BLOCK 16 SUBMISSION ADDRESSEE
SEE BLOCK 16 Reg Repro
16. REMARKS DTRA/BE-
BL
BLOCK 4: This DID is for reference only. The report shall be prepared according to the remarks below. DTRA/BE-
BLOCK 10: Monthly BF
BLOCK 11: Award of Contract/Task Order DTRA/BE-
BLOCK 12: 45" calendar day following Contract/Task Order award BI
BLOCK 13: Tenth calendar day of each month DTRA/BE-
BC
Remarks: During performance of the Contract, the Contractor may purchase material or equipment using government Funds [Contractor Acquired Property DTRA/COR

(CAP) ] if approved by Contract Officer. The Contractor shall provide a Master Government Property List (MGPL), inclusive of all CAP, on the 45 ™ calendar
day following Contract/Task Order award and the tenth calendar day of each subsequent month.

The Master Government Property List shall include all equipment/property provided to the contract, including equipment transferred between projects, broken
and obsolete equipment, and items purchased outside the United States. The Master Government Property List shall consist of the following data elements at a
minimum: Accountable Contract/Task Order Number, Original Manufacturer’s Name Noun Name Description/Commercial Use, Original Manufacturer’s

Part Number, Model Number, Serial Number, DTRA Asset ID #, Equipment Identification Number Quantity, Task Order to which equipment is assigned, Work
Breakdown Schedule (WBS) Project Number, Item Unique Identifier or equivalent, Project Descriptor, Equipment Location, Date Placed in Service, Condition
of Property, Status (active, stored, in-transit or waiting disposal), Government Property Type [Government Furnished Equipment (GFE), Government
Furnished Material (GFM), Government Furnished Property (GFP), Contractor Acquired Property (CAP) ], Unit Acquisition Cost (From Accounting System)
and Remarks.

The Master Government Property List shall be delivered electronically in a spreadsheet using Microsoft Office Excel. Abbreviations are not allowed.

Ninety (90) days prior to Contract expiration, the Contractor shall submit a final Master Government Equipment List suitable for close-out purposes containing
use/disposition recommendations.

15. Total

G. PREPARED BY H. DATE 1. APPROVED BY J. DATE

17. PRICE GROUP
18. ESTIMATED TOTAL PRICE

DD FORM 1423-1, JUN 90 (EG) Previous editions are obsolete Page 1 of 1 Pages

BE-BC SOP 09-03 Enclosure 1

SECTION J - EXHIBIT A

Form Approved
OMB No. 0704-
0188

CONTRACT DATA REQUIREMENTS LIST
(1 Data item)

Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 110 hours per response, including the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering
and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing the collection of information. Send comments regarding thus burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection o f information,
including suggestions for reducing this burden, to Department of Defense, Washington Headquarters Services, Directorate for Information Operations and Reports, 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway,
Suite 1204, Adington, VA 22202-4302, and to the Office of Management and Budget. Paperwork Reduction Project (0704-0188), Washington, DC 20503. Please DO NOT RETURN your form to
either of these addresses. Send completed form to the Government Issuing Contracting Officer for the Contract|PR No. listed in Block E.

A. CONTRACT LINE ITEM NO. B. EXHIBIT C. CATEGORY:
0002 TDP ™ OTHER
D. SYSTEM|ITEM E. CONTRACT/PR NO. F. CONTRACTOR
HDTRA 1-07-C-0010 AVI BioPharma
1. DATAITEM 2. TITLE OF DATA ITEM 3. SUBTITLE
NO.
0 Master Government Property— Physical GFP, GFE, GFM, and Contractor
A002 Inventory Acquired Property)
4. AUTHORITY (Data Acquisition Document No.) 5. CONTRACT REFERENCE 6. REQUIRING OFFICE
DI-MGMT-80441 SOW PARA DTRA/BE-BL
7.DD 250 REQ 9. DIST STATEMENT 10. FREQUENCY 12. DATE OF FIRST 14. DISTRIBUTION
REQUIRED SUBMISSION
Q SEE BLOCK 16 b. COPIES

SEE BLOCK 16 ’
8. APP CODE 11. AS OF DATE 13. DATE OF a. DRAFT FINAL
A SUBSEQUENT ADDRESSEE

SEE BLOCK 16 SUBMISSION

SEE BLOCK 16 Reg Repro

16. REMARKS DTRA/BE-
BL

BLOCK 4: This DID is for reference only. The report shall be prepared according DTRA/BE-

to the remarks below. BF



BLOCK 10: Annually DTRA/BE-

BLOCK 11: Award of Contract/Task Order BI

BLOCK 12: 1 Month after Contract/Task Order Award DTRA/BE-

BLOCK 13: Annually BC
DTRA/COR

Remarks: The Contractor shall annually perform, record and disclose physical inventory results of all Contractor Acquired Property in the Contractor’s
possession. This report shall include ALL Government Property/Contractor Acquired Property/Equipment/Material. A final coordinated physical inventory
shall be performed upon contract completion or termination and approved by the DTRA Accountable Property Officer.

The physical inventory report shall identify the Contractor’s Point of Contact with telephone number and signature and the following data elements at a
minimum: Accountable Contract/Task Order Number, Original Manufacturer’s Name, Description/Commercial Use, Original Manufacturer’s Part Number,
Model Number, Serial Number, DTRA Asset ID #, Equipment Identification Number, Quantity, Task Order to which equipment is assigned, Work Breakdown
Schedule (WBS) Project Number, Item Unique Identifier or equivalent, Project Descriptor, Equipment Location, Date Placed in Service, Condition of Property,
Status (active, stored, in-transit or waiting disposal), Government Property Type [Government Furnished Equipment (GFE), Government Furnished Material
(GFM), Government Furnished Property (GFP), Contractor Acquired Property (CAP) ], Unit Acquisition Cost (From Accounting System), and Remarks.

The physical inventory report shall be documented ih writing and validated/confirmed, via signature, by both the Contractor’s Property Administrator and the
DTRA’s Government Representative. Inventory discrepancies must be reported immediately to the Contracting Officer, Contracting Officer
Representative/Program Manager or DTRA Accountable Property Officer. The report shall contain original signatures with spreadsheet attachments and be
delivered electronically in a spreadsheet using Microsoft Office Excel. Abbreviations are not allowed.

Ninety (90) days prior to Contract expiration, the Contractor shall submit a final property identification listing suitable for close-out purposes containing
use/disposition recommendations. The report must be reviewed,approved and signed by the DTRA Accountable Property Officer prior to contract close out.

15. Total
G. PREPARED BY H. DATE 1. APPROVED BY J. DATE
17. PRICE GROUP
18. ESTIMATED TOTAL PRICE
DD FORM 1423-1, JUN 90 (EG) Previous editions are obsolete Page 1 of 1 Pages
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1.0

2.0

Statement of Work
A New Antiviral (AntiSense) Platform Targeting Hemorrhagic Fever Viruses
November 21, 2006
Objective:

The objective is to show a new capability of identifying potential target countermeasures to specific Category A and B threat agents rapidly (weeks
to months), then producing and testing them in animals. The compounds have broad spectrum capability against the threat agents, whether naturally
occurring or genetically engineered. AVI BioPharma proposes advanced applied research with its unique Phosphorodiamidate Morpholino
Oligomers (PMOs), to demonstrate their safety and efficacy, as well as their unprecedented agility for rapid development and production of
countermeasures for a broad spectrum of extant and emergent biothreat agents.

Scope:

This proposal builds on two key elements of AVI BioPharma’s third generation antisense compounds designed against hemorrhagic threat agents,
specifically the filoviruses Ebola and Marburg, as well as arenavirus. The Scripps Research Institute, within the last month, reported dramatic
success against arenaviruses, specifically the Junin virus vaccine strain, in cell culture with AVI’s PMOs. This Phase has two Parts, each with a
number of tasks and subtasks.

First, the PMOs are targeted against highly conserved nucleotide sequences of the viral genomes (RNA). Once species and strain and genomic
makeup of a virus are known, AVT scientists are able to categorize a series of potential treatment compounds within several weeks or months. This
correlates well with the concept of developing countermeasures very rapidly against unknown genetically engineered threats. Properly designed
PMOs can be targeted against a family of related viruses (multiple strains), empowering them as a broad spectrum countermeasure for a particular
threat category.

The second aspect of the proposal brings AVI’s already successful work with USAMRIID on Ebola and Marburg viruses through IND and Phase 1
safety trials. It also prepares, with the Department of Defense, establishment of Emergency Use Authorizations for therapeutic use of these
compounds. The proposal will include a roadmap for the capability to ramp up production to 20,000 doses of selected compound(s), should the
government desire to do so. The proposal builds this methodology for production and will provide the initial capability to begin with a small run of
1000 doses.

AVT acknowledges existence of export control laws related to export of, and foreign access to, USG-funded technology development and will take
measures to comply with same upon contract execution.

A detailed spreadsheet of AVI Direct Labor Costs is submitted in Excel file format along with this SOW, in a file called “BAA I revised budget shell
detail071906 for submission”. Discussion of subcontractor efforts in the areas of fill/finish, USAMRIID, TSRI, NHP tox/pk, and Tessarae appear as
Appendix A.



3.0 Background

AVI’s PMOs have been extensively tested against a variety of infectious disease agents and against other common illnesses. These compounds have
successfully been utilized in animals and humans with exceptional safety results, which portends well for future success when applied broadly to
human disease. AVT has nearly 12 years of experience in the area of developing antisense compounds and an impressive array of successes. AVI has
moved well beyond the current sSiRNAs target gene interference work being accomplished at many university and commercial entities. Significant
toxicity problems occur when using siRNA. AVI’s patented third generation PMOs have overcome these problems.

AVT’s proprietary chemistry has significantly improved the stability, function, and bioavailability of antisense complexes. The improved
characteristics of AVI PMOs compared to conventional antisense oligonucleotides include:

resistance to proteases and nucleases,

enhanced stereochemical base stacking,

inherent stability for steric blockade of ribosomal assembly and translation arrest,
reliable aqueous solubility, and

no diminished hybridization to mRNA targets.

The biological effects of PMOs are evident after intravenous, intraperitoneal, subcutaneous, transdermal, and oral administrations, because of
intrinsic biodistribution and bioavailability characteristics of these compounds.

The theoretical biological advantages of PMO are based on the lack of net charge and a non-enzymatic mechanism of action. The PMO include
fewer “off-target” effects and do not result in:

immune modulation through CpG motifs (Art Krieg personal communication),

altered blood coagulation times (preliminary data),

metal chelation because there is no net charge for binding,

complement activation (based on clinical trial observations),

off-target alteration of gene expression through O-quartets (Hudziak et al., 2000; and E. Wickstrom personal communication)
RNAse H or other enzymatic RNA cleavage (Stein et al, 1997),

induction of cytokine release, or

induction of interferon responses.

Most importantly, compared to conventional antisense oligonucleotides, PMOs are highly resistant to degradation (Hudziak et al., 1996).
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4.0 Tasks/Technical Requirements:

The following Gantt Chart delineates AVI’s tasks under this contract. Tasks for subcontractors are shown in Appendix A:

Quarter

2 mo.
Ended
Milestone Description 12/06 07Q1 07Q2 07Q3 07Q4 08Q1 08Q23 08Q3 11/30/08

1 Efficacy Evaluation of PMO/PPMOs X
1.1 Evaluate cellular toxicity of EBOV and

MARV X

1.2 Evaluate cellular toxicity of Arenavirus X

2 Mechanism of Action and Cell Culture
Studies X X X
2.1 Cell culture efficacy and mechanism
EBOV and MARV X X
2.2 Cell culture efficacy and mechanism Junin X X

3 Efficacy Testing in Murine and Guinea
Pig Models X X X X X X
3.1 Optimal PPMO EBOV lethal challenge
studies in mouse X X
3.2 Optimal PPMO MARYV lethal challenge in
guinea pig X X X
3.3 Optimal PPMO Junin challenge in mouse X X X X

4 Pharmacokinetic and toxicology X X X X X X X
4.1 Develop analytical methods to detect

PPMO:s in tissues X

4.2 Pharmacokinetics and toxicity in rodents X
421 PK PPMOs for EBOV and MARV

4.2.2 PK PPMOs for Junin X X

4.3 PK and toxicology studies in non-human

primates; X

43.1 PPMOs for EBOV and MARV X

4.3.2 PPMOs for Junin X X

el
X< X

> <



5 Efficacy Testing in second species X X X X X

5.1 PPMOs for EBOV and MARV X X X

5.2 PPMOs for Junin X X X
6 Manufacturing X X X X X X X

6.1 Manufacturing scale up and establish QC

procedures X X X
6.2 Subunit preparation and PMO
development X X X X X X X

6.3 Peptide development and production X X X X X X X

6.4 Conjugation production X X X X

6.5 Fill and Finish X
7 Prepare and file IND with FDA X X X X

7.1 EBOV X

7.2 MARV X

7.3  Junin X
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5.0 CDRLs/Other Deliverables:
Document Type Description Pages Date
Exhibit A001 Quarterly Status Reports 1 15-NOV-2006
Exhibit A002 Annual Report 1 15-NOV-2006
Exhibit A003 Quarterly Financial Status Reports 1 15-NOV-2006
Exhibit A004 Miscellaneous Data Submission 1 15-NOV-2006
Exhibit A005 Final Report 1 15-NOV-2006
Exhibit A006 Interim Reports 1 15-NOV-2006
Exhibit A007 Investigational New Drug (IND) Submission Report 1 15-NOV-2006

Appendix A: Subcontractor Efforts
Fill/Finish Tasks:

Fill/finish refers to the manufacturing efforts required to convert bulk drug into a final dosage form suitable for injection into humans. The overriding goal of
assuring patient safety requires that the final dosage form be filled in an aseptic operation, which necessitates a sterile environment, process controls, trained
personnel, validated procedures, and validated test methods in order to ensure a very low probability of microorganism contamination. The equipment
necessary to perform aseptic filling activities is of special design and construction and must undergo extensive qualification and validation activities since the
failure of one control aspect could lead to lot contamination. Specialized manufacturers provide contract filling services for smaller companies that may
require only a few filling runs per year, and which do not have the resources to acquire and maintain the facilities, equipment, and the personnel needed. We
have successfully subcontracted for this type of effort several times in the past with multiple vendors, and would anticipate doing the same under this
contract, in the most cost effective and quality assured manner available at the time.

USAMRIID Tasks:

Scientific Director: Dr. Sina Bavari
Technical Director: Dr. Kelly Warfield
CDC Registration: C20060223-0428, effective Feb. 23, 2006, expires Jan. 20, 2009

USAMRIID will conduct studies related to Part A-1 of the proposal involving Filovirus infection. Regular communication with investigators at USAMRIID
will be required to discuss goals, experimental protocols, observations and preparation of reports. USAMRIID will evaluate the training of individuals
involved in studies conducted in theBSL-4 and will prepare applications to the ethical care and use of animals. USAMRIID will utilize multiple isolates for
the different strains Ebola and Marburg. The laboratory tasks will initially involve screening studies in Ebola and Marburg infection in cell culture.
Mechanism of action studies

will be conducted by USAMRIID using mini-genome systems in cell culture. Finally, the USAMRIID tasks include efficacy studies involving Ebola and
Marburg lethal challenge in murine, guinea pig and nonhuman primate models. The mechanism of action studies with mini-genome systems will be
conducted in BSL-2 facilities but infected cell culture and animal challenge studies will require BSL-4 containment. USAMRIID will prepare final reports in
collaboration with AVI for Ebola and Marburg studies. Specific tasks include:

TASK 1: Complete efficacy and toxicology evaluation of P-PMOs targeting highly conserved regions of Ebola and Marburg in cell culture.

TASK 2: Complete mechanism of action studies with replicons and mini-genome systems in cell culture.

TASK 3: Complete evaluation of lead candidates in mouse lethal challenge model.

TASK 4: Complete evaluation of lead candidates in guinea pig lethal challenge model.

TASK 5: Perform initial studies in non-human primate lethal challenge model.



TASK 6: Perform second round of non-human primate lethal challenge studies.

TASK 7: Complete lethal challenge studies in non-human primates.

The Scripps Research Institute (TSRI) Tasks:

Scientific Director: Dr. Michael Buchmeier
Technical Director: Dr. Benjamin Neuman

CDC Registration: neither Junin Candid#1 nor LCMYV are select agents, so registration is not required.

TSRI will conduct studies related to Part A-2 of the proposal involving Arenavirus infection. Regular communication with investigators at USAMRIID will
be required to discuss goals, experimental protocols, observations and preparation of reports. TSRI will evaluate the training of individuals involved in studies
conducted in the BSL-2 and will prepare applications to the ethical care and use of animals. TSRI will utilize lymphotropic choriiomeningitis virus (LCMV),
a pathogenic Old World arenaviru3, and the Candid#1 vaccine strain of Junin virus, the agent of Argentine hemorrhagic fever (neither are select agents). The
laboratory tasks will initially involve screening studies in infection in cell culture monitoring plaque assays to measure viral entry, multiplication and spread.
Further measures will include measures of viral protein synthesis, viral RNA synthesis, and viral induced cytopathic effects. These in vitro studies will
provide information about efficacy, mechanism of action and the resistance profile for effective agents. Finally, TSRI will conduct acute infection studies in
mouse challenge models measuring virus titer in blood, liver, kidneys, lungs, and the central nervous system to determine antiviral effects of test agents. TSRI

will prepare final reports in collaboration with AVI. Specific tasks include:

TASK 1: Complete efficacy studies with Junin Candid#1 in cell culture.

TASK 2: Complete efficacy studies with LCMYV in cell culture.

TASK 3: Complete mechanism of action studies in cell culture.

TASK 4: Initiate acute infection model studies of Junin in mouse.

TASK 5: Complete acute infection model studies of Junin in mouse.

TASK 6: Initiate chronic infection studies in mouse and initiate guinea pig infection studies.

TASK 7: Repeat studies in mouse and guinea pig.
TASK 8: Complete Junin Candid#1 infection studies.
TASK 9: Complete LCMYV infection studies.

NHP Toxicology Pharmacokinetic Tasks:

CDC Registration: there will be no use of selected agents in animals.

Potential Subcontractors:

Conventional Toxicology Rat Studies
Conventional Toxicology Non-Human Primate
Non-Human Primate Pharmacokinetic Studies
Safety Pharmacology Studies

Genotoxicity

Conventional Safety Pharmacology Studies:

Single dose exposure for each agent in preparation of IND filing, (3 months duration per agent) will require three dosage levels [i.e., anticipated
subtherapeutic dosage {low}, therapeutic dosage {intermediate}, and 10X the therapeutic dosage {high} all studies).

Cardiovascular Study to assure no clinically significant change in temperature, blood pressure, heart rate, or conduction problems.

Pulmonary Function Study, to assure no clinically significant bronchoconstricting or bronchodilating effects occur.

Renal Function Study to assure no clinically significant reduction occurs in. renal function (viz., drop in creatinine clearance and rise in serum

creatinine) after single dose administration.

Central Nervous System to assure no excitatory or inhibitory activity occurs in central or peripheral nervous systems after single dose

administration in accordance with Irwin test.

Pharmacokinetic studies:

15 monkeys per agent, after single dose and serial dosing at low, intermediate, and high dosing

Conventional Toxicology:

CTBR
MPIR
MPIR
MDSP
BioReliance



28 Day Daily Dosing Rat Study (estimated total of 96 rats to be tested).
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28 Day Daily Rat Study at the highest dosing level with a 14-day washout (estimated total of 24 rats to be tested).

28 Day Daily Dosing Monkey Study (estimated total of 50 monkeys to be tested).

28 Day Daily Monkey Study at the highest dosing level with 14-day washout (estimated total of 12 monkeys to be tested).
Conventional genotoxicity studies:

Two assays; 2 months duration to complete per agent.
Specific tasks include:

TASK 1: Initiate Conventional tox, Safety Pharm, NHP PK and Genotoxicity for Filovirus therapeutic agent.

TASK 2: Complete Conventional tox, Safety Pharm and Genotoxicity for Filovirus therapeutic agent.

TASK 3: Complete NHP PK for Filovirus agent and Initiate Conventional tox, Safety Pharm, NHP PK and Genotoxicity for Arenavirus therapeutic
agent.

TASK 4: Complete Conventional tox, Safety Pharm, Genotox and NHP PK for Arenavirus therapeutic agent.
Tessarae Tasks:
Tessarae LL.C will provide pharmacogenomic endpoint modeling services and reports to AVI BioPharma, related to evaluations of clinical safety and efficacy
of next generation antivirals targeting hemorrhagic fever viruses. Tessarae will analyze 30 archived blood specimens tested with either placebo or fixed
dosages of antiviral PMO compounds to be selected by AVI BioPharma. Archived blood specimens will be subjected to standard preparation of total RNA for
microarray-based analysis of gene expression profiles, including reduction of abundant globin mRNA. Global gene expression analysis will be performed on
the Affymetrix U 133 2.0 Plus microarray platform. Aliquots of purified total RNA preparations will also be analyzed Eppendorf DualChip microarrays,
representing four palettes of gene sets related to processes of aging, inflammation, cancer and response to siRNA treatments. A portion of original blood
specimens will also be archived for future retrospective analysis.

Specific tasks include:

TASK 1: Receive and archive inventory of blood specimens, each specimen representing three PreAnalytix PAXgene RNA tubes and one
Whatman 4-spot FTA card.

TASK 2: Subject 60 PAXgene RNA specimens (180 tubes) to total RNA purification, including globin mRNA reduction protocol.
TASK 3: Perform gene expression profiling (GXP) assay using 50% of each of the 60 RNA samples on 60 Affymetrix U 133 microarrays.
TASK 4: Perform gene expression profiling assay using 50% of each of the 60 RNA samples on 120 Eppendorf DualChip microarrays.
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TASK 5: Perform bioinformatics analysis to determine if significant clusters of gene expression changes are observed among the before/after and
placebo/antiviral specimen cohorts.

TASK 6: Compare specific gene set associations and statistical significance of differences using results from the two analytical platforms
(Affymetrix and Eppendorf).

TASK 7: Deliver summary report on technical efficacy and cost-value analysis of pilot gene expression profiling for ongoing pharmacogenomic
endpoint tracking in trials of PMO antivirals.

Addendum to Original Statement of Work
AVI-6002 and AVI-6003 Bridge Funding Proposal

A. INTRODUCTION:

AVI BioPharma is focused on the discovery and development of RNA-based drugs utilizing an extensive proprietary technology platform with applications to
a range of diseases and genetic disorders. The current funding mechanism supported a discovery process, based upon antisense oligomers, to identify lead
antiviral candidates for Ebola Zaire (AVI-6002) and Marburg Musoke (AVI-6003). These compounds are effective in multiple animal models of viral
infection. AVI BioPharma has prepared and submitted INDs for AVI-6002 and AVI6003 for immediate treatment of patients following documented or
suspected exposure to Ebola Zaire or Marburg Musoke, respectively. In order to continue the science and prepare for NDA submittals, AVI BioPharrna is
submitting this bridge funding proposal to TMTI to perform tasks that are required to be performed prior to AVI BioPharma’s performance of the Advanced
funding. These tasks include Program Management, Dose titration studies, Preparation of Clinical Materials, Development of Analytical Methods,
Development & Implementation, as well as Incorporation and Resolution of FDA comments from initial IND filing. The specific Statement of Work for these
tasks is outlined below:



B. TASKS:

1.

Program Management: The overall administration of the Ebola/Marburg program includes coordination of items of a technical nature, working
with the government to facilitate the proper approvals, as well as ensuring that the program is on task and on budget the program management task
is made up of the following:

1.1 Program Management Team for coordination of effort, evaluation of progress and communication with TMTI.

1.2 Antiviral Project Team meets bi-weekly to ensure timelines are met, reviews decisions and communicates with internal departments.
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2.

Dose Titration Studies:

AVI-6002 Dose Titration Study: Dose ranging studies with AVI-6002 in the Ebola lethal challenge model in Rhesus monkeys.

Objective: Establish a dose versus survival relationship for AVI-6002 following infection of rhesus macaques with EBOV Zaire critical to the dose
refinement for advanced development and human safety studies.

AVI-6003 Dose Titration Study: Dose ranging studies with AVI-6003 in the Marburg lethal challenge model in Cynomolgus monkeys.

Objective: Establish a dose versus survival relationship for AVI-6003 following infection of cynomolgus macaques with MARV Musoke critical to the
dose refinement for advanced development and human safety studies.

3.

Clinical Study Preparations: In preparation for the first human volunteer safety study, two major work streams prior to the study site activation
are required:

3.1 Clinical Study Start-up Activities. Conducting the various activities required to open a clinical study site usually takes a minimum of 12
weeks after the key contracts are awarded.

3.2 Clinical Supply Preparations. The Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients (API), AVI-6002 and AVI-6003 will be dispensed into sterile vials for
future clinical use.

Analytical Methods Development and Implementation: The improvement of analytical methods to be used in the first in man pharmacokinetic
studies represents ongoing studies that will require support. Transfer of methods to contract research organizations will be required prior to
initiating GLP pharmacokinetic studies.

Incorporation and Resolution of FDA Comments: We propose to schedule a face- to-face strategy meeting regarding our proposed development
plan, prior to providing responses to the questions and comments received upon IND approval. The next steps would be to provide three separate
category responses: clinical, nonclinical and CMC (chemistry, manufacturing, and control). The clinical submission includes the revised protocol, a
revised DSMB charter, and the ICF template, as well as responses to FDA questions, and a development plan outlining what additional clinical
studies might be needed prior to approval. The nonclinical responses will be sent with the initial animal study protocols, as requested, and will
include efficacy studies as well as PK/PD work. The CMC response will be provided after clinical supply manufacture is complete.
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Addendum to Original Statement of Work
AVI-7012 (Junin) Extension Proposal

TASK 1: Establish and maintain a project management team

1.1 Program Management Team
1.2 Junin Project Team

TASK 2: Conduct efficacy studies in animal models of Junin arenavirus infection.

2.1 Efficacy studies in mice (LCMYV).

2.2 Efficacy studies in guinea pigs (Junin) at UTMB.
2.3 Efficacy studies in NHP (Junin) at USAMRIID.
2.4 Efficacy studies in NHP (Junin) at USAMRIID.

TASK 3: Expanded arenavirus efficacy studies.

TASK 4: Evaluate the mechanism of action of AVI-7012.

TASK 5: Conduct pharmacokinetic and pilot toxicology studies with AVI-7012.

TASK 6: Conduct GLP Safety Pharmacology and Toxicology Studies.

6.1 Fill for GLP Studies.
6.2 GLP Toxicology Studies in rat.
6.3 GLP Toxicology Studies in monkey.



6.4 GLP Safety Pharmacology studies.
6.5 GLP Genotoxicity evaluation.

TASK 7: Chemistry & Manufacturing Support.
7.1 GMP synthesis (1 x 120 g) at Johnson Matthey Pharma Services (includes tech transfer)
7.2 GMP synthesis (1 x 120 g) at Johnson Matthey Pharma Services
7.3 Drug substance stability
7.4 Analytical — subunit, PMO and bioanalytical development
7.5 Subunit chemistry/process development
TASK 8: Clinical Study Preparations.
8.1 Phase I Single Dose NHV Clinical Study Preparations.
8.2 HPLC asay qualification.
8.3 Clinical Supply Preparations.
8.4 Drug Product Stability.
TASK 9: Prepare pre-IND for AVI-7012 (Junin).
TASK 10: Prepare and submit the IND for AVI-7012 (Junin).

10.1 Prepare and submit IND.
10.2 Respond to FDA questions regarding IND.
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Leslie Hudson, Ph.D., certify that:

1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of AVI BioPharma, Inc. (the “Registrant™);

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; and

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; and

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: November 9, 2009

By: /s/  Leslie Hudson, Ph.D.
Leslie Hudson, Ph.D.
President, Chief Executive Officer and
Director
(Principal Executive Officer)




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, J. David Boyle II, certify that:

1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of AVI BioPharma, Inc. (the “Registrant™);

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; and

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; and

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: November 9, 2009

By: /s/ J. David Boyle II
J. David Boyle II
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)




EXHIBIT 32

CERTIFICATION OF CEO AND CFO PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of AVI BioPharma, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2009 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Leslie Hudson, Ph.D., as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
and J. David Boyle II, as Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of our knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with th e requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Leslie Hudson, Ph.D.

Leslie Hudson, Ph.D.

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
AVI BioPharma, Inc.

November 9, 2009

/s/ J. David Boyle II

J. David Boyle II

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
AVI BioPharma, Inc.

November 9, 2009




